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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ETRBE

TREMENDOUS CHALLENGES IN THE MACRO
ENVIRONMENT

Looking back on 2022, as global trade and economy
were impacted by inflation, geopolitical conflicts, and the
COVID-19 pandemic, the survival and development of
business faced severe macro-environmental challenges.
According to the report titled “Global Trade Update”
published by United Nations Conference on Trade and
Development in December 2022, the global trade amount
was expected to reach almost US$32 trillion for 2022, among
which the total trade in goods was estimated to reach US$25
trillion. However, due to the continuous subdued growth in
global trade since the third quarter, the downward trend of
trade growth would further sustain and play out into 2023.

Subject to the macro-economic impacts, the international
logistics industry also experienced the declining prosperity in
2022. According to the statistics released by International Air
Transport Association, the international air freight demand
softened in 2022, in particular, the cargo freight volume in
the fourth quarter showing a significant fall as compared
to that in the corresponding period of 2021, which created
the most difficult time for the whole international logistics
industry since the pandemic outbreak, as well as impaired
the market prosperity and business development across the
industry. Meanwhile, the industry underwent significant
challenges resulted from the COVID-19 pandemic during the
year, such as the broad-based lockdown in Shanghai, China in
the second quarter, as well as the negative impacts on China’s
production and manufacturing as a result of the continuous
pandemic control measures, which also resulted in huge
shock for the global logistics industry.

Amid these huge challenges, the Group could not be immune
to those impacts from the macro environment and the
declining upstream demand. During the year, the operating
results of the Group slid to a certain extent as compared to
that in 2021, which was also the reflection of the impacts
of the macro environment on the corporate operation.
Nevertheless, benefited from its investments in cross-border
e-commerce and technological innovations over the years,
the Group was still able to make its best efforts to explore
and expand its footprint during the market downturn, and
engaged with global partners to provide quality international
logistics and supply chain services. The extraordinary and
leading experiences accumulated from such efforts shall lay a
solid foundation for the Group’s business expansion next year.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ETE®E

PROSPECTS

The Group is of the view that, even though there are still
significant challenges for the global economic recovery, with
the relaxation of pandemic prevention and control policies and
the intensive roll-out of relevant economic stimulus, China’s
economy will have a stronger recovery in 2023. At the same
time, with the implementation of the Regional Comprehensive
Economic Partnership (RCEP), the economic recovery in China
will further boost the economic development in the relevant
regions, and become one of the important drivers for the
global economic recovery in 2023. Therefore, the Group will
further leverage on its core resources and key advantages in
the Chinese market, find potential customers, seize emerging
markets, amplify its existing competitiveness and build brand-
new capabilities during the crucial period of China’s economic
recovery.

In 2023, while continuously solidifying its position in the
established markets, the Group will further invest in the
emerging markets such as the Southeast Asia, enhance
its service quality and networking coverage, and build key
strategic advantages in the future market competitions. In
the meantime, with the investments and transformation in
the supply chain and technological innovation, the Group will
actively cater for the market and customer needs, optimize
its business service and customers’ experience, further
explore the potential of the Chinese market, and implement
its globalization strategy of “going global with the ‘Belt
and Road’ initiative”, "going global with the cross-border
e-commerce business” and “going global with the Chinese
enterprises”. The Group is confident that in 2023, it can
facilitate the recovery of its business, seize the opportunity
from market growth, and expect to maintain the rapid
development momentum of its business in the upcoming
three years.

APPRECIATION

| hereby would like to express my gratitude and appreciation
to our Shareholders for their confidence and supports, each
member of the Board for their valuable opinions as well as
our management team and fellow employees for their efforts
and contributions over the past year. | am looking forward to
the full commitment of all staff members in 2023, striving to
achieve the vision of “The World is Within Your Reach”.

Yu Huijiao
Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWR DN

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Board announces the audited annual results of the Group
for the FY2022. During the FY2022, global inflation, European
geopolitical conflicts and the COVID-19 pandemic resulted
in extremely negative impacts on global trade, consumption,
production and manufacturing. The international cargo
logistics also underwent a weaker industry recovery. Affected
by the various macro factors mentioned above, the business
of the Group slid to a certain extent as compared to that in
the previous year.

In 2022, the COVID-19 still had material shocks on the
global economy, in particular, China’s economy, as well as the
production and manufacturing, resulted in a greater impact
on the Group's business results during the year. With the
relaxation of China’s COVID-19 pandemic prevention policy
in December, the Group is optimistic about the impact of the
COVID-19 pandemic in 2023. In general, the negative impacts
of the pandemic on the economy and logistics industry will be
gradually fading. The Group considers that the impacts of the
Covid-19 pandemic on the industry will mainly be reflected in
the following aspects:

The impacts of COVID-19 pandemic on the
economic development are gradually fading

Although there are risks of a widespread pandemic due to
COVID-19 variants, the negative impacts of the COVID-19
pandemic on global economy are gradually fading, and the
society will open up again. More importantly, China and other
Asian emerging markets show strong growth momentum,
which will provide reliable support for the stable recovery of
global economy. The Group believes that as the COVID-19
pandemic will no longer exert impacts on the economic
development, production and manufacturing, and individual
consumption of major economies in the world, the worldwide
economic activities will be fully recovered to the pre-pandemic
level.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEAWE D

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

The persistent impact of inflation in the post-
pandemic era

According to the World Economic Situation and Prospects
2023 released lately by the United Nations, global inflation
in 2022 was approximately 9%, and is expected to soften
in 2023 but remain at a high level of 6.5%. Meanwhile,
the global economic growth is expected to decrease from
3.0% to 1.9%. In particular, the United States and the
European Union (the “EU") is anticipated to record low level
of economic growth of 0.4% and 0.2%, respectively. The
slowdown in economic growth may also bring significant
material development risks to the global consumption,
production and manufacturing. In view of this, the negative
impact of global inflation may not diminish any time
soon. With the decline in economic growth in the United
States and Europe, the weakening of upstream consumer
demand and the contraction of orders in production and
manufacturing industry, the Group believes that we will see
greater uncertainties along the journey of the recovery of the
international logistics industry.

China’s economic recovery fuels global growth

According to the United Nations World Economic Situation
and Prospects 2023, the economic growth rate of East
Asian region is expected to reach 4.4%, higher than the
estimated growth rate of 3.2% in 2022. Such increase is
mainly attributable to the improvement in the economic
conditions of China, whose economic growth rate is expected
to reach 4.8%, coupled with the loosening of monetary and
fiscal policies, the economic growth of China in 2023 will
be accelerated as compared to that of 2022. Based on the
information from the General Administration of Customs
of China, the total exports and imports of China in 2022
amounted to RMB42.07 trillion, representing a year-on-year
increase of 7.7%, of which, exports amounted to RMB23.97
trillion, representing an increase of 10.5%; imports amounted
to RMB18.1 trillion, representing an increase of 4.3%. As a
result of the foregoing, it is expected that China’s remarkable
economic recovery in 2023 will provide additional impetus for
the growth of imports and exports business. In the meantime,
with the support of the Regional Comprehensive Economic
Partnership Agreement (“RCEP”), the linkage with regional
development will also boost the demand for international
logistics services. The Group is of the view that 2023 will be a
crucial period for China's import and export trade during the
post-pandemic era, and we need to seize the opportunities
and strive to achieve business growth at a level surpassing
market expectation.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENmR D

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Financial Results

The Group recorded revenue of about HK$6,706.5 million
during the FY2022 (FY2021: about HK$7,556.4 million),
representing a decrease of about 11.2% from FY2021. Gross
profit amounted to about HK$543.3 million during the
FY2022 (FY2021: about HK$792.8 million), representing a
decrease of about 31.5% from FY2021. Gross profit margin
during the FY2022 was about 8.1% (FY2021: about 10.5%).
Net profit was about HK$139.8 million during the FY2022
(FY2021: about HK$278.2 million), representing a decrease of
about 49.8% from FY2021 while the net profit attributable
to equity shareholders of the Company decreased by about
50.0% from FY2021 to about HK$136.7 million during the
FY2022 (FY2021: about HK$273.4 million). The decrease in
profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Company was
mainly attributable to (a) the decrease in demand for ocean
freight services from customers in the ocean freight segment
and international express and parcel services; and (b) the
decrease in freight rates charged to customer due to increase
in supply of sea cargo space in the second half of 2022.

Segmental Analysis

The Group's core business comprises air and ocean freight
forwarding, complemented by the ancillary and contract
logistics services (including warehousing, distribution and
customs clearance), international express and parcel services
and other businesses (comprising combine shipments,
trucking, general sales agency and hand-carry services). The
comprehensive range of services offered by the Group enables
the Group to meet diverse customers’ needs and provide
cross-selling opportunities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWRD M

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Segmental Analysis (continued)
Air Freight

The air freight forwarding business continued to constitute
the largest business segment of the Group, representing
about 54.9% of the Group's total revenue during the
FY2022 (FY2021: about 44.5%). It principally involves
arranging shipment upon receipt of booking instructions from
customers, obtaining cargo space from airlines, preparing the
relevant documentation, and upon delivery to the destination,
arranging customs clearance and cargo handling. The Group
is well recognised in the logistics industry, having received
numerous accolades from international organisations and
major airlines since 2000, including “Top Agent Award” from
Cathay Pacific Cargo each year since 2006. Consequently,
the Group has become the preferred business partner of
renowned companies from around the world, hailing from the
garment, footwear and electronic industries, delivery of small
parcels for e-commerce business and among others.

During the FY2022, the air freight forwarding business
recorded revenue of about HK$3,681.3 million (FY2021:
about HK$3,361.8 million), representing an increase of about
9.5% as compared to that in FY2021. Gross profit of the
segment decreased from about HK$354.6 million during
the FY2021 to about HK$156.9 million during the FY2022,
representing a decrease of about 55.8% as compared to that
in FY2021, which was primarily attributable to the decrease in
air freight rate charged to customer due to increase in supply
of air cargo space in the second half of 2022. In respect of air
import and export tonnage, the Group noted a total decrease
of tonnage of about 27.4% for the FY2022 when compared
to that in FY2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEAWE D

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Segmental Analysis (continued)
Ocean Freight

Contributing about 25.9% of the Group’s total revenue
during the FY2022 (FY2021: about 26.5%), the ocean freight
forwarding business principally involves organising shipments,
arranging customs clearance and haulage services. The
established relationships with trade partners and shipping
lines, together with the in-house tailored freight operations
system, have enabled the Group to capture the ocean freight
market growth. During the FY2022, revenue of ocean freight
segment decreased by about 13.4% to about HK$1,735.6
million (FY2021: about HK$2,004.2 million). Gross profit
decreased to about HK$247.4 million during the FY2022
(FY2021: about HK$264.3 million), representing a decrease
of about 6.4% as compared to that in FY2021. During the
FY2022, the Group noted a decrease of tonnage of about
18% in respect of ocean freight shipping volume handled by
the Group. The decrease in the revenue and profit contributed
by the ocean freight segment was due to the drop in demand
for ocean freight services and decrease in ocean freight rate
charged to customer due to increase in supply of sea cargo
space in the second half of 2022.

Ancillary and Contract Logistics Services

Accounting for about 1.0% of the Group’s total revenue
during the FY2022 (FY2021: about 0.9%), the ancillary and
contract logistics services segment includes warehousing,
distribution and customs clearance. Warehousing includes
pick and pack, labelling, quality inspection, sorting, pick-
up and delivery services for export shipments from the
shipper’s location to the outgoing port and delivery of
import shipments from arrival at the incoming port to
the consignee’s location. It is supported by the Group’s
information technology platform, which allows customers to
conveniently trace inventory levels, incoming and outgoing
shipments and other information online. Revenue generated
from this segment was about HK$67.2 million during the
FY2022 (FY2021: about HK$67.2 million), remaining constant
as compared to FY2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Segmental Analysis (continued)
International Express and Parcel Services

International express and parcel services which mainly
consist of cross-border small parcels business is one of the
Company's emerging businesses in recent years and also one
of the Company’s important strategic segments to respond
to the booming of the global cross-border e-commerce. It
represents about 16.5% of the total revenue of the Group
for the FY2022 (FY2021: about 25.8%). The Company pays
continuous attention to the cross-border e-commerce market
and consumer needs, and provides high-quality cross-border
parcel logistic services for e-commerce platforms, merchants,
and consumers.

The Group responded actively to changes in markets and
competitive landscapes and proactively developed the
international express and parcel services market during
the FY2022. Due to the slowing global economic growth
and weaker demand in upstream markets, revenue from
international express and parcel services decreased from
about HK$1,949.1 million in FY2021 to about HK$1,106.2
million in FY2022, representing a decrease of about 43.2%.
During the FY2022, the Group has completed the delivery of
about 112.4 million units in international express and parcel
business (FY2021: about 136.1 million).

During the FY2022, the gross profit of international express
and parcel services decreased to about HK$107.1 million
(FY2021: about HK$110.9 million), representing a drop of
about 3.4%, which was primarily attributable to the impacts
of micro economic factors and weaker demand in upstream
markets.

Others

The other businesses include combined shipments, trucking,
e-commerce business and hand-carry services, the latter of
which involves time sensitive shipments that allow the Group
to charge higher fees and consequently benefit from higher
profits. During the FY2022, the other businesses recorded
revenue of about HK$116.2 million (FY2021: about HK$174.2
million), representing a decrease of about 33.3% as compared
to that in FY2021, and gross profit of about HK$13.1 million
(FY2021: about HK$36.7 million), representing a decrease of
about 64.3% as compared to that in FY2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) O (3
Liquidity and Financial Resources RBEERMBEER
The Group has centralised financing policies and control over 7N £ lﬂﬁ”ﬁ@ﬁﬁ MEAT &% — 2 Bt B AR
all its operations which enables the Group to have a tight REE X < A& B A& EZEH H B KB E
control of treasury operations and lower average cost of &5§1£E$i’:77§%ﬁ)€21§
funds.
The Group's working capital as at 31 December 2022 was R -_Z - ~—"F+ - A=+—H KAEEHN
about HK$1,092.4 million, representing an increase of about 2 EEZE &4 A1,02 48881 KR_Z
6.6% from about HK$1,024.9 million as at 31 December ——F+-A=+—H%1,02498 8B T
2021. The current ratio of the Group increased from about AIBMEN#K6.6% - REBH RN R —
1.97 times as at 31 December 2021 to about 2.11 timesas ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—B#H197FLHZE
at 31 December 2022. As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s —ZE - —F+ - A=+—B&2.11/&- %
bank balances and cash amounted to about HK$9984 —ZE-_—-—F+_-_A=+—H AEEMR
million, representing a significant increase of about 75.8% fT#ABRE S EIBLIEEB T R_F
from about HK$567.8 million as at 31 December 2021. For —— %+ _-_A=+—H#567.8F&E B LK
the FY2022, the Group had operating cash inflow of about #BEMN#A75.8% R _E - FHPHRFE
HK$698.6 million (FY2021: about HK$152.5 million). As at 31 A AEE B L LR &K AL698.68 875
December 2022, the Group's outstanding bank borrowings T (- Z - —FBHBFE: HN152.588 75
amounted to nil (as at 31 December 2021: about HK$5.4 L) RZTZZF+=ZA=+—H &%
million). The gearing ratio of the Group, calculated as total EMAEERTERAEZT (R_E=-—F
bank borrowings divided by total equity, was about 0% asat +Z-A=+—H:Q54BEFT) - N=F

31 December 2022 (as at 31 December 2021: 0.5%). As at
31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group maintained a net
cash position. The Group will continue to secure financing as
and when the need arises.

Foreign Exchange Risk

In light of the nature of the Group’s business, the Group is
exposed to various foreign currency risks including RMB, USD,
RM, SGD, THB, INR, EUR, GBP, CAD, JPY, VND, IDR, HUF,
AED and TWD among which, RMB, EUR and USD are mostly
used in the Group’s business apart from HK$. Nevertheless,
the Group’s operations are predominately subject to the
fluctuations of RMB since HK$ is pegged to USD. The Group
used certain forward exchange contracts to hedge against
part of its exposure to currency risk during the FY2022 and
the FY2021. The Group continued to exercise a strict control
policy and did not engage in any speculative trading in debt
securities or financial derivatives during the FY2022.

Significant Investments

During the FY2022, the Group did not hold any material
investments.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Capital Expenditure Commitments

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group did not have
any capital expenditure commitments.

Charge on Assets

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had pledged the
following assets to secure certain banking facilities
representing guarantees on payment to certain airline
suppliers of the Group for the Group’s cargo space purchase
and bank borrowings granted to the Group:

X% E B (@)

=N

KRB Fk_ZE-_—F+_A=+—
B - 2N & B 4 T 0] B AN G R IE -
BEEEKWE
RZEBE-_—_F+-_A=+—H AEEE
EETIEE IS AEEERNET
RITME (M AEBERZE ﬁu?%ﬁ$

%@%?ﬁn = RO JE AR 1 3R R ERTT R

-

2022 2021
T
HK$ 000 HK$000
FE T FET

Financial asset at fair value though BAFEFAERZEN
profit or loss PREE 708 869
Debt investment at amortised cost BEBHEKN AT ENEBRIEE - 7,069
Pledged bank deposits BHEFRITER 38,943 10,768
39,651 18,706

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There were no events causing material impact on the Group
from 31 December 2022, being the end of the reporting
period to the date of this report.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

On 16 June 2022, Jumbo Channel Limited (“Jumbo
Channel”), an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into the sale and purchase agreement with
Uniserve Holdings Limited (“Uniserve”) and OTX Logistics
B.V. ("OTX Logistics Holland”), pursuant to which Uniserve
has agreed to acquire 50% of the entire issued shares in OTX
Logistics Holland from Jumbo Channel, at the consideration of
EUR5,409,469 (equivalent to approximately HK$44,325,189),
subject to and in accordance with the terms and conditions
of the sale and purchase agreement. Upon completion, the
Group's interest in OTX Logistics Holland is 50% and OTX
Logistics Holland ceased to be an indirect wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, and its financial statements ceased
to be consolidated into the Company’s financial statements.

Saved as disclosed, there was no other material acquisition
or disposal of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures of the
Company during the FY2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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PROSPECTS

Looking forward to 2023, the growth pace of global economy,
as predicted in the World Economic Situation and Prospects
2023, will continuously slow down to 1.9%, and the global
economic activities will further constrained by the headwinds
of rising inflation, policy tightening and financial pressure. The
World Bank forecasts that the growth of developed economies
will slow down from 2.5% in 2022 to 0.5% in 2023. The
growth of emerging markets and developing economies
will also be affected by other factors, such as the decline in
external demands, inflation and currency depreciation. The
Group will face up to the impact of the current global macro
environment while remaining cautiously optimistic towards
the market development prospects next year, mainly based on
the following prospects, which specifically include:

Global economic growth is sluggish and the
European and the United States markets are still
struggling with high inflation

As the global traditional consumer markets, the European and
the United States markets are still subject to the impacts of
high inflation, monetary tightening and interest rate hikes,
their sluggish economic growth will further drag on the
global economic development. According to the World Bank’s
economic prospects in 2023 for all regions, the economic
growth of the United States would be only 0.5%, while the
economic growth of Euro zone would be almost stagnant due
to the impact of geopolitical conflicts in 2023. As a result,
the consumer demand and production and manufacturing in
Europe and the United States would be further suppressed.
The Group believes that, with Europe and United States as
the key traditional markets of international logistics, their
sluggish economic growth will lead to the contraction of their
import and export trade and affect the external demands
of emerging countries at the same time, thus, the booming
international logistics market observed in 2020 would be
cooling down and returning to the pre-pandemic level.
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PROSPECTS (continued)

China is reviving its economy while RCEP is driving
the growth of regional economy

Despite the slowdown in the growth of the European and
the United States markets, China’s economy will gradually
recover from the COVID-19 pandemic in 2023. According
to the forecasts in the report of the United Nations, under
the optimized pandemic prevention policy and favourable
economic measures imposed by the Chinese government,
China’s domestic consumption demand will be gradually
unleashed in the future which helps the country’s economy
to achieve a rapid growth of 4.8% in 2023. Regardless of the
severe shock by the COVID-19 pandemic in 2022, China, as
the world’s largest trading country in goods, has showed its
strong resilience in export and import trade, with a total value
of import and export in goods increasing by 7.7% on a year-
on-year basis. The import and export volume in Association
of Southeast Asian Nations (the “ASEAN"), the EU and the
United States maintained an upward trend respectively,
and the import and export volume in ASEAN, in particular,
achieved a significant increase of 15%. This indicated that
the emerging markets have great development potential
despite the slump in demand of the traditional European and
American markets. At the same time, against the difficulties
the world economy has been facing, the RCEP has injected
strong growth momentum into emerging markets. The
momentum of China’s economic recovery will also drive the
rapid economic growth of all RCEP members. According to
the General Administration of Customs of China, China's
import and export volume to other RCEP members account
for 30.8% of its total foreign trade volume, among which,
the growth rate of import and export volume to Indonesia,
Singapore, Myanmar, Cambodia and Laos exceeded 20%.
Based on the latest report by Asian Development Bank, it
was expected that economic growth of Southeast Asia would
increase from 5.1% to 5.5% in 2022, which reflected the
expectation of RCEP's positive contribution to the economies
of ASEAN countries. The Group remained optimistic despite
the weak global economic growth, mainly given the economic
foundation of the Chinese market and the development
potentials of China and other emerging economies.
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PROSPECTS (continued)

The international air freight market will gradually
cool down from the pandemic

According to the forecast of the International Air Transport
Association (IATA) for 2023, the revenue of the freight
market is expected to reach US$149.4 billion. Although it
is lower than that in 2022, it still represents an increase of
US$48.6 billion as compared with that in 2019. Due to the
uncertainties in the macroeconomy and upstream demand,
the freight volume is expected to drop to 57.7 million tons
from the peak of 65.6 million tons in 2021. With the growth
of cargo compartment capacity and the synchronous recovery
of passenger transport market, it is expected that the return
will decease significantly. The booming international air
freight market observed during the COVID-19 pandemic will
gradually cool down, and the growth of freight volume will
gradually stablize, while the overall freight volume will be far
higher than that before the COVID-19 pandemic. The Group
believes that international trade activities has maintained
highly active from the prospect of international air freight.
The overall freight volume growth indicates that the share of
air freight in the key route transport of international logistics
has increased, and the market size still maintains a relatively
optimistic growth trend.

Cross-border e-commerce is still a blue ocean
market for the emerging markets

According to the Global Ecommerce Forecast released by
eMarketer, Southeast Asia and Latin America are the fastest
growing regions for retail e-commerce in 2022, leading the
world with growth rates of 20.6% and 20.4%, respectively.
The e-Conomy SEA 2022 jointly issued by Temasek and other
institutions also stated that, as Southeast Asia sees a Gross
Domestic Product (“GDP”) growth and is less affected by
inflation as compared to other regions, it is expected that
the digital economy will continue to grow at a compound
annual growth rate of 17% by 2025. Although the traditional
international logistics industry is still affected by the
weaker upstream industries and traditional production and
manufacturing, the Group is optimistic that cross-border
e-commerce will maintain a higher growth rate than that of
the overall economy for a longer period of time. With the
progressing of industrialization, cross-border e-commerce
needs more compliant, high-quality and sustainable
international logistics services, which the Group believes will
be the core driving force for the Company’s growth in the
future.
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PROSPECTS (continued)

Cross-border e-commerce is still a blue ocean
market for the emerging markets (continued)

In summary, the Group believes that the global economic
growth will probably slow down in 2023 as a whole.
However, there are still regional and industrial highlights amid
the subdued macro economy, namely the strong recovery
of the Chinese market and the continuous growth of cross-
border e-commerce. Therefore, the Group is cautiously
optimistic about the performance development in the coming
year, and will adhere to the internationalization strategy and
actively brace for market transformation and further utilize its
resources in the Chinese market and its in-depth experience in
cross-border e-commerce to forge ahead and maintain growth
regardless of the adverse situation. As such, the Group will
focus on the following key directions in the coming year.

Leveraging Chinese market recovery and focusing
on the growth potential of the RCEP market

Both the World Economic Situation and Prospects 2023
released by the United Nations and the World Economic
Outlook Report released by the International Monetary Fund
forecast a strong recovery of the Chinese market in 2023,
with economic growth significantly outpacing that of the
developed economies and the global average. The Group
believes that with the gradual lifting of COVID-19 pandemic
controls and with the support of strong fiscal and monetary
policies of its government, China’s economy will recover
from the impacts in 2022 and China’s huge manufacturing
sector and domestic consumption will be further stimulated.
Therefore, the strong recovery of China’s economy in 2023
will stimulate rapid growth in imports and exports, which
will also have a positive impact on the international logistics
industry. In conclusion, the Group will further increase its
investments in sales, operating and product capabilities in
the Chinese market during the year, keeping in line with the
Group's internationalization strategy and to serve Chinese
enterprises that are going global. Meanwhile, the Group will
also strengthen its internal control, optimize its air freight
procurement, enhance cooperation with airlines and deepen
its alliance with YTO Cargo Airlines Co., Ltd. ("YTO Cargo”)
to enhance the Group's advantageous position in the cargo
freight market and further provide high-quality international
logistics and supply chain services for existing and potential
customers.
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PROSPECTS (continued)

Leveraging Chinese market recovery and focusing
on the growth potential of the RCEP market
(continued)

The Group also believes that the recovery of the Chinese
market and China’s linkage effect with RCEP will further
boost economic growth in the region and international
logistics demand within the region and between the region
and other countries around the world. The Group has a wide
cooperation network and self-operated service capabilities
in Southeast Asia, which provide international freight,
international express, international supply chain and other
additional services in major RCEP countries. In 2023, the
Group will mainly strengthen the construction of warehouse
and trunk lines in the above regions and cross-border land
transportation networks in the Mainland Southeast Asia,
promote the market expansion of the Group's whole-
process express and supply chain solutions on the basis of
its original international freight logistics business, engage
with the Group's e-commerce strategic partners, strengthen
the development of cross-border e-commerce international
express business in the above regions, focus on RCEP market
demand from multiple market segments, seize regional
growth opportunities, and achieve rapid business expansion.

Strengthening infrastructure construction and
improving the depth and breadth of service
networks

Since the service network is a critical infrastructure for
international logistics companies, continued investment in
the network is a basic strategic consensus for the Group.
Europe and the United States have been the Group’s core
markets with established presence for many years. The
Group is pleased to strengthen the in-depth construction of
its service network in Europe, the United States and other
markets with our strategic partners and agents through our
own advantages, business complementarity and resource
exchange. Meanwhile, the Group also recognises that in
terms of the emerging markets, the breadth of its service
network is another strategic foundation that the Group
needs to continue building and investing in. The Group has a
strong local service capability in the emerging markets such
as Southeast Asia and the Middle East. The Group will build
up its capabilities in local express, warehousing, key routes
transport and supply chain to expand the Company’s network
coverage in the above markets. In combination with our
network building efforts in such two directions, the Group
plans to actively participate in international exhibitions, make
use of international organisations to further increase our
brand exposure, open up cooperation, use our own resources
together with our partners to enhance the breadth and depth
of the Group's international services and strengthen our key
infrastructure in 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
IE ,ﬁ n-_t af & *ﬁ'

PROSPECTS (continued)

Continued to promote the development of
cross-border e-commerce and investment in
international express business

Global cross-border e-commerce is still rapidly developing,
especially in the emerging markets where the growth is stil
significantly outperforming the overall economy. The Group
believes that there remains significant market potential and
various opportunities after many years of development. For
mature markets such as Europe, the United States, Japan and
Korea, cross-border e-commerce has become a regular trade
pattern. Despite the slow growth, cross-border e-commerce
in these markets is featured with huge volume which enables
them to evolve from low-quality market to refined and
regulated market. In such markets, the Group will leverage
its leading airline and trunk logistics resources, as well as
its refined operations built on many years of experience, to
shape its unique competitive advantages. In the year 2023,
the Group will leverage on its strategic partnership with YTO
Cargo and its excellent experience in Japan-Korea dedicated
routes to actively expand into other traditional markets such
as Europe and the United States, thereby fully unleashing the
Company's advantages in international trunk logistics and
expanding its share in the above target markets. Currently,
emerging markets such as Southeast Asia and the Middle East
are still growing at a fast pace. The Group has subsidiaries
in these markets and they have been operating for many
years. The Group’'s local logistics capabilities, operational
network and local service capabilities are all advantages that
could help us stand out from the competition. In the coming
year, the Group will, together with its overseas subsidiaries,
take advantage of the political and business resources of the
parent company in the domestic market, focus on tapping
into the cross-border e-commerce market in the above
countries, actively promote the construction of local networks
and logistics infrastructure, and open cooperations with
partners to explore the Group’s cross-border e-commerce
business in emerging countries and gradually build it into a
pillar business unit of the Company.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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PROSPECTS (continued)

Keeping pace with demand of export from
domestic manufacturing sector and enhancing
international supply chain business

With new energy vehicles, photovoltaics, consumer
electronics and other Chinese manufacturing fields being
ranked among the world’s leading industries and advanced
industries, it is undoubted that the Chinese enterprises in
high-end manufacturing would participate in the international
competition and build their presence in the consumer market
around the globe. According to statistics, overseas business
contributed 23% of the operating revenue of China’s high-
end manufacturing industry, and the proportion of overseas
business revenue continues to rise rapidly, with a growth
rate being significantly higher than that of the country’s GDP
and the growth in export value. As such, the Group believes
that the growing trend of China’s high-end manufacturing
going abroad would drive increasing demand for international
supply chains. The Group has formed a stable customer base
in the consumer electronics industry. In 2023, we intend to
leverage on our existing customer resources to gradually
expand our international supply chain solutions to other
manufacturing industries, while scaling up our industry
extension to China’s overseas manufacturing chain as the
core. Meanwhile, the Group will increase its investment in
the infrastructure for the international supply chain business
and make efforts in overseas warehousing and regional cross-
border trunking networks, gradually enhance the standard of
the Group’s international supply chain business, build up its
core competitiveness in the market, and form new growth
poles for its business development.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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PROSPECTS (continued)

Further upgrading digitalisation and gradually
deploying technology platforms

In late 2022, the Group changed its company name to
highlight the inclusion of “Technology”, signifying a
new level of attention and investment in technology and
digitisation. The Group believes that continuous investment
in technology and digitisation is critical to quickly adapt to
market development and meet the diversified and high-
quality needs of the customers. With the implementation
of the core management system upgrade and iterative
computing, all websites in Mainland China have been
upgraded by batches last year, which enhanced operational
efficiency and customer satisfaction, and received acclaim and
recognition from our customers and staff. In the coming year,
the Group will continue to upgrade its core digital systems to
meet the Group's business needs in terms of cost reduction,
efficiency and quality improvement, and to drive continuous
improvement in marketing, customer acquisition as well as
customer experience. For this purpose, the Group plans to
gradually deploy digital systems to its overseas subsidiaries in
2023, with a view to enhancing the Group’s performance in
its global business areas.

Looking ahead, the Group is of the view that the international
logistics and supply chain industry needs continuous
investment in technology and innovative research and
development to connect all the participants and partners
throughout the chain, so as to provide the customers with
better, more convenient and efficient smart logistics services.
The Group also notes that the international logistics industry
is evolving to rely on network and digitised propositions,
which boosts business capabilities and creates significant
business potential. We hope to drive the development of the
Company towards a logistics technology enterprise through
the building of digitisation technology capabilities and cloud
platform capabilities, thereby providing new value to our
customers, contributing new resources to partners, and
demonstrating new prospects for our shareholders.

22 YTO International Express and Supply Chain Technology Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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PROSPECTS (continued)

Focusing on customer experience and continuously
optimizing the quality of operational services

The Group has been adhering to the service concept
of “focusing on customer experience”. In addition to
strengthening its infrastructure construction, the Group
has continued to optimise the quality of its operational
services with standardised, institutionalised and digitalised
approaches. The Group believes that the three major business
segments, namely, air and ocean freight, international express
and parcel, and logistics, require a large service team and
such businesses need to run through various parts including
warehousing, international key route transport, customs
services and on-the-ground delivery. The Group believes that
through the construction of digital intelligence, the use of
technology and information technology to improve service
efficiency and customer experience is a key measure for the
Group to maintain its core competitive advantage. Therefore,
in 2023, the Group will focus on customer experience and
the quality of pre-sales, in-sales and after-sales services. In
addition to the deployment of the global information service
system, we will also promote the building-up of a professional
team of talents and a professional marketing and operating
system, further enhance the existing operating efficiency,
gain market and customer recognition, and improve both
performance and reputation.

The Group expects to implement the aforesaid plans with its
internal resources and/or through external financing.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEREEECEHE

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS

Executive Director

Mr. Yang Xinwei (“Mr. Yang”), aged 46, was appointed as a
non-executive Director on 31 March 2022. With effect from 9
December 2022, Mr. Yang was re-designated as an executive
Director. Mr. Yang obtained a bachelor's degree in business
administration from Xidian University (8% & F & K A £2)
in June 2016. Mr. Yang joined YTO Express Group in May
2000 and held various senior managerial positions in various
subsidiaries and the aviation division of YTO Express Group.
Since July 2015, Mr. Yang has been a vice president of YTO
Express Co., Ltd. (Bli@#EBRAF), which is a member
of YTO Express Group. From June 2021, Mr. Yang has been
designated by YTO Express Group to oversee the overall
strategy planning of the Company and business development
of international express. Mr. Yang is the cousin-in-law of
the spouse of Mr. Yu Huijiao, the chairman of the Board, a
non-executive Director and controlling shareholder of the
Company.

As at 31 December 2022, Mr. Yang was interested in 800,000
Shares. Please refer to the section headed “Directors’ and
chief executive’s interests and short positions in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
associated corporation” for further details.

Mr. Huang Yifeng (“Mr. Huang”), aged 40, was appointed
as the vice president of the Company on 3 December
2018 and was promoted as the president of the Company
since 28 March 2019. With effect from 21 January 2020,
Mr. Huang was appointed as an executive Director and a
member of the Corporate Governance Committee of the
Company. With effect from 1 December 2020, Mr. Huang
was appointed as the Chairman of the Corporate Governance
Committee. He is now responsible for the overall strategy
planning and international express business development.
Mr. Huang graduated from Shanghai University of Finance and
Economics with a master degree in statistics. He joined YTO
Express Group in January 2016, and held various managerial
positions in strategy and merger and acquisition. Prior to
joining YTO Express Group, he had been a senior consultant
of consulting department in Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu from
March 2007 to December 2010, as a senior investment
manager of a private equity fund, Shanghai Yonghua Capital
Management Co., Ltd. from December 2010 to November
2013, and as a senior investment director of Shanghai Fosun
High Technology (Group) Co., Ltd. from November 2013 to
January 2016. He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of
the Company.

As at 31 December 2022, Mr. Huang was interested in
2,963,200 Shares. Please refer to the section headed
“Directors’ and chief executive's interests and short positions
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any associated corporation” for further details.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS (continued) EEHE (@)

Executive Director (continued) HITES (®)

Mr. Sun Jian (“Mr. Sun”), aged 47, was appointed as an
executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company on 31 March 2021. Mr. Sun obtained an Executive
Master of Business Administration from Renmin University
of China in June 2015. He served as a salesman from July
1996 to October 1999, and the manager of the market
development department from October 1999 to July 2004 in
Sinotrans Eastern Co., Ltd. Logistics Branch (previously known
as Sinotrans Shanghai Company). He served as the deputy
general manager in Sinotrans Global E-commerce Logistics
Co., Ltd. Shanghai Branch (previously known as Sinotrans
Air Transportation Development Corporation Limited Eastern
China Region Branch (Eastern China Region) ( A 4] &E 72 38 2
BERNDEBRATERS AR (EREE) *), and the general
manager in Sinotrans Global E-commerce Logistics Co., Ltd.
Jiangsu Company from July 2004 to May 2020. Since June
2020, he has been a vice president of the Company.

As at 31 December 2022, Mr. Sun was interested in
3,073,200 Shares. Please refer to the section headed
“Directors’ and chief executive's interests and short positions
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any associated corporation” for further details.

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Yu Huijiao (“Mr. Yu"”), aged 56, was appointed as
a non-executive Director, the chairman of the Board, the
chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of the
Remuneration Committee on 1 December 2017. He obtained
a bachelor's degree in information systems application and
management from B EFE T K2 (PLA Information
Engineering University*) in December 2013. Mr. Yu founded
BBERIEAFPR QA (YTO Express Co., Ltd.*) (previously known
as FHEBRIESR AAE (Shanghai Yuantong Express
Delivery Co., Ltd.*)), a subsidiary of YTO Express, in May
2000 and currently serves as the chairman of the board of
YTO Express. Mr. Yu has served as the chairman of the board
of Yuantong Jiaolong since December 2010 and general
manager of Yuantong lJiaolong since June 2020. Mr. Yang
Xinwei, who is an executive Director, is the cousin-in-law of
the spouse of Mr. Yu.

As of 31 December 2022, Mr. Yu was interested in
268,229,408 Shares. Please refer to the section headed
“Directors’ and chief executive's interests and short positions
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any associated corporation” for further details.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Non-executive Directors (continued)

Mr. Pan Shuimiao (“Mr. Pan”), aged 55, was appointed as
a non-executive Director on 21 January 2020 and a member
of the Audit Committee on 8 February 2023 and resigned as
a member of the Audit Committee on 31 March 2023. Mr.
Pan obtained a master degree in engineering from Zhejiang
University in January 1991. From July 2006 to February
2012, Mr. Pan served as president of /I & EEBEARA
A] (Zhejiang Wanma Group Company Limited*) and chairman
of MIEFSEERHBER AR (Zhejiang Wanma Cable
Company Limited*). From March 2012 to March 2019, Mr.
Pan had been acting as the director, executive director and
managing director of L/8E#H Al E L (Shangha
Yunfeng New Venture Capital Investment Center*). Mr. Pan
joined YTO Express as a director in October 2016 and was
appointed as president of YTO Express since April 2019.

Mr. Chen Dong (“Mr. Chen”), aged 44, was appointed as a
non-executive Director and a member of the Audit Committee
of the Company on 31 March 2021. Mr. Chen obtained
a master degree from Liverpool John Moores University in
July 2005. He is a fellow member of Institute of Financial
Accountants. Mr. Chen joined YTO Express Group in March
2018 and served as the group tax director of YTO Express.
From June 2020 onwards, he also assists in overseeing
the financial management of the Group on behalf of YTO
Express. From January 2021, he is promoted to be the senior
director of YTO Express. Mr. Chen has strong experience
in multinational companies. Prior to joining YTO Express,
he was the Asia Pacific tax manager of Essilor International
Group from July 2015 to March 2017. Between January
2011 and January 2014, Mr. Chen served as the North Asia
area tax manager of Panalpina World Transport (PRC) Ltd.
("Panalpina”). Prior to joining Panalpina, Mr. Chen served
as Tax and Compliance Manager, Johnson Electric Group, a
company listed on Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code
number: 0179). Mr. Chen had acquired senior tax consultant
working experience in two accountancy firms, namely
Pricewaterhousecoopers (Macau) Ltd and Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu CPA Ltd, Shenzhen Branch from May 2005 to May
20009.

As at 31 December 2022, Mr. Chen was interested in
1,200,000 Shares. Please refer to the section headed
"Directors’ and chief executive's interests and short positions
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any associated corporation” for further details.
On 8 February 2023, Mr. Chen resigned as a non-executive
Director and a member of the Audit Committee of the
Company.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Non-executive Directors (continued)

Ms. Wang Lixiu (“Ms. Wang"), aged 45, was appointed as a
non-executive Director and a member of the Audit Committee
on 31 March 2023. She obtained a bachelor’s degree in
English from Faculty of Foreign Languages, Ningbo University*
(2R AEBHNEZRT) in June 2000 and a master’s degree in
Linguistics and Applied Linguistics in Guangdong University
of Foreign Studies* (FERINEINE KE) in June 2003. Ms.
Wang is a member of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, with around 20 years of experience in auditing,
financial management and corporate investment and merger
and acquisition. Ms. Wang joined YTO Express Group in
December 2022 and currently serves as the vice president of
YTO Express. Prior to joining YTO Express Group, Ms. Wang
was an audit senior manager in KPMG Huazhen LLP from July
2003 to December 2013. Between December 2013 to March
2020, Ms. Wang served as the finance director of S.F. Holding
Co., Ltd., a company listed on Shenzhen Stock Exchange
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(stock code: 002352). In April 2020, Ms. Wang was re- %T’E‘Hﬁ BHBRARIEKREEINETER
designated to international business unit in S.F. Holding Co., BI%E BEZ-_Z-_—F+_-H-
Ltd. and served as the chief financial officer until December
2021.
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Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Li Donghui (“Mr. Li"), aged 52, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director and a member of
the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Corporate Governance Committee on 1 December 2017.
He obtained a bachelor’s degree in philosophy from Renmin
University of China in July 1991, a master’s degree in
management engineering from dt R T ¥ 27 (Beijing
Institute of Machinery*) in June 1997, and a master’s degree
in business administration from Kelley School of Business
of Indiana University in March 2010. Since Mr. Li has joined
the group companies of Geely Automobile Holdings Limited
(“Geely"”), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 0175), in July 2016, he has worked for
various positions and currently serves as an executive director
and vice chairman of Geely. He currently also serves as the
chief executive officer of Zhejiang Geely Holding Group. Prior
to joining Geely, Mr. Li served as the vice president and chief
financial officer of Guangxi Liugong Machinery Co., Ltd, a
company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code:
000528), between December 2009 and March 2011. Between
May 2014 and June 2016, Mr. Li served various positions
including as a director and the vice chairman of 1t =& 77 B #k
IREM AR A A (Beijing Orient Landscape & Environment
Co., Ltd.*) (previously known as 1t &= & 75 B # % 15 A R
AF]), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
(stock code: 002310). He served as a director of /T #T &
FERZ 3 AR A A (Zhejiang Qianjiang Motorcycle Co. Ltd.*), a
company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code:
000913), until April 2018. Mr. Li served as an independent
director of FEHRIEMLMLDBR A A (China CYTS Holding
Co., Ltd.*), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange
(stock code: 600138), until May 2020. Mr. Li was appointed
as director of Volvo Car AB in April 2012 and it became
listed on Nasdaqg Stockholm in October 2021. Mr. Li was also
appointed as director of Polestar Automotive Holding UK PLC
in May 2020 and it became listed on Nasdaq in June 2022.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Independent non-executive Directors (continued)

Mr. Xu Junmin (“Mr. Xu"), aged 58, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director, the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and a member of the Nomination
Committee and the Corporate Governance Committee
on 1 December 2017. He obtained a bachelor’s degree
in electromagnetic engineering from _t & &l 2 3% i A £
(Shanghai University of Science and Technology*) in July
1987 and a master's degree in business administration from
Arizona State University in May 2009. Mr. Xu had served
as an independent director of E/EFIFERIBFRMHD AR AT
(Shanghai Richtech Engineering Co., Ltd.*), a company listed
on the National Equities Exchange and Quotations (stock
code: 832547), from July 2016 to December 2018. He had
also served as an independent director of & @SB E T %
BB AT (CWB Automotive Electronics Co. Ltd.*) (stock
code: 605005, a company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange since January 2021) from June 2018 to May 2021.
Mr. Xu held various positions in the group companies of £/
HEEMZERHD B R AR (Juneyao Airlines Co., Ltd.*) (previously
known as EEEEMEBR 2 A) (“Juneyao Airlines”),
a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock
code: 603885), including a director of JLJTMZEABR A& (9
Air Company Limited*). He has been serving as the board
secretary and a director of Juneyao Airlines since November
2010 and July 2017 respectively. In November 2019, Mr. Xu
ceased to be a director of Juneyao Airlines and was appointed
as the vice president of Juneyao Airlines. In August 2020, he
has been appointed as a director of Juneyao Airlines. He has
also been serving as an independent director of £/ = =70 H
Pes iR £ ERR D B BR 2 7] (Shanghai 2345 Network Holding
Group Co. Ltd.*), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange (stock code: 002195) since May 2016.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Independent non-executive Directors (continued)

Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John (“Mr. Chung”), aged 54, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director, the
chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the
Remuneration Committee and the Corporate Governance
Committee on 1 December 2017. He obtained a bachelor’s
degree in economics from Macquarie University in April
1992 and is a member of CPA Australia and Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, with over 20
years of experience in auditing, financial management and
corporate finance. Mr. Chung was an auditor in Arthur
Andersen (an international accounting firm) from 1992 to
1999. From 2000, Mr. Chung held several senior management
positions, including chief financial officer, executive director
and independent non-executive director, in a number of
listed companies in Hong Kong. Mr. Chung is presently a
vice president of Yongsheng Advanced Materials Company
Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
3608). Mr. Chung is also currently an independent non-
executive director of the following companies listed on the
Stock Exchange: (i) BYD Electronic (International) Company
Limited (stock code: 285) since June 2013; (ii) Zhengye
International Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 3363)
since March 2011; (iii) B & S International Holdings Ltd. (stock
code: 1705) since February 2018; and (iv) Tokyo Chuo Auction
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1939) since September 2018.
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Ms. Wong Pui Wah (“Ms. Wong"), aged 47, is the
chief financial officer of the Company and the Company
Secretary. She is responsible for overall financial and banking
management and overall human resources and administrative
management of the Group. Ms. Wong joined the Group in
March 2006 and worked as an accounting manager. She
became the financial controller of the Group since August
2006. She was an executive Director on 20 December 2013
to 1 December 2017. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Wong
had acquired auditing and accounting experiences by working
in various accountancy firms which include Frank Ho & Co.,
Y.L. Ngan & Company, C.W. Leung & Co. and RSM Nelson
Wheeler (currently known as RSM Hong Kong) from June
1998 to March 2006. She has over 20 years of experience in
auditing, accounting and financial management. Ms. Wong
graduated from Lingnan College (currently known as Lingnan
University) with a bachelor’s degree in business administration
in November 1998. She also obtained a master's degree in
professional accounting from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University in November 2010. She is a non-practising
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a fellow of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants. Ms. Wong is also a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. In September 2022, Ms. Wong
was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director of
China Merchants Port Holdings Company Limited, a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
0144).

Mr. Ho Cheuk Kan (“"Mr. Ho"), aged 55, is the air freight
director of the Group and the regional director of China.
He is responsible for the air freight business of the Group
and manages and oversees the profit of the China region.
He has been working in the logistics industry for 31 years
and obtained bachelor’s degree in logistics and supply chain
management in 2013. Mr. Ho joined the Group in 2020 and
is based in Shanghai. Prior to joining the Group, he had
taken up various management roles in listed global logistics
companies.
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(continued)

Ms. Khoo Siew Chan Chorina (“Ms. Khoo"), aged 53, is
the regional director for Southeast Asia of the Group. She
is responsible for setting the business strategy and direction
as well as overseeing the business growth and operations
of various branches in the Southeast Asia region. Ms. Khoo
first joined the Group in November 2015 as the Managing
Director for our Singapore office but left in May 2020 to
pursue alternative interests. She re-joined the Group in July
2021. Ms. Khoo obtained a bachelor of science degree in
business and management studies from University of Bradford
in July 1998. She has 20 years of experience in the logistics
and freight forwarding industry, of which 13 years was spent
working for a Nasdag-listed company holding management
positions including overseeing the Singapore office as
managing director with an operations of more than 300
people.

Mr. Ng King Wah, Kevin (“Mr. Ng"“), aged 42, is the trade
lane director of the Group. He is responsible for the overseas
network of the Group and overseeing the development,
sales and profitability of the commercial activities with the
international partners of the Group. He joined the Group in
2004 as operations executive and became sales executive and
route development manager from 2006 to 2015. Then he was
promoted as regional commercial manager and trade lane
manager from 2015 to 2020. He was appointed as head of
trade lane management in 2021. Mr. Ng has been working in
logistics industry locally and regionally for 19 years.

Mr. Tang Chi Ho (“Mr. Tang”), aged 42, is the Hong Kong
station manager of the Group. He has been with the Group
since August 2001 and Mr. Tang held different position in
Hong Kong station’s air freight department during August
2001 to March 2014. He has been the Group’s operations
manager from April 2014 to September 2019 where he was
responsible for air freight operational matters. Since October
2019, Mr. Tang was promoted to the Hong Kong station
manager of the Group and is responsible for the operational
matters in Hong Kong. He obtained a bachelor’s degree in
business management from University of Wolverhampton in
September 2008.

*  For identification purposes only
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The Directors have pleasure in presenting their report and the
audited consolidated financial statements for the FY2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands under
the Companies Act (As Revised) of the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability on 6 March 2013.
The Shares were listed on 11 July 2014 on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange. The Company acts as an investment
holding company. The activities of its principal subsidiaries
are provision of freight forwarding services. The principal
activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in note 47 to
the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

During the year, other than the Share Option Scheme and the
Share Award Plan, as set out in the sections headed “Share
Option Scheme” and “Share Award Plan” of this Directors’
Report, the Company has not entered into any equity-linked
agreement.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the FY2022 are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 100.

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend of
HK3.3 cents (2021: HK6.5 cents) per Share, absorbing a total
amount of about HK$13,866,000 (2021: HK$27,312,000), in
respect of the FY2022, which is subject to the approval of the
Shareholders at the AGM to be held on Friday, 9 June 2023.
The proposed final dividend is expected to be paid on Friday,
7 July 2023 to all Shareholders whose names to be appeared
on the register of members of the Company on Wednesday,
21 June 2023.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend
Policy”) which sets out the principles and guidelines in relation
to the declaration, payment or distribution of the Company’s
net profits as dividends to the Shareholders. In recommending
or declaring dividends, the Company shall maintain adequate
cash reserves for meeting its working capital requirements and
future growth as well as its shareholder value. The Company
does not have any pre-determined dividend payout ratio.
Subject to the Articles and all applicable laws and regulations,
the Board has discretion to declare and distribute dividends to
the Shareholders taking into account the following:

financial results;

cash flow situation;

business conditions and strategies;

future operations and earnings;

capital requirements and expenditure plans; and
interests of Shareholders.

Depending on the financial conditions of the Company and
the Group and the conditions and factors as set out above,
dividends may be proposed and/or declared by the Board for
a financial year or period. The Company may declare and pay
dividends by way of cash or scrip or by other means that the
Board considers appropriate. Any dividend unclaimed shall
be forfeited and shall revert to the Company in accordance
with the Articles. The Board will review the Dividend Policy as
appropriate from time to time.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities
and non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five
financial years, as extracted from the audited financial
statements, is set out on page 253. This summary does not
form part of the audited financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group’s business during the year, which
includes particulars of important events affecting the
Group during the year and an indication of likely future
developments in the Group’s business, could be found in
the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and "MD&A”
in this annual report. In addition, an analysis of the Group’s
performance using financial key performance indicators is
included in the section headed "MD&A" in this annual report
and a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing
by the Group is included in the section headed “MD&A" and
notes 4, 6, 39 and 40 to the consolidated financial statements
in this annual report. The review forms part of this Directors’
Report.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Environment protection

The Group complies with environmental legislation,
encourages environmental protection and promotes its
awareness to all employees of the Group. The Group commits
to the principle and practice of recycling and reducing. To
help conserve the environment, it implements green office
practices such as re-deployment of office furniture as far
as possible, encouraging use of recycled paper for printing
and copying, double-sided printing and copying, setting up
recycling bins, reducing energy consumption by switching
off idle lightings, air conditioning and electrical appliances.
The Group will review its environmental practices from time
to time and consider implementing further eco-friendly
measures, sustainability targets and practices in the operation
of the Group’s businesses to embrace the principles of
reducing, recycling and reuse, and further minimize the
impact on the natural environment.

Relationships with key stakeholders

The Group’s success also depends on the support from our
key stakeholders which comprise employees, customers,
vendors and Shareholders.

Employees

Employees are regarded as the most important and valuable
assets of the Group. The objective of the Group’s human
resource management is to reward and recognise high-
performing staff by providing a competitive remuneration
package and implementing a sound performance appraisal
system with appropriate incentives, and to promote career
development and progression by offering appropriate training
and providing opportunities within the Group for career
advancement.

Customers

The Group's principal customers are engaged in garment,
footwear and electronic industries and delivery of small
parcels for e-commerce business. The Group has the mission
to provide excellent customer service in air freight and sea
freight and all range of logistic services whilst maintaining
long term profitability, business and asset growth. Various
means have been taken to strengthen the communications
between customers and the Group in the provision of
excellent customer service towards market penetration and
expansion.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Relationships with key stakeholders (continued)
Vendors

Sound relationships with key service vendors of the Group
are important in supply chain, airline company, shipping line
company and business agents and when meeting business
challenges and regulatory requirements, which can derive cost
effectiveness and long term business benefits.

Shareholders

One of the corporate goals of the Group is to enhance
corporate value to Shareholders. The Group is committed
to fostering business developments for achieving the
sustainability of earnings growth and rewarding Shareholders
by stable dividend payouts, taking into account of capital
adequacy levels, liquidity positions and business expansion
needs of the Group.

Compliance with laws and regulations

The Group has compliance and risk management policies
and procedures, and members of the senior management
are delegated with the continuing responsibility to monitor
adherence and compliance with all significant legal and
regulatory requirements. These policies and procedures are
reviewed regularly. As far as the Board is aware, the Group
has complied in material respects with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the business and
operation of the Group for the FY2022.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

As at 31 December 2022, the Company did not hold any
properties for development and/or sale or investment
purposes which exceeds 5% of the percentage ratios under
rule 14.04(9) of the Listing Rules.

The decrease in the fair value of the investment properties
which has been charged to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the FY2022
amounted to HK$785,000.

The decrease in the fair value of the property, plant and
equipment which has been charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
for the FY2022 amounted to HK$623,000.

Details of these and other movements in the investment
properties and property, plant and equipment of the Group
are set out in notes 15 and 16 to the consolidated financial
statements, respectively.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of share capital are set out in note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DEBENTURES IN ISSUE

The Company did not have any debentures in issue for the
FY2022.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group employed about 867
employees (as at 31 December 2021: about 962 employees).
During the FY2022, employee costs, including Directors’
remuneration, was about HK$302,478,000 (2021: about
HK$316,862,000). Remuneration packages are generally
structured to market terms, individual qualifications and
experience. The Company has also adopted a share option
scheme and a share award plan for the purpose of providing
incentives and rewards to eligible participants, including the
employees of the Group, who contribute to the success of
the Group’s operations. Training activities have also been
conducted to improve the performance of sales and marketing
activities and customer services.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’'s listed securities
during the FY2022.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group
and the Company during the FY2022 are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and note 46 to
the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company's distributable reserve as at 31 December
2022 as calculated under the Companies Act (As Revised),
Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised), of
the Cayman Islands, amounted to HK$439,455,000 (2021:
HK$438,834,000).
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the FY2022 and up to the date of this

report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Yang Xinwei (Appointed on 31 March 2022 as
non-executive director and re-designated from a
non-executive Director to an executive Director
on 9 December 2022)

Mr. Huang Yifeng

Mr. Sun Jian, Chief Executive Officer

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Yu Huijiao, Chairman
Mr. Pan Shuimiao
Ms. Wang Lixiu (Appointed on 31 March 2023)

Mr. Li Xianjun (Resigned on 31 March 2022)
Mr. Chen Dong (Resigned on 8 February 2023)

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Li Donghui
Mr. Xu Junmin
Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John

In accordance with the Articles, Mr. Sun Jian, Mr. Yu
Huijiao, Mr. Xu Junmin and Ms. Wang Lixiu will retire at
the forthcoming AGM and all of them, being eligible, offer

themselves for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positionsof R -_ZE - —F+ - A=+—H BBE=KAK
the Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the 2R AI&ZE T A 8 1 AR 7 sk (T ] 47 B
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or (EERBHFLHEBRAEXVE) 2 &

any associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV 3 -HHEBRMH EKREEEPHEEREESF K

of the SFO), as recorded in the register required to be kept HIEEFIFE3IS2EBALHENATHEEZER

under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to A Z#w KX A - S4B £ R 8l Pﬁff
=

B9

the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model +Fr&EBEFAIMBSITHAE AR G &I
Code set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, were as RFrZ iz AR

follows:

(A) Long position in ordinary Shares (A) REBRZFE

Approximate

Number of percentage* of

Shares involved shareholding

Name of Director Capacity/nature of interest v RZ BRER

EEHR B EnitE il 4E| Elal:ad

Mr. Yu Huijiao Interest of controlled corporations 268,229,408 63.84%

(Note 1)
=g e REEERER (M)

Mr. Huang Yifeng Beneficial owner (Note 2) 2,963,200 0.71%

miR LA BEmMEB A (K1i22)

Mr. Sun Jian Beneficial owner (Note 3) 3,073,200 0.73%

FEEE Emma A (HiE3)

Mr. Chen Dong Beneficial owner (Note 4) 1,200,000 0.29%

PR 2% BEmMEB A (K1it4)

Mr. Yang Xinwei Benef{cial owner 800,000 0.19%

BT E L& EmfEEA

Notes: Htat -

1. These Shares are held by YTO Global Holdings Limited, a 1. ZEROGBEH2EEF 2 ARIEBR
company wholly owned by Yuan Jun. Yuan Jun is a company BRIZERERATREE - BHHERR
wholly owned by YTO Express, which is in turn controlled as E2EHA mERRERHERRE
to 31.70% by Yuantong Jiaolong, 2.93% by Mr. Yu Huijiao 31.70%& 1 A g WA ERERB
and 2.15% by his spouse, Ms. Zhang Xiaojuan. Yuantong RANB L £ H12.93% %2.15% /% # -
Jiaolong is a company owned as to 51% by Mr. Yu Huijiao EBREA—XBEMEREERKZ
and 49% by Ms. Zhang Xiaojuan. By virtue of the SFO, BRI BZ o R B51%K&49%
Mr. Yu Huijiao and Ms. Zhang Xiaojuan are deemed to etz AR -IRIBEZESRBEKD W
be interested in the Shares held by YTO Global Holdings BRAEERKRNMNELZTIHERNER
Limited. EREBRERARFEZRDTES

s o
T oFH EREFREHEERSEERAA
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION (continued)

(A) Long position in ordinary Shares (continued)

Notes: (continued)

2. These Shares comprise (i) 700,000 Shares held by Mr. Huang
Yifeng; and (ii) 2,263,200 Shares which represented the
interests in award shares granted by the Company on
10 June 2021 and remain unvested.

3. These Shares comprise (i) 60,000 Shares held by Mr. Sun
Jian; and (ii) 3,013,200 Shares which represented the
interests in award shares granted by the Company on 10
June 2021 and remain unvested.

4. These Shares represented the interests in award shares
granted by the Company on 10 June 2021 and remain
unvested. With effect from 8 February 2023, Mr. Chen Dong
resigned as a non-executive Director of the Company.

(B) Long position in the shares of associated
corporations of the Company

EERBESITBRAERARARE
AR EE 2R HERKRGKE
BEPZEDRKXE (@)

(A) REBRZFE (&)

Wit (&)

2. ZEROERBEREXERED
700,000@%&1&3 ; &(ii) 2,263,2000% f% 15
BARN —FXATHMAK
,%Ebﬂﬁf’ﬁﬂtﬂ Em& s ERERE -

3. ZER A B 4E() 60,0000% M%) B 772
S R (i) 3,013,2000% BX 1 3 2
RARZBE-_—FXATHAELHD

SEBOEEIRD 2

4. ZEBRMDBAR —F7
+Hﬁﬁ%7§1§bﬂﬁfﬁ¢ﬂﬂé B 1D
B-B— f‘*i ANBR RE
ERERRBFERTES-

/>?r>|+/|
off 5 o

(B) REQRAEBEIERD 2HF R

Number of shares Approximate
involved/amount of percentage* of
Name of registered capital shareholding
Name of Director associated corporation Capacity/nature of interest FiSRz2BRAEE BARER
Exns M EE AR B3/ ERME MR ESHE AL
Mr. Yu Huijiao YTO Express Interest of controlled corporations 1,090,806,213 31.70%
g R EE Bl R REEESER
Beneficial owner 100,673,929 2.93%
EREEA
Interest of spouse 74,027,054 2.15%
[
Yuan Jun Interest of controlled corporations RMB1,800,000,000 100.00%
Bl RELER R AR #1,800,000,0007T
YTO Global Holdings Interest of controlled corporations 1,600,000,000 100.00%
Limited

EBERERERA REBEERER

Note: The relations between Mr. Yu Huijiao and the above
associated corporations are set out in note 1 of part (A)
of the paragraph headed “Directors’ and chief executive's
interests and short positions in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or any associated
corporation”. YTO Global Holdings Limited, YTO Express
and Yuan Jun are the direct/indirect holding companies of
the Company. In this connection, YTO Express, Yuan Jun and
YTO Global Holdings Limited are associated corporations of
the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.

* The percentage represents the number of shares involved divided
by the number of issued shares or registered capital of the
Company/associated corporation as at 31 December 2022.

ByaE T e SRS A B b AR B K B e B R
RIEZERZERITHRABRARAHE
maaay,z@mx@ *Eﬁﬁﬂxﬁ&ﬁf”’*
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION (continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, none of
the Directors or chief executive of the Company had any
interests and/or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or any associated
corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section
352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Share Option
Scheme” and “Share Award Plan” below, at no time during
the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to
any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of,
the Company or any other body corporate and none of the
Directors, their spouses or children under the age of 18, had
any rights to subscribe for securities of the Company, or had
exercised any such rights during the FY2022.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “Continuing
Connected Transactions” below and in note 45 to the
consolidated financial statements, no transactions,
arrangements and contracts of significance in relation to
the Group’s business to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or his/her
connected entity had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the FY2022 or at any time
during the FY2022.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Under the Articles, the Company had a permitted indemnity
provision (as defined in section 469 of the Companies
Ordinance) in force for the benefit of the Directors
throughout the FY2022 and as at the date of approval of
this Directors’ Report, pursuant to which the Company shall
indemnify any Director against any liability, loss suffered and
expenses incurred by the Director in connection with any legal
proceedings in which he/she is involved by reason of being
a Director, except in any case where the matter in respect of
which indemnification is sought was caused by the fraud or
dishonesty of the Directors. The Company has maintained
insurance cover for Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect
of legal actions against the Directors arising out of corporate
activities. The insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual
basis. During the FY2022, no claims were made against the
Directors.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Huang Yifeng has been appointed as an executive
Director for an initial fixed term of one year commencing from
21 January 2020 renewable automatically for successive terms
of one year each commencing from the day immediately
after the expiry of the then current term of appointment,
until terminated as contemplated pursuant to the termination
provisions therein, or by not less than three months’ written
notice served by either party expiring at the end of the initial
term of his appointment or any time thereafter.

Mr. Sun Jian has been appointed as an executive Director
and Mr. Chen Dong has been appointed as a non-executive
Director for an initial fixed term of one year commencing from
31 March 2021, renewable automatically for successive terms
of one year each commencing from the day immediately
after the expiry of the then current term of appointment,
until terminated as contemplated pursuant to the termination
provisions therein, or by not less than three months’ written
notice served by either party expiring at the end of the initial
term of his appointment or any time thereafter.

Mr. Yu Huijiao (a non-executive Director) and Mr. Li Donghui,
Mr. Xu Junmin and Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John (each an
independent non-executive Director), have been appointed for
a term of one year with effect from 1 December 2017, which
shall be automatically renewable for successive terms of one
year each commencing from the next day after the expiry of
the current term of appointment unless terminated by giving
not less than three months’ written notice by either party.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS (continued)

Mr. Pan Shuimiao has been appointed as non-executive
Directors by the Company for an initial term of one year
commencing from 21 January 2020, which shall be renewed
and extended automatically for successive terms of one year
each upon expiry of the then current term, until terminated
by not less than three month’s written notice served by either
party expiring at the end of the initial term or thereafter.

Mr. Yang Xinwei has been appointed as an executive Director
for an initial fixed term of one year commencing from 9
December 2022, renewable automatically for successive terms
of one year each commencing from the day immediately
after the expiry of the then current term of appointment,
until terminated as contemplated pursuant to the termination
provisions therein, or by not less than three months’ written
notice served by either party expiring at the end of the initial
term of his appointment or any time thereafter.

Ms. Wang Lixiu has been appointed as a non-executive
Director for an initial fixed term of one year commencing from
31 March 2023, renewable automatically for successive terms
of one year each commencing from the day immediately
after the expiry of the then current term of appointment,
until terminated as contemplated pursuant to the termination
provisions therein, or by not less than three months’ written
notice served by either party expiring at the end of the initial
term of her appointment or any time thereafter.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM has a service contract with the Company
or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.

INDEPENDENCE OF
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

INDEPENDENT NON-

The Company has received, from each of the independent
non-executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Company considers all of the independent non-executive
Directors are independent.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Share Option Scheme was adopted by the Shareholders
on 21 June 2014 (the “Share Option Scheme Adoption
Date”). The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to
enable the Group to grant options to selected participants
as incentives or rewards for their contributions to the
Group. All directors, employees, suppliers of goods or
services, customers, persons or entities that provide research,
development or other technological support to the Group,
shareholders of any member of the Group, advisers or
consultants of the Group and any other group or classes
of participants who have contributed or may contribute by
way of joint venture, business alliance or other business
arrangement and growth of the Group are eligible to
participate in the Share Option Scheme.

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period
of 10 years after the Share Option Scheme Adoption Date
and shall expire on 21 June 2024. As at the date of this
report, the Share Option Scheme had a remaining life of
approximately one year.

The total number of Shares which may be allotted and issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme adopted
by the Group must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the
Shares in issue on the Listing Date (the “General Scheme
Limit”). As at 1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022, the
number of options available for grant under the Share Option
Scheme was 37,218,000. As at the date of this report, the
total number of Shares which may be allotted and issued
upon the exercise of all options to be granted under the
Share Option Scheme was 37,218,000 Shares, representing
about 8.86% of the issued share capital of the Company.
The Company may renew the General Scheme Limit with
Shareholders’ approval provided that each such renewal may
not exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at the date of the
Shareholders’ approval.

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option scheme adopted by the Group must not in aggregate
exceed 30% of the Shares in issue from time to time.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Unless approved by the Shareholders, the total number of
Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options
granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option scheme of the Group (including both exercised or
outstanding options) to each participant in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the
Company for the time being.

An option may be accepted by a participant within 21 days
from the date of the offer of grant of the option. A nominal
consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the grant
of an option.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of
the Share Option Scheme at any time during a period to be
determined and notified by the Directors to each grantee,
which period may commence on a day after the date upon
which the offer for the grant of options is made but shall end
in any event not later than 10 years from the date of grant
of the option, subject to the provisions for early termination
thereof. Unless otherwise determined by the Directors and
stated in the offer of the grant of options to a grantee,
there is no minimum period required under the Share
Option Scheme for the holding of an option before it can be
exercised.

The subscription price for the Shares under the Share Option
Scheme will be a price determined by the Directors, but shall
not be less than the highest of: (i) the closing price of Shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on
the date of the offer of grant, which must be a business day;
(ii) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of the offer for the grant;
and (i) the nominal value of a Share.

During the FY2022, no share options have been outstanding,
granted, exercised, lapsed or cancelled by the Company under
the Share Option Scheme.
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SHARE AWARD PLAN

The Board adopted the Share Award Plan on 17 August
2018 (the “Share Award Plan Adoption Date”). The
purposes of the Share Award Plan are to recognise and
reward the contribution of the eligible participants to the
growth and development of the Group, to give incentives
to the eligible participants in order to retain them for the
continual operation and development of the Group and to
attract suitable personnel for further development of the
Group. Participants of the Share Award Plan include all the
employees, directors, suppliers, customers of the Group,
persons or entities that provide research, development or
other technological support to the Group, shareholders of
any member of the Group, advisers or consultants of the
Group and any other group or classes of participants who
have contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture,
business alliance or other business arrangement and growth
of the Group.

Subject to any earlier termination as may be determined
by the Board, the Share Award Plan will remain in force for
a period of 10 years from the Share Award Plan Adoption
Date and shall expire on 17 August 2028. As at the date of
this report, the Share Award Plan had a remaining life of
approximately six years.

The Share Award Plan shall be subject to the administration
of the Board (by itself or through the plan administrator) and
the trustee in accordance with the terms of the Share Award
Plan and the terms of the trust deed. The trustee shall hold
the trust fund in accordance with the terms of the trust deed.

In any given financial year of the Company, the maximum
number of Shares to be subscribed for and/or purchased by
the trustee by utilising the funds to be allocated by the Board
out of the Company’s resources for the purpose of the Share
Award Plan shall not exceed 5% of the total number of issued
Shares as at the beginning of such financial year. None of the
Board or the plan administrator shall instruct the trustee to
subscribe for and/or purchase any Shares for the purpose of
the Share Award Plan when such purchase and/or subscription
will result in such threshold being exceeded.
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SHARE AWARD PLAN (continued)

As at 1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022, the number
of share awards available for grant under the Share Award
Plan was 21,009,500. The total number of Shares available
for grant under the Share Award Plan was 21,009,500
Shares, representing 5% of the total issued share capital
of the Company as at 1 January 2023 and the date of this
report. There was no restriction on the maximum number
of Shares to be granted under the Share Award Plan to
each participant. The Board may from time to time, at its
discretion, determine the vesting date, any conditions or
performance targets or consideration to be attained or paid
by the selected participant(s) and upon which the trustee of
the Share Award Plan shall transfer the awarded Shares to the
relevant participant(s).

Details of the Share Award Plan were disclosed in the
Company’'s announcements dated 17 August 2018 and
24 August 2018.

During the FY2022, no Shares were purchased by the trustee
of the Share Award Plan pursuant to the terms of the trust
deed of the Share Award Plan (2021: Nil).
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SHARE AWARD PLAN (continued)

Share Award Plan for the FY2022 are as follows:

Name or category of
selected participants

EESREN AR

Connected selected participants
BEEESaE
Ms. Wong Pui Wah (Note (2))

ERELL(H20)

Director
i3
Mr. Huang Yifeng

ERELYE

Mr. Li Xianjun (Note (3))

FBERE(HEG)

Mr. Sun Jian

i35

Mr. Chen Dong (ote (4))

RARE ()

Sub-total
D

Date of award

2RE%

10 June 2021

Z22-F7A1H

10 June 2021

Z22-F7A1H

10 June 2021

Z22-F7A1H

10 June 2021

Z22-F7A1H

10 June 2021

Z22-F7A1H

Vesting dates
(Note (1))

BEEH
(W)

25% on the business day immediately after the 30th day of the
date of publication of the annual results announcement
of the Company for each of the year ending 31 December
2021, 2022, 2023 and 2024, respectively
BUANNERTRARARE T -F 28 2F -
ToZER-FCMETASH-BLEREENER
FENEZARESTARNESR

25% on the business day immediately after the 30th day of the
date of publication of the annual results announcement
of the Company for each of the year ending 31 December
2021, 2022, 2023 and 2024, respectively
BUANNERIBARARE T -F 25 F -
ToZER-TCMETASH-BLEREENER
FENEZARESTARNESR

25% on the business day immediately after the 30th day of the
date of publication of the annual results announcement
of the Company for each of the year ending 31 December
2021, 2022, 2023 and 2024, respectively
BUANNERIEARARE T -F 25 F -
ToZER-TCMETCASH-BILEREENER
FENEZARESTARNESR

25% on the business day immediately after the 30th day of the
date of publication of the annual results announcement
of the Company for each of the year ending 31 December
2021, 2022, 2023 and 2024, respectively
BUANNERIEARARE T -F 25 F -
ToZER-TCMETCASH-BLEREENER
FENEZARESTRRNESR

25% on the business day immediately after the 30th day of the
date of publication of the annual results announcement
of the Company for each of the year ending 31 December
2021, 2022, 2023 and 2024, respectively
BUABIRERHEAANEE-F--F 252 2F =
ToZER-TCMETCASH-BILEREENER
FENEZARESTARNESR

% 17 22 B 51 & (a0

—FWHRFE RERD EB

Details of movements of the share awards granted under the RZ=ZZ = —

FREMRD BBESFENT

Number of share awards
RitZBYE

Outstanding Awarded Cancelled Outstanding
asat duringthe ~ Vested during  Lapsed during during the asat
1 January Reporting the Reporting the Reporting Reporting 31 December
2022 Period Period Period Period 2022
RZBZZf
K==z BEER RN HEHR g&8A  tZA=t-A
-A-BAER 2RY E5E 23 BH# it
800,000 - - (200,000 - 600,000
3,017,600 - - (754,400) - 2,263,200
3,334,100 - - (3334,100) - -
4,017,600 - - (1,004,400) - 3,013,200
1,600,000 - - (400,000 - 1,200,000
12,769,300 - - (5,692,900) - 7,076,400

48 YTO International Express and Supply Chain Technology Limited Annual Report 2022



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EERE

SHARE AWARD PLAN (continued) B0 2R B Er &l (@)
Details of movements of the share awards granted under the R-ZT = - FBHHRFE  BRIFEKMD LR
Share Award Plan for the FY2022 are as follows: (continued) EREOROBRESHFBFOAT : (F)
Number of share awards
LVELLE]
Outstanding Awarded Cancelled Outstanding
asat during the Vested during Lapsed during during the asat
Name or category of Vesting dates 1 January Reporting the Reporting the Reporting Reporting 31 December
selected participants Date of award (Note (1)) 2022 Period Period Period Period 2022
R-BZZE
BEEE RZBzZf g58n BERR BEHR B58R  t-A=t-A
BRSEEHZIRR 2085 (W) -f-BAER [z5: 5 2ER B4R BE# it d
Independent selected participants
BUEEsRE
Employee selected participants 10 June 2021 25% on the business day immediately after the 30th day of the 3,300,000 = = (1,125,000) = 2,175,000
(Note (5)) date of publication of the annual results announcement
of the Company for each of the year ending 31 December
2021, 2022, 2023 and 2024, respectively
ERERSEE (J10) “Eo-FAATA BUARRERHFARABE-T--F 2§25 =
ToZERCFCMFHASH-BIFREFNER
$ENEVARE=TRKHEER
Non-Employee selected participants 10 June 2021 25% on the business day immediately after the 30th day of the 300,000 - - (75,000) - 225,000
(ote (5)) date of publication of the annual results announcement
of the Company for each of the year ending 31 December
2021, 2022, 2023 and 2024, respectively
FRERRSEE (1) CEI-ERATH BUARRERHEARABE-T--F 2§25 =
ToZERCFCMFTCASH-BILEREFNER
FENEVARE=TAKNEER
Non-Employee selected participants 10 June 2021 25% on the business day immediately after the 30th day of the 1,000,000 - - (250,000) - 750,000
with share award granted in date of publication of the annual results announcement
any 12-month period exceeding of the Company for each of the year ending 31 December
0.1% of the issued share capital of 2021, 2022, 2023 and 2024, respectively
the Company (Noze (5))
REAT-ERHBERTRERD -—T--F/A+8 B RIRERHEARAEE-E -5 28225 2
RERDABRARKM0I%L DoCERCTCMETZACT-ALFESENER
FEEERSRE (1) FENEZARESTARNESR
Sub-total 4,600,000 - - (1,450,000) - 3,150,000
Pt
Total 17,369,300 - - (7,142,900) - 10,226,400
@it

—T_FH BARBERREHEEMRARAF
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SHARE AWARD PLAN (continued)

Notes:

(1) Each of the above selected participants are required to pay a
vesting price of HK$2.37 per share to the trustee on or before the
applicable vesting date to which the vesting of the relevant shares
relates.

(2) Ms. Wong Pui Wah is the chief financial officer of the Company
and a director of certain members of the Group as at the date of
this report.

(3) Mr. Li Xianjun resigned as a non-executive Director of the Company
on 31 March 2022.

(4) Mr. Chen Dong resigned as a non-executive Director of the
Company on 8 February 2023.

(5) Employee selected participants are employees of the Group (none
of which are directors or chief executive of any members of the
Group) while non-employee selected participants are selected
participants who have contributed or may contribute by way of
business arrangement to the development and growth of the
Group which are certain senior management of YTO Express.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Group participates in defined contribution retirement
benefit schemes organized by the PRC municipal and
provincial government authorities for the Group's eligible
employees in the PRC, and operates a Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme for the employees in Hong Kong. Particulars
of these retirement plans are set out in note 41 to the
consolidated financial statements. The retirement benefit
plans operated by the Group were defined contribution
schemes. The contribution made by the Group vest fully with
the employees when contribution was made by the Group
and no forfeited contribution could be used by the Group to
reduce existing level of contributions.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2022, so far as is known to the Directors,
the following corporations or persons (other than a Director
or the chief executive of the Company) had an interest or a
short position in the Shares and underlying Shares as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO:

Long position in ordinary Shares

Name of shareholder
BRRHE BB B EEME
YTO Global Holdings Limited Beneficial owner

(Noz‘e) BB A
BEBRERERQR (i)

YTO Express (Note)
BB RIE (A1) YA E R S
Ms. Zhang Xiaojuan (Note)
wANBIZE (HaE) XEEENE S

Note:

These interests are also disclosed as the interest of Mr. Yu Huijiao in the
paragraph headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and short
positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
or any associated corporation”.

* The percentage represents the number of Shares involved divided
by the number of the issued Shares as at 31 December 2022.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, other than
the Directors and the chief executive of the Company whose
interests are set out in the paragraph headed "“Directors’ and
chief executive’s interests and short positions in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
associated corporation” above, no person had interest or
short position in the Shares or underlying Shares which were
required to be recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

—E__FH EREERRE

Capacity/nature of interest

Interest of controlled corporations

Interest of controlled corporations

TERRRROREERS P 2%
BRKR

R-E-__—_F+_A=+—H RE=EMH
A REESMEGIIFE336FARAEA
THREZERMALE TIAERAL
(BEFEHARAZERTERABRIN KNG
KRB ZEmIOXRIT

A\ EBRZHR

Percentage*

of the

Number Company’s

of Shares issued share

involved capital

gz BARREBHITR

R4 & E AzBD*

268,229,408 63.84%

268,229,408 63.84%

268,229,408 63.84%
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of significant related party transactions of the
Group are set out in note 45 to the consolidated financial
statements. Save as disclosed in the sections headed
"Continuing Connected Transactions”, none of the related
party transactions constitutes a connected transaction or
continuing connected transaction which was subject to any of
the reporting, announcement or independent Shareholders’
approval requirements in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the FY2022, the Group has conducted the following
continuing connected transactions which were required to be
disclosed pursuant to Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules:

Master Service Agreement with YTO Express

On 5 November 2021, the Company has entered into an
agreement (the “Master Service Agreement”) with YTO
Express, pursuant to which (i) the Company have appointed
YTO Express Members as the Group’s agents for the rest of
the world; and (ii) YTO Express have appointed the Group as
YTO Express Members’ agents for the rest of the world, for
the provision of international express and parcel services and/
or air and ocean freight services for the term commencing
from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2024 unless terminated
earlier by 30 days’ written notice by either party.

Throughout the FY2022, YTO Express is a company controlled
as to over 30% by Yuantong Jiaolong, which in turn is owned
as to 51% by Mr. Yu Huijiao (a non-executive Director and a
controlling Shareholder) and 49% by his spouse. Accordingly,
YTO Express is a connected person of the Company under
Rule 14A.07 of the Listing Rules.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

Master Service Agreement with YTO Express
(continued)

The annual caps of the transactions under the Master Service
Agreement include (i) international express and parcel
services and air and ocean freight services fees to be paid
by the Group to YTO Express Members of HK$183.7 million,
HK$1,062.6 million and HK$1,552.0 million, for each of the
three years ending 31 December 2024, respectively; and (ii)
international express and parcel services and air and ocean
freight services income to be received by the Group from YTO
Express Members of HK$510.2 million, HK$1,040.3 million
and HK$1,097.2 million, for each of the three years ending
31 December 2024, respectively.

For the FY2022, (i) international express and parcel services
and air and/or ocean freight services fees paid by the
Group to YTO Express Members under the Master Service
Agreement was approximately HK$179.7 million; and (ii)
international express and parcel services and air and/or ocean
freight services income received by the Group from YTO
Express Members under the Master Service Agreement was
approximately HK$361.2 million.

Please refer to the Company’s announcements dated 5
November 2021 and 29 September 2022 and the circular
dated 8 December 2021 and 2 November 2022 for further
details of the Master Service Agreement.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

Master Charter Agreement with the Cargo Members

On 5 November 2021, the Company (for itself and on behalf
of other members of the Group) entered into an agreement
(the “Master Charter Agreement”) with the Cargo Members,
pursuant to which the Cargo Members will provide air freight
chartering services to the Group to and from countries and
regions around the world for the transportation of air cargoes
for a term commencing from 1 January 2022 to 31 December
2024 unless terminated earlier by 60 days’ written notice by
either party.

Throughout the FY2022, each of the Cargo Members was a
wholly owned subsidiary of YTO Express, which was controlled
as to over 30% by Yuantong Jiaolong, which in turn is owned
as to 51% by Mr. Yu Huijiao (a non-executive Director and a
substantial Shareholder) and 49% by his spouse. Accordingly.
YTO Cargo is a connected person of the Company under Rule
14A.07 of the Listing Rules.

The annual caps of the transaction amounts under the
Master Charter Agreement to be paid and/or reimbursed by
the Group to the Cargo Members are HK$839.6 million for
FY2022, including (i) the charter fee and other charter related
fees (including but not limited to fuel surcharge and deicing
fee) for each of the countries and regions around the world;
and (ii) all expenses related to cargo terminal operations at
departure and destination airport (which may be payable by
YTO Cargo to the relevant cargo terminal on behalf of the
Group) and handling fees in respect of the Cargo Terminal
Expenses.

For the FY2022, the transaction amounts paid and/or
reimbursed by the Group to the Cargo Members under the
Master Charter Agreement was approximately HK$634.7
million.

Please refer to the Company’s announcement dated
5 November 2021 and circular dated 8 December 2021 for
further details of the Master Charter Agreement.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

OT Thailand Contractual Arrangements and OT
Vietnam Contractual Arrangements

During the FY2022, the OT Thailand Contractual
Arrangements and the OT Vietnam Contractual Arrangements
(as defined below) constitute non-exempted continuing
connected transactions of the Company under the Listing
Rules.

OT Thailand Contractual Arrangements

For reasons as disclosed in the section headed “History,
Reorganisation and Corporate Structure — OT Thailand
Contractual Arrangements” in the Prospectus, OT BVI
entered into the following agreements (the “OT Thailand
Contractual Arrangements”) with Miss Ruchirek Pipatsriswat
("Miss Ruchirek”) on 25 October 2013, who is a substantial
shareholder holding 33.5% of shareholding interest in
On-Time Worldwide Logistics Limited (“OT Thailand”):

(1) Loan assignment entered into between OT HK as
assignor, OT BVI as assignee and Miss Ruchirek as
borrower, whereby, the non-interest bearing loan for
an aggregate principal amount of THB3,350,000 then
owed by Miss Ruchirek to OT HK, was assigned to OT
BVI and the loan shall be repayable on demand by OT
BVI. The loan is conditional and secured by the pledge
of shares in OT Thailand from time to time held by
Miss Ruchirek under the share pledge agreement, and
the arrangements under the proxy and the letter of
undertakings.

(2)  Share pledge agreement entered into between OT BVI
as lender and Miss Ruchirek as borrower, whereby,
Miss Ruchirek has pledged in favour of OT BVI, among
others, her 33.5% of the total shareholding interest
of OT Thailand, and all further shares and securities
deriving from such pledged shares, or otherwise
acquired and held by Miss Ruchirek from time to time.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

OT Thailand Contractual Arrangements and OT
Vietnam Contractual Arrangements (continued)

OT Thailand Contractual Arrangements (continued)

(3) Letter of undertaking by Miss Ruchirek to OT BVI
and OT Thailand, whereby, among others, she has
irrevocably assigned and directed all dividends and
distributions declared, paid and payable by OT Thailand
and all distributions of assets and capital made and to
be made by OT Thailand in relation to the shares of OT
Thailand from time to time held by her to OT BVI (or
such person as from time to time designated by it).

(4)  Proxy by Miss Ruchirek to OT Thailand, whereby, Miss
Ruchirek has irrevocably appointed OT BVI or any
person nominated by it to act as Miss Ruchirek’s proxy
to attend, act and vote in respect of the shares in OT
Thailand in her name and on her behalf at any general
meeting of shareholders of OT Thailand.

OT Thailand contributed to about 1.3% of the Group’s total
revenue for the FY2022 (FY2021: 1.9%). Through the OT
Thailand Contractual Arrangements, the financial results of
OT Thailand were consolidated into the Group’s financial
statements as if it was the Company’s subsidiary and, as a
result, the Group bears 82.5% of the economic risks and
losses of OT Thailand.

No dividend was made by OT Thailand to its shareholders for
the FY2022.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

OT Thailand Contractual Arrangements and OT
Vietnam Contractual Arrangements (continued)

OT Vietnam Contractual Arrangements

For reasons as disclosed in the section headed "History,
Reorganisation and Corporate Structure — OT Vietnam
Contractual Arrangements” in the Prospectus, OT HK entered
into the following agreements (the “OT Vietnam Contractual
Arrangements”) with Dynamic Freight Co., Ltd. (“Vietnam
Owner”) on 6 November 2013, which is a substantial
shareholder holding 49% of the total charter capital of On
Time Worldwide Logistics (Vietnam) Co., Ltd. (“OT Vietnam”):

(1) Loan agreement entered into between OT HK as the
lender and Vietnam Owner as the borrower, whereby,
OT HK advanced to Vietnam Owner the interest bearing
loan for a principal amount of US$4,900 and the loan
shall be repayable on 22 December 2025 (or such later
date as mutually agreed between the parties). The
loan is conditional and secured by the mortgage of the
charter capital in OT Vietnam from time to time owned
by Vietnam Owner under the charter capital mortgage
agreement, and the arrangements under the proxy and
the letter of undertaking.

(2) Charter capital mortgage agreement entered into
between OT HK as lender and Vietnam Owner as
borrower, whereby, the Vietnam Owner has mortgaged
in favour of OT HK, among others, all its 49% in the
total charter capital of OT Vietnam, and all further
charter capital and securities deriving from such
mortgaged capital, or otherwise acquired and held by
Vietnam Owner from time to time (whether by way of
acquisition from the other shareholder(s) of OT Vietnam
or by further contribution to the charter capital of OT
Vietnam).
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

OT Thailand Contractual Arrangements and OT
Vietnam Contractual Arrangements (continued)

OT Vietnam Contractual Arrangements (continued)

(3) Letter of undertaking by Vietnam Owner to OT HK,
whereby, among others, it has irrevocably assigned and
directed all dividends and distributions declared, paid
and payable by OT Vietnam and all distributions of
assets and capital made and to be made by OT Vietnam
in relation to the shares of OT Vietnam from time to
time held by it to OT HK (or such person as from time
to time designated by it).

(4) Proxy dated 6 November 2013 by Vietnam Owner to
OT Vietnam, whereby, Vietnam Owner has irrevocably
appointed OT HK to nominate any person(s) designated
by OT HK to act as the authorised representative(s) to
participate in the board of directors of OT Vietnam
and to act and exercise, on behalf of Vietham Owner,
all its power in respect of all the charter capital of OT
Vietnam registered in its name.

OT Vietnam contributed to about 2.9% of the Group’s
total revenue for the FY2022 (FY2021: 3.4%). Through the
operation of the OT Vietnam Contractual Arrangement,
the financial results of OT Vietnam were consolidated into
the Group’s financial statements as if it was the Company's
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary and, as a result, the Group
bears 100% of the economic risks and losses of OT Vietnam.

No dividend was made by OT Vietnam to its shareholders for
the FY2022.

For risks associated with the OT Thailand Contractual
Arrangements and the OT Vietnam Contractual Arrangements,
please refer to the section headed "Risk Factors — Risks
relating to OT Thailand Contractual Arrangements and OT
Vietnam Contractual Arrangements” in the Prospectus for
details. To mitigate such risks associated, the Group intends
to unwind the OT Thailand Contractual Arrangements and
OT Vietnam Contractual Arrangements as soon as possible
if and when the relevant laws in the respective jurisdictions
allow the Group to operate in such jurisdictions without such
arrangements.

BFEBERS #)

AEFHANZHEREEBEENR
B (@®m)

REBEENZH ()

(3) HEEEABEEBTBMNARK B
(ERERE) BRAABMERLEZES
BIXETHEENEBAL)EE
HIEREEBREE IR RN R EMNS
P B BB N 9 K+ DA B 5 3 g 3 1)
B 5 B ST E MR AR D T AR R A
TEHONABEEEREARDIK

(4) BEZEAAREEZEBAHRASA_-F
—ZF+T-ARBEBWMEZFEE Bt
BEEAATARERELETLR
HAEEBFBHEENEMNALEDEE
RERUZBELEEFHEEETG IARX
BREEAANTERTEEBAYSEHE
EA%%%EW%@H%%$W%@
HiEN-

RZEZ_FUHBRFE LEMEERAE
EEMBNELN29% (ZE-—FHHE
E:34%) BBELEBEANLTH LiE
BENVEEEGAAREAEENT K
MR BEWEARAQRANEEZEZ2EWE R
Al 1&; CREEARELERRE 2 IEER

R-CZE-__FURFE HEVRAHBER
HRRIEA IR

BERAERHAGONLEREELAANL
BERFIE F2HEREREREX-
BrEeZBalR Rt EREaORH
ERWNAR] - "RAEKERER WA
BRZEENABEZATAEBE AN
YREFRBANRHELLELEANLH
MIBRA TEABRZERKEEXR K&
EEERERERELTHE

58 YTO International Express and Supply Chain Technology Limited Annual Report 2022



DIRECTORS’ REPORT -
EFHE “@

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS HEMBERXS @)

(continued)

OT Thailand Contractual Arrangements and OT % EZHFE SRR EEHEENL

Vietnam Contractual Arrangements (continued) HE (@)

OT Vietnam Contractual Arrangements (continued) FEBEENTH (@)

The purpose of the OT Thailand Contractual Arrangements and % EHZREHENLTHE L L EVMBEENLTEES
the OT Vietnam Contractual Arrangements is to provide the fr:EAEEELEETE LA EBEH MK
Group with effective control over the financial and operational K&ZEHEHEE LI EERIEHIME G E
policies of OT Thailand and OT Vietnam, to obtain the economic & Zx B J% 5t 3 i m9 A9 488 W 35 N2 1R 1B 2=
benefits from OT Thailand and OT Vietnam and acquire the KR #E @ AL ATFESEERE K
equity interests in OT Thailand and OT Vietnam as and when i ma iR WA F AR A L ER
permitted under the applicable laws in Thailand or Vietnam and L ZEZ8 M BEESRASAEEARAE
to allow the Company to consolidate the financial results of OT MBI BERR HOUEAAEENHTE A
Thailand and OT Vietnam into the Group’s financial statements &) MEAZHBHO BRI TR AEH -

as if they were the Group's subsidiaries, and the economic

benefit of their business flows to the Group.

Confirmation of auditor of the Company XD BB AT RERR

KPMG, the Company's auditor, was engaged to report on A AFEEZEEZSMEE R ST EL
the Group's continuing connected transactions in accordance Ff . BRRE & @ A1 A @ 8 &) & B % &
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 Z J2# B 253000%F (& B 5]) » [EBRE R E
(Revised), “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits Eﬁ@fﬂjﬁ%ﬁ KA B T E] W28
or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with & & B E£740% [BR E & - ™8 B BT
reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing it % 48 ?ﬂLﬁc% B RZ SUED K | R AN &=
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing ## zg MET SEHER RER €
Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public =& EiRE FH £ 14A 56185 — =
Accountants. KPMG has issued its unqualified letter containing — —FB B EERLHEEBLRERE -
their findings and conclusions in respect of the Master Service z- IS GLERRALTH N LIER
Agreement, the Master Charter Agreement, the OT Thailand FAYZTHHEBLEHNERZES B Rt
Contractual Arrangements and the OT Vietnam Contractual W HAEBER A AT EAG —T - —F B K
Arrangements in respect of the FY2022 in accordance with FEMLELZFR ALY THL L EBEAY
Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, with an emphasis of matter ZH R FXSHEE R EYLEEEE -
paragraph in relation to the fact that the Company is not ARG EMEEBATSAR D24
required to establish nor announced an annual cap in respect i 2Bl k4 &) &l 48 o

of the OT Thailand Contractual Arrangements and the OT

Vietnam Contractual Arrangements for the FY2022. A copy of

the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to The

Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

KPMG also confirmed that, for FY2022, nothing has come to EEFH @M EKMITERZ R T~ —
their attention that cause them to believe that (i) the above FEHEE HETRN S HFHETED
continuing connected transactions have not been approved £ HE{Z() it HEBES I R EESE
by the Board; (i) the above continuing connected transactions FE&# & () B EBES S EREE
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governing the transactions; (iv) the above continuing @) ,&(V)Eﬁﬁgﬁan’jﬁ}jt&ﬁg@
connected transactions have exceeded the respective annual FHAYNLTHBE THEEMS @ LiERE K
caps (if applicable); and (v) in respect of the arrangements 43z L&ﬁqmﬁ%mggg}gﬁﬁ)\{@ﬁ&’ﬁﬁ
under the OT Thailand Contractual Arrangements and the OT % @& 3% o 48 1% &= K £ B & T ] f% B 5 E 4
Vietnam Contractual Arrangements, there were any dividends 4 3g o

or other distributions made by OT Thailand or OT Vietnam
to their registered owners which are otherwise subsequently
assigned or transferred to the Group.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

Confirmation of independent non-executive
Directors

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed
the Master Service Agreement and the Master Charter
Agreement in respect of the FY2022 and confirmed that these
transactions have been entered into:

(1) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group;

(2)  on normal commercial terms or better; and

(3) according to the relevant agreements governing such
transactions on terms that are fair and reasonable and
in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

Furthermore, the independent non-executive Directors have
confirmed that, in FY2022, the arrangements under the OT
Thailand Contractual Arrangements and the OT Vietnam
Contractual Arrangements have remained unchanged and
consistent with the disclosure as set out in the Prospectus;
and both of the said arrangements are fair and reasonable
so far as the Group is concerned and in the interests of the
Shareholders as a whole.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus, the section headed
“Continuing connected transactions” above and the
transactions as disclosed in note 45 to the consolidated
financial statements, during FY2022, there was no contract
of significance (i) between the Company or its subsidiaries
and the controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries;
or (ii) for the provision of services to the Company or any
of its subsidiaries by a controlling Shareholder or any of its
subsidiaries.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus and the section headed
“Continuing Connected Transactions’, no contracts of
significance concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or subsisted during the FY2022.
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DIRECTORS’
BUSINESS

INTERESTS IN A COMPETING

During 1 January 2022 and up to the date of this report,
the following Director was considered to have an interest
in a business which competes or is likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group (the
"Competing Business”), as defined in the Listing Rules, details
of which are set out below:

Name of Director Mr. Yu Huijiao, non-executive Director of the
Company, who is also a substantial shareholder
of YTO Express

Nature and scope of YTO Express Group is principally engaged in
the Competing  the warehousing and distribution of goods as a

Business leader in the express and courier service market

in the PRC
Size of the YTO Express is a company listed on the
Competing Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code:
Business 600233), with market capitalization amounted

to RMB69.1 billion as at 31 December 2022

The positions held by the Directors in YTO

Express are as follows:

Mr. Yu Huijiao, chairman of the board of YTO
Express and chairman of the board and
general manager of Yuantong Jiaolong

Mr. Pan Shuimiao, director and president

Mr. Chen Dong, senior director

Ms. Wang Lixiu, vice president

Management of
the Competing
Business

For the FY2022, since YTO Express Group’s main focus was
warehousing and distribution of goods through express and
courier service in the PRC and apart from intra-group freight
forwarding services among YTO Express Group members,
YTO Express Group did not carry out any freight forwarding
services to and/or business with external parties, the Directors
considered that, the Group is capable of carrying on its
business independently of, and at arm’s length, from the
Competing Business and the operations of YTO Express Group
did not affect the Group's business.
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EERE

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption
available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the
Shares during the FY2022.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at
31 December 2022. As at the date of this annual report,
the Group was not involved in any current material legal
proceeding, nor was the Group aware of any pending or
potential material legal proceedings involving the Group. If
the Group was involved in such material legal proceedings,
the Group would record any loss contingencies when, based
on information then available, it is probable that a loss has
been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably
estimated.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the FY2022, less than 30% of the Group’s cost of
sales were attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers in
aggregate.

The percentage of revenue of the Group attributable to the
largest customer and the five largest customers in aggregate
are 25.7% and 39.7% respectively. Hangzhou Cainiao Supply
Chain Management Co., Limited, being one of the Group’s
five largest customers, is a subsidiary of Alibaba Group
Holding Limited, which is indirectly interested in more than
5% of the issued Shares.

Shanghai Yuantong International Cargo Freight Agent Co.,
Ltd.* EBEBEEBREMERGNRIEER XA, being one
of the Group’s five largest customers, is a wholly owned
subsidiary of YTO Express. YTO Express is a controlling
Shareholder interested in more than 5% of the issued Shares,
and also a company controlled as to over 30% by Yuantong
Jiaolong, which in turn is a company owned as to 51% by
Mr. Yu Huijiao (a non-executive Director and a controlling
Shareholder) and 49% by his spouse.

Save as disclosed, none of the Directors, their close associates
or any shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors
own more than 5% of the number of Company’s issued
shares) had an interest in the five major customers of the
Group. Close associate refers to the close associate of the
Director not the Shareholder.

*  For identification purposes only
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EERE

REMUNERATION POLICY

Remuneration policy of the Group is reviewed regularly and
the remuneration policy and remuneration packages of the
executive Directors and members of the senior management
of the Group are recommended by the Remuneration
Committee to the Board.

Our remuneration policy is based on the principles of
aligning remuneration outcomes with our strategy, and
encouraging strong delivery by employees by differentiating
top performers. The employees’ total compensation consists
of fixed pay including salary and allowances and discretionary
variable remuneration. It is determined on the basis of their
role and responsibilities, performance and contributions and
market dynamics.

The Group has adopted a Share Option Scheme and Share
Award Plan for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to eligible participants, including the employees of
the Group, for their contribution to the Group.

The remuneration of Directors is determined with reference
to their expertise and experience in the industry, the
performance and profitability of the Group as well as
remuneration benchmarks from other local and international
companies and prevailing market conditions.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Articles, or the laws of Cayman Islands, which would oblige
the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to its
existing Shareholders.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the current information that is publicly available
to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors,
as at the date of this annual report, the Company has
maintained the prescribed minimum public float under the
Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEWRE

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Tuesday, 6 June 2023 to Friday, 9 June 2023 (both days inclusive)
for the purpose of determining the right to attend and vote at
the forthcoming AGM. In order to be qualified for attending and
voting at the forthcoming AGM, unregistered holders of Shares
should ensure that all share transfer documents accompanied
by the corresponding share certificates are lodged with the
Company’'s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong
Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong, for registration not later
than 4:30 p.m. (Hong Kong time) on Monday, 5 June 2023.

Conditional on the passing of the resolution approving the
declaration of the proposed final dividend at the forthcoming
AGM, the register of members of the Company will also be
closed from Monday, 19 June 2023 to Wednesday, 21 June
2023 (both days inclusive) for the purpose of determining
the entitlement to the proposed final dividend in respect of
the FY2022. In order to be qualified for the proposed final
dividend (subject to the approval of the Shareholders at the
forthcoming AGM), unregistered holders of Shares should
ensure that all share transfer documents accompanied by
the corresponding share certificates are lodged with the
Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong
Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at the address stated
above for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. (Hong Kong
time) on Friday, 16 June 2023.

CHANGE OF COMPANY NAME

As announced by the Company on 23 November 2022, the
special resolution approving the change of English name of
the Company from “YTO Express (International) Holdings
Limited” to “YTO International Express and Supply Chain
Technology Limited” and the dual foreign name of the
Company in Chinese " (B3 B B R IR E S B AR A F" be
adopted to replace its existing dual foreign name in Chinese
"EBEEE (BER)IERAR QA" (the “Special Resolution”)
was passed by the Shareholders at the extraordinary general
meeting of the Company held on 23 November 2022.
Subsequent to the passing of the Special Resolution, the
Certificate of Incorporation on Change of Name was issued
by the Registrar of Companies in the Cayman Islands on 24
November 2022 regarding the change of English name of the
Company from “YTO Express (International) Holdings Limited”
to “YTO International Express and Supply Chain Technology
Limited” and the dual foreign name of the Company in
Chinese from "Bl #iE (B ZERAER QA" to "El @B EF
PR ESE RIS HR A F]". Please refer to the announcement
of the Company dated 21 December 2022 for further details.
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CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

During the FY2022, the Group made charitable contributions
in an aggregate amount of about HK$17,000 (FY2021: about
HK$13,000).

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There were no events causing material impact on the Group
from 31 December 2022, being the end of the Report Period
to the date of this report.

AUDITOR

A resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming AGM to
re-appoint Messrs. KPMG as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. Yu Huijiao
Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2023
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXERRE

CORPORATE CULTURE

The Group recognizes that a good corporate culture is necessary
to support and complement its corporate governance efforts and
corporate image, and has gradually developed a corporate culture
emphasising on lawful, ethical and responsible business conduct
over the years, which has been reflected in the overall operations
and management of the Group, in order to facilitate the long-term
sustainability of the Group. In order to promote open communication
in the workplace and high ethical standards among staff and
management of the Group, the Group has established anti-corruption
and whistle-blowing policies, to provide guidance on identifying
relevant breaches or improper behaviour, reporting procedures and
consequences of violations of such policies. For further details on the
Group’s anti-corruption and whistle-blowing policies, please see the
environmental, social and governance report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company recognises the importance of good corporate
governance in maintaining its corporate transparency and
accountability. The Board sets appropriate policies and
implements corporate governance practices appropriate to the
conduct and growth of the Group’s business.

The Company has applied the principles as set out in the CG
Code contained in Part 2 to Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules
on the Stock Exchange during the FY2022. The Board considers
that during the FY2022, the Company has complied with
the code provisions set out in the CG Code. Key corporate
governance principles and practices of the Company are
summarized below.

A. The Board
A1. Responsibilities and Delegation

The Board is responsible for the leadership, control
and management of the Company and oversees
the Group’s business, strategic decision and
performances in the attainment of the objective
of ensuring effective functioning and growth of
the Group and enhancing value to investors. All
the Directors carry out their duties in good faith,
take decisions objectively and act in the interests
of the Company and its Shareholders at all times.

The Board reserves for its decision on all major
matters of the Company, including the approval
and monitoring of all policy matters, overall
strategies and budgets, internal control and
risk management systems, material transactions
(in particular those that may involve conflict of
interests), financial information, appointment
of Directors and other significant financial and
operational matters.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TEERRS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

(continued)

A. The Board (continued)
A1. Responsibilities and Delegation (continued)

All Directors have timely access to all relevant
information as well as the advice and services of
the Company Secretary and senior management,
with a view to ensuring compliance with
Board procedures and all applicable laws and
regulations. Any Director may request for
independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company's expense, upon
reasonable request made to the Board.

The Executive Committee and senior management
of the Company are delegated the authority
and responsibilities by the Board for the day-to-
day management and operation of the Group.
The delegated functions and work tasks are
periodically reviewed. Approval has to be obtained
from the Board prior to any significant transactions
entered into by the above-mentioned officers.
The Board has the full support of the senior
management to discharge its responsibilities.

A2. Board Composition

The composition of the Board for the FY2022 and
up to the date of this report is as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Yang Xinwei
(Note 1)

Mr. Huang Yifeng  (President and Chairman of
the Corporate Governance
Committee)

Mr. Sun Jian (Chief Executive Officer)
Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Yu Huijiao (Chairman of the Board,
Chairman of the
Nomination Committee
and Member of the
Remuneration Committee)

Mr. Pan Shuimiao  (Member of the Audit

(Note 3 & 4) Committee)
Mr. Li Xianjun
(Note 2)
Mr. Chen Dong (Former Member of the
(Note 3) Audit Committee)
Ms. Wang Lixiu (Member of the Audit
(Note 4) Committee)
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TEERRS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

(continued)

A. The Board (continued)
A2. Board Composition (continued)
Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Li Donghui (Member of the Audit
Committee, the
Nomination Committee
and the Corporate
Governance Committee)

Mr. Xu Junmin (Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee
and Member of the
Nomination Committee
and the Corporate
Governance Committee)

Mr. Chung Kwok (Chairman of the Audit

Mo John Committee and Member of

the Remuneration
Committee and the
Corporate Governance
Committee)

Note 1. Mr. Yang Xinwei served as a non-executive Director
from 31 March 2022 to 8 December 2022 and
re-designated as an executive director with effect
from 9 December 2022.

Note 2: With effect from 31 March 2022, Mr. Li Xianjun
resigned as a non-executive Director of the
Company.

Note 3. With effect from 8 February 2023, Mr. Chen Dong
resigned as a non-executive Director and a member
of the Audit Committee of the Company and Mr.
Pan Shuimiao was appointed as a member of the
Audit Committee of the Company.

Note 4: With effect from 31 March 2023, Ms. Wang Lixiu
was appointed as a non-executive director and a
member of the Audit Committee of the Company
and Mr. Pan Shuimiao resigned as a member of the
Audit Committee of the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EREARSE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

(continued)

A. The Board (continued)

A2.

Board Composition (continued)

Throughout the FY2022, the Board has met the
requirements of the Listing Rules 3.10 and 3.10A
of having a minimum of three independent non-
executive directors (representing at least one-
third of the Board) with at least one of them
possessing appropriate professional qualifications
and accounting and related financial management
expertise.

The members of the Board have skills and
experience appropriate for the business
requirements and objectives of the Group. Each
executive Director is responsible for different
business and functional division of the Group
in accordance with his/her expertise. The
independent non-executive Directors bring
different business and financial expertise,
experiences and independent judgement to
the Board and they are invited to serve on the
Board committees of the Company. Through
participation in Board meetings, taking the lead
in managing issues involving potential conflicts of
interests, the independent non-executive Directors
have made contributions to the effective direction
of the Company and provided adequate checks
and balances to safeguard the interests of both
the Group and the Shareholders.

Mr. Yang Xinwei is the cousin-in-law of the spouse
of Mr. Yu Huijiao, the chairman of the Board, a
non-executive Director and controlling shareholder
of the Company. Save as disclosed, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, the Directors and
senior management have no financial, business,
family or other material/relevant relationships with
one another.

The Company has received written annual
confirmation from each independent non-
executive Director of his independence pursuant
to the requirements of the Listing Rules. The
Company considers all independent non-executive
Directors to be independent in light of the
independence guidelines set out in the Listing
Rules.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

(continued)

A.

70

The Board (continued)

A2.

A3.

A4.

Board Composition (continued)

The Company has adopted the mechanism to
ensure independent views and input are available
to the Board, with the following key features:
(i) the Nomination Committee is established
with clear terms of reference to identify suitable
candidates, including independent non-executive
directors, for appointment as Directors; (ii) the
Nomination Committee will assess annually
the independence of all independent non-
executive directors; and (iii) the Directors
are entitled to seek, at the Group's expense,
independent professional advice reasonably
necessary for discharging their duties as
Directors. During the FY2022, the Board has
reviewed the implementation and effectiveness
of the mechanism and considered that the
implementation of the mechanism was effective.

Chairman and Chief Executive

The roles and duties of the chairman of the
Board and the chief executive officer are held by
separate persons in order to ensure a balance
of power and authority and preserve a balanced
judgement of views. Currently, Mr. Yu Huijiao
takes up the role of chairman of the Board and is
providing leadership and being responsible for the
effective functioning and leadership of the Board,
whereas Mr. Sun Jian is the chief executive officer
of the Company, focusing on the Company's
business development and daily management and
operations generally.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

All Directors are appointed for a specific term. Mr.
Yang Xinwei has been appointed as an executive
Director for an initial fixed term of one year
commencing from 9 December 2022 renewable
automatically for successive terms of one year
each commencing from the day immediately
after the expiry of the then current term of
appointment, until terminated as contemplated
pursuant to the termination provisions therein,
or by not less than three months’ written notice
served by either party expiring at the end of
the initial term of his appointment or any time
thereafter.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TEERRS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

(continued)

TEERER @)

A. The Board (continued) A. EEEg (@)
A4. Appointment and Re-election of Directors AL, ZEREEES ()
(continued)
Mr. Huang Yifeng has been appointed as an ERETERTZTRAUTES
executive Director for an initial fixed term BE-ZE-ZTF—-A=-+—HB&
of one year commencing from 21 January MPEEFHAE—F JRERE
2020 renewable automatically for successive BERZEEmES BRKAED
terms of one year each commencing from the BEEE—F HEEZREBERSH
day immediately after the expiry of the then AR U RS T LASR IE - S AR
current term of appointment, until terminated —TTREEZENYSERE
as contemplated pursuant to the termination WE S E AR L D
provisions therein, or by not less than three R=EAEEBE T LA -
months’ written notice served by either party
expiring at the end of the initial term of his
appointment or any time thereafter.
Mr. Sun Jian has been appointed as an executive FREAEEZAARNTES B
Director for an initial fixed term of one year ZE - —F=ZA=+—HE¥V
commencing from 31 March 2021 renewable FEEFHMA—F AINERAR
automatically for successive terms of one year MZAHMEEARBEHE
each commencing from the day immediately FEE—F EEZRBERBHE
after the expiry of the then current term of BT LASR IE - Sl fE ] —
appointment, until terminated as contemplated FTREEBZENV L EHE R
pursuant to the termination provisions therein, B EBEMNEREELD TR
or by not less than three months’ written notice —EAAEEBE T LA -
served by either party expiring at the end of
the initial term of his appointment or any time
thereafter.
Mr. Pan Shuimiao has been appointed as a non- FERKETERBREZEAARAGE
executive Director by the Company for an initial WITEE B_FT_ZFF—A
term of one year commencing from 21 January Zt+—HRUSEHRE—F 7]
2020, which shall be renewed and extended REMZTHEREBBESF
automatically for successive terms of one year EZI&LHH F HEBRARA
each upon expiry of the then current term, until FEKBEAEERVSTHER
terminated by not less than three month’s written BIHBEBELETIOR=ZM@AE
notice served by either the Company or Mr. Pan H 850 LABLE -
Shuimiao expiring at the end of the initial term or
thereafter.
“ToFR EBRERREHREEMEBERAG
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TEERRS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

(continued)

A. The Board (continued)

A4. Appointment and Re-election of Directors
(continued)

Mr. Yu Huijiao and each of the independent non-
executive Directors are appointed for a term of
one year and shall be automatically renewable for
successive terms of one year each commencing
from the next day after the expiry of the current
term unless terminated by not less than three
months’ notice in writing served by either the
Company or the Director.

According to the Articles, one-third of the
Directors for the time being (if their number is not
a multiple of three, the number nearest to but
not less than one-third) shall retire from office by
rotation at each AGM provided that every Director
shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years. The retiring Directors
should be eligible for re-election at the relevant
AGM. In addition, any new Director appointed
by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold
office only until the first general meeting of
Shareholders after his/her appointment, whereas
any Director appointed by the Board as an
addition to the existing Board shall hold office
only until the next following AGM. The Director
appointed by the Board as aforesaid shall be
eligible for re-election at the relevant general
meeting.

At the forthcoming AGM, Mr. Sun lJian, Mr. Yu
Huijiao, Mr. Xu Junmin and Ms. Wang Lixiu shall
retire by rotation pursuant to the Articles. All of
the above retiring Directors, being eligible, will
offer themselves for re-election at the AGM.
The Board and the Nomination Committee
recommended their re-appointment. The circular
of the Company, sent together with this report,
contains detailed information of the said Directors
as required by the Listing Rules.
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TEERRS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

(continued)

TEERER @)

A. The Board (continued) A. EEEg (@)
A5. Training and Continuing Development for A5. EENEIIRSFERR
Directors
Each newly appointed Director shall receive BEHZENEZESBEREER
formal induction on the first occasion of his/her ZERERMEERXIFI - AR
appointment, so as to ensure that he/she has BHAEENER REEHRR
appropriate understanding of the business and BHENBER UREHERET
operations of the Group and that he/she is fully RAREEEERETNEE
aware of his/her responsibilities and obligations REBET TR -
under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory
requirements.
Under the CG Code, Directors should participate BECEERTA EFRER
in appropriate continuous professional Eﬁiﬂ?éﬁﬁ’\]ﬁ@iﬁrﬁfxﬁuﬁi
development to develop and refresh their E%ﬁ@%ﬁ’\]% B rRee - DARE
knowledge and skills to ensure that their REEHEESHELNELEHA
contribution to the Board remains informed and BER -EETHEREEREE
relevant. The Directors are continually updated %EEE’JE‘%)T?%)E LA K2 T R TS
with legal and regulatory developments, and MHE - UERITHFHER
the business and market changes to facilitate $’AT REFERRES
the discharge of their responsibilities. Trainings ki‘i?i I REEER W B
and professional development for Directors are ETREREFHEERANTE
arranged whenever necessary. In addition, reading BIFT R BOEAE RIER K
material on new or changes to salient laws and HEFHMMHEER UHEFL
regulations applicable to the Group are provided BER2H-
to Directors from time to time for their studying
and reference.
The Directors are required to submit to the EFERSWBRFERERA
Company details of the training they received RXEBEGNEIFE AU
in each financial year for the Company's SARNBERFEZEEHEE FI
maintenance of proper training records of the LER-R_T__FPRFE
Directors. During the FY2022, all the Directors EREFHERHEEHELEE
were provided with reading materials or regulatory AEENEETBENBEMH
update on corporate governance matters and SEEENER UHEELH
responsibilities of the Directors for their reference E@RE-kIN BHELEE &
and perusal. Besides, Mr. Yang Xinwei, Mr. Huang @ﬂt‘%f‘ﬁi RREEE BmERE
Yifeng, Mr. Sun Jian, Mr. Yu Huijiao, Mr. Pan CEBEKEEE - BREEE-F
Shuimiao, Mr. Chen Dong, Mr. Li Donghui, Mr. Xu ?ﬁiﬁf‘ﬁi HEREERERR
Junmin and Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John attended EEBEFHEMEERD 7/
other seminars and training sessions arranged by BT B a5 g RiE
other professional firms/institutions. FRIE ©
“ToFR EBRERREHREEMEBERAG
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
(continued)

EEg W)

A6. EETSHRIELE

R-ZE__FHBFERN - RE
EHREARAEFTERESFS
;EQQS%L}\&HXﬁj(EHBﬁ
oW :

A. The Board (continued) A.

A6. Directors’ Attendance Records at Meetings

The attendance records of each Director at the
Board and Board committee meetings and the
general meetings of the Company held during the
FY2022 are set out below:

Attendance/Number of Meetings (Note 4

74

LRER/GHRY (Hie)
Corporate Annual
Governance General  Extraordinary
Audit  Remuneration  Nomination Committee Meeting General
Board  Committee  Committee  Committee TEER KREE Meeting

Name of Director j£3:24 Ez®  EHZR®  EMzZE®  RAZsg ZE% & RE%HAE

Executive Directors: HiEE:

M. Yang Xinwel (Note 1) BHERE (1) B NATER NATER  NATER NA T & il n

M. Huang Yifeng Eglh 55 NATER  NATER  NATER " i "

Mr. Sun Jian adika 5/5 NATEE NA A NATEE NATER n "

Non-executive Directors: HHTEE:

Mr. Yu Hujiao HEgRE 45 NATEE 0 W NATER il 11

M. Pan Shuimiao (ote 3) BIEEE Wit3) 45 NATER  NATER  NATER  NATER il i

i, L Xianjon ote 2 BEEEE (W) M NATER  NATER  NATER  NATER  NATER  NATER

Mr. Chen Dong (Note 3) REGE(H3#3) 45 33 NATER  NATER NA TE R il n

Indevendent non-executive Directors: — BUAHTEE:

Mr. i Donghui FRERE 25 B NATEE Wi 11 il 11

Mr. Xu Junmin BRRRE 55 NA TR 22 20 mn 1n mn

Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John EERRE 5/5 33 22 NATER mn n mn

Note 1: Mr. Yang Xinwei served as a non-executive Director Mt BHEEENRZT=Z_F=A
from 31 March 2022 to 8 December 2022 and =+—BEZZE=Z=F+=A
re-designated as an executive director with effect NBEAFNTEFTIE=T
from 9 December 2022. —ZE+-AABRATAEHR

fTES-

Note 2: With effect from 31 March 2022, Mr. Li Xianjun Bz TBEELEEBRTAQAEHR
resigned as a non-executive Director of the TEE B_Z__%=78
Company. =t+—HEEm-

Note 3: With effect from 8 February 2023, Mr. Chen Dong Wiz BZZE==F=-_AN\BE K
resigned as a non-executive Director and a member ZEEBERATFNTES
of the Audit Committee of the Company and Mr. LEZZEEKEREKEX
Pan Shuimian was appointed as a member of the TEZTEAAAREZEZES
Audit Committee of the Company. BB -

Note 4: Represents the number of meeting of the Board Bit4: R _ZE__FHHRFEH

and Board committees and general meetings held
during FY2022 or, for Directors appointed after
1 January 2022 or resigned during FY2022, during
the tenure of the relevant Director.

CEE T et ey Sy
FREZEINEFAN_-F
CoEYREERENESN
FOREHERTHAEET
NEFSNEESZEESR
AR BERAEERE -
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(continued)

TEERER @)

A. The Board (continued) A. EEEg (@)

A6. Directors’ Attendance Records at Meetings A6. EEEELERLE (H)
(continued)
In addition, the Chairman of the Board held one N R-ZE - —FHRFEH
meeting with the independent non-executive M- BEFEXIFEEBIIFENTE
Directors without the presence of other Directors FERT-REMESFSTELRE
during the FY2022. Ve

A7. Model Code for Securities Transactions A7. BERZWEESA
The Company has devised its own code of conduct RARAFREHREEZREERS
regarding Directors’ and employees’ dealings KRARFESHBETATA ([F
in the Company’s securities (the “Securities AR ST HERTER
Dealing Code”) on terms no less exacting than “'&TH'Jﬁﬁﬁfﬁiﬁﬂ?"%%?
the required standard as set out in the Model CPEEZHFRXSHTAMEILR- &
Code. Each Director has been given a copy of the MERESFELARERAE &
Securities Dealing Code. Specific enquiry has been EHRAFESESER T _—_FH
made of all Directors and they have confirmed Eﬁ(irﬂi EE?%%*%
their compliance with the Securities Dealing Code PR AN - BA R B ATE A
throughout the FY2022. In addition, no incident NElEENEZ SRS THE
of non-compliance of the Securities Dealing Code S
by the employees was noted by the Company.
In case when the Company is aware of any WERAABMBEENEBEE
restricted period for dealings in the Company’s KRB BHFHR G E - A2 A
securities, the Company will notify its Directors SEABNMEEEREHEEES -
and relevant employees in advance.

A8. Changes in Information of Directors A8. ESERETE
Save as disclosed in this annual report, there is BRAFHRAABREEIIN EFEH
no other change in the Directors’ information MEAMEEARE ETHNE
required to be disclosed under Rule 13.51B of the 13.51BIREVIRTE T A ER
Listing Rules.

T oFH EREFREHEERSEERAA
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

(continued)

A. The Board (continued)

A9.

Board and Workforce Diversity

The Company aims to maintain an appropriate
balance of diversity perspectives of the Board that
are relevant to the Company's business growth.
The Nomination Committee will review annually
the structure, size and composition of the Board
and where appropriate, make recommendations
on changes to the Board to complement the
Company's corporate strategy. For details of the
measurable objectives for implementing the board
diversity policy, please refer to section B3 of the
Corporate Governance Report.

The Company also considers the gender diversity
of the Board. During FY2022, 100% of the Board
members are male. As at the date of this report,
the Company has one female Board member. The
Company will also review from time to time the
board gender diversity and potential successors to
the board to achieve gender diversity.

Regarding the gender ratio in the workforce, as
at the 31 December 2022, the male to female
ratio of the senior management and general
workforce of the Group are 1.5 times and 0.8
times respectively. The Company considers that
the workforce gender diversity across senior
management and general workforce is achieved.

To achieve a balance of gender composition of
human resources at all levels, gender diversity
targets are set across the workforce. Based on the
existing composition of workforce, the Directors
consider that the workforce has more or less
gender parity and so no target is set in respect of
gender ratio. The Board will periodically monitor
the gender composition of the workforce and set
targets if and as needed.

During the FY2022, the Board and the Nomination
Committee have reviewed the implementation
and effectiveness of the board diversity policy and
considered that the implementation of the policy
was effective.
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(continued)

B. Board Committees

The Board has established five Board committees,
namely, the Executive Committee, the Remuneration
Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Audit
Committee and the Corporate Governance Committee,
for overseeing particular aspects of the Company's
affairs. All Board committees have been established
with defined written terms of reference which are
available on the Stock Exchange’s website and the
Company's website (except for the terms of reference
of the Executive Committee which are available to
Shareholders upon request). All the Board committees
should report to the Board on their decisions or
recommendations made.

All Board committees are provided with sufficient
resources to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable
request, are able to seek independent professional advice
in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses.

B1. Executive Committee

The Executive Committee comprises all the executive
Directors and operates as a general management
committee under the direct authority of the Board
to increase the efficiency for the business decisions.
It monitors the execution of the Company's
strategic plans and operations of all business units
of the Group and discusses and makes decisions on
matters relating to the management and day-to-day
operations of the Company.

B2. Remuneration Committee

The members of the Remuneration Committee
during the FY2022 were as follows:

Non-executive Director:
Mr. Yu Huijiao
Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Xu Junmin (Chairman)
Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John

Throughout the FY2022, the Company has
met the Listing Rule requirements of having
the majority of the Remuneration Committee
members being independent non-executive
Directors as well as having the Committee chaired
by an independent non-executive Director.
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78

B2.

Board Committees (continued)

TEERER @)

B. EE®2ZET (@)

Remuneration Committee (continued) B2.

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration
Committee include making recommendations to
the Board on the Company’s remuneration policy
and structure and the remuneration packages of
Directors and members of senior management.
The Remuneration Committee is also responsible
for establishing transparent procedures for
developing such remuneration policy and structure
to ensure that no Director or any of his/her
associates will participate in deciding his/her
own remuneration, which remuneration will be
determined by the Board with reference to the
performance of the individual and the Company
as well as market practice and conditions.

During the FY2022, the Remuneration Committee
has held two meetings (the attendance records of
each Committee member are set out in section A6
above). The Remuneration Committee performed
the following major works during the year:

- General review and discussion of the
remuneration packages, policy and structure
of the directors and the senior staff of the
Group, and recommendation to the Board;

- Consideration of and recommendation to
the Board on the remuneration packages
for the directors and members of senior

management; and

- Consideration and review of the service

contracts of executive Director(s).

Pursuant to the CG Code,

the annual

remuneration of the members of the senior
management by band for the FY2022 is set out

below:

Remuneration band (HK$)

2,500,001-3,000,000
1,500,001-2,000,000
1,000,001-1,500,000

¥ E (GBx)

2,500,001%3,000,000
1,500,001%2,000,000
1,000,001% 1,500,000

Details of the remuneration of each Director
for the FY2022 are set out in note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements contained in this

report.
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(continued)
ESEEgZEE W)

B3. Nomination Committee B3. ERZE®S

B. Board Committees (continued) B.

The members of the Nomination Committee
during the FY2022 were as follows:

Non-executive Director:
Mr. Yu Huijiao (Chairman)
Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Li Donghui
Mr. Xu Junmin

The principal responsibilities of the Nomination
Committee are to review the structure, size and
composition (including the skills, knowledge,
experience and diversity perspectives) of the Board
at least annually and make recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company's corporate strategy;
identify qualified and suitable individuals to
become Board members and select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection
of individuals nominated for directorships;
assess the independence of independent non-
executive Directors; and make recommendations
to the Board on relevant matters relating to the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and
succession planning for Directors, in particular the
chairman of the Board and the chief executive of
the Company.
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(continued)

B. Board Committees (continued)

B3.

Nomination Committee (continued)

In selecting candidates for directorship of the
Company, the Nomination Committee may make
reference to certain criteria such as the Company’s
needs, the diversity on the Board, the integrity,
experience, skills and professional knowledge of
the candidate and the amount of time and effort
that the candidate will devote to discharge his/her
duties and responsibilities. External recruitment
professionals might be engaged to carry out
selection process when necessary.

For the nomination process of new Director, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board should,
upon receipt of the proposal on appointment of
new Director and the biographical information
(or relevant details) of the candidate, evaluate
such candidate based on the criteria as set out
above to determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship. If the process yields one
or more desirable candidates, the Nomination
Committee and/or the Board should rank them
by order of preference based on the needs of the
Company and reference check of each candidate
(where applicable). The Nomination Committee
should then recommend to the Board to appoint
the appropriate candidate for directorship, as
applicable. For any person that is nominated by
a Shareholder for election as a Director at the
general meeting of the Company, the Nomination
Committee and/or the Board should evaluate
such candidate based on the criteria as set out
above to determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship. Where appropriate, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board should
make recommendation to Shareholders in respect
of the proposed election of Director at the general
meeting.
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TEERER @)

B. Board Committees (continued) B. EE2ZEE (@)
B3. Nomination Committee (continued) B3. REZEE (M)
The Company has adopted the director ARABERMNESREABBE %
nomination policy. Such policy, devising the B3R Bl 5T B7 32 R R IR AT AR
criteria and process of selection and performance ERBEF REFRHREAR
evaluation, provides guidance to the Board on ZEEENES - ZEEERA
nomination and appointment of Directors. The BB ERTHAEERE
Board believes that the defined selection process M BREFGHFEMERES
is good for corporate governance in ensuring CEEFrNEEREAG  WiE
the Board continuity and appropriate leadership AEETENRERZTE UK
at Board level, and enhancing better Board BT A RER KRG -
effectiveness and diversity as well as in compliance
with the applicable rules and regulations.
The Company also recognises and embraces the RKARMBPALTREEEEK
benefit of having a diverse Board to enhance BZTLEREARTANKEE
the quality of its performance. To comply EEHRZ - RETLEIMBRAE
with Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules, a board 13926 R T AR A RME
diversity policy was adopted by the Company, EERELZTILER B R
pursuant to which the Nomination Committee is XEZERBEEEBEESFENE
responsible for monitoring the implementation ZHABERNE K W Tt
of the board diversity policy and assessing the E’U%EEWS%$§E'\J%HEZ (B
Board composition under diversified perspectives BARBMER - Fie Xt RH
(including but not limited to gender, age, cultural BERHRIEEK %) RB%EE8
and educational background, or professional ERMEFTERFEHERER
experience). The Nomination Committee shall REHER(EB) ZBER
report its findings and make recommendations to BIERE TR ARRER
the Board, if any. Such policy and objectives will TESSREMAKNERT -
be reviewed from time to time to ensure their
appropriateness in determining the optimum
composition of the Board.
“ToFR EBRERREHREEMEBERAG
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(continued)

B. Board Committees (continued) B. EE€2ZE2 (@)
B3. Nomination Committee (continued) B3. BREZEE (M)
During the FY2022, the Nomination Committee ﬁé:g:_iﬁﬁﬁkﬁrlﬁ'%%
has held two meetings (the attendance records of ZEeRTEARMIeS: (B%E8
each Committee member are set out in section @K EHFELESEN XA
A6 above). The Nomination Committee performed ) IRBEEERNFREITUHU
the following major works during the year: TEETI{E:

Review of the existing structure, size and
composition of the Board to ensure that
it has a balance of expertise, skills and
experience appropriate to the requirements
for the business of the Group;

R EFECHARE
%E*E&ZEEX NHERE S
E./J%$El%i‘%iﬁ Pt
gﬂﬁﬁﬁfﬂ;& e R &

Consideration of and recommendation to - RIZE_—_FRXANLHEE
the Board on the re-election of the retiring TZARBRRBFRE
Directors at the Company's AGM held on t%ﬁik?&@&%% i
9 June 2022; MESgELEERS

Assessment of the independence of the three
independent non-executive Directors; and

Consideration of and recommendation to

the FY2022.

AE=RBIUFNTES
B ]

EZRETESYMEESE

the Board on the appointment of directors. EREEEZ -
The measurable objectives for implementing the BEHEETSZLBROAE
board diversity policy are as follows: sEB0EMT:
At least 40% of the Board members to be - &DAONMEE=EKE S
aged below 55; 55 A T
At least 50% of the Board members to hold — ERPS0%MEFEK B
a master's degree; BELTEA:
At least 40% of the Board members to - HAA0%ME=EREAR
possess professional qualifications in legal or BrEGestaENEE
accounting field; and B R
At least 20% of the Board members to have - E—QZO%EI’J EEgXEA
business experience in freight forwarding EEARTE R B R ET
and international express industry. %E’]%ﬁ#«%ﬁ
The Nomination Committee considered that an REZEERAEESEEIN =
appropriate balance of diversity perspectives of T _FUBRFERNEBRRE
the Board is maintained during the FY2022. Based B¥ENZ bk - RIERA
on the review by the Nomination Committee, TEENRT  IRBEETEERA
the Nomination Committee considers that the RARABRZE-__FPHRFE
Company has achieved the measurable objectives NEEREREFEZ TILR
set for implementing the board diversity policy for RXZAtEEE-
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(continued)
ESEEgZEE W)

B4. Audit Committee B4. BEXZEEE

B. Board Committees (continued) B.

The members of the Audit Committee during the
FY2022 were as follows:

Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Chen Dong
Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John (Chairman)
Mr. Li Donghui

The Company has met the Listing Rules
requirements regarding the composition of the
Audit Committee throughout the FY2022. The
majority of the Audit Committee members are
independent non-executive directors. Mr. Chung
Kwok Mo John possesses the appropriate
professional qualification, and accounting and
financial management expertise as required under
Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules. None of the
members of the Audit Committee is a former
partner of the Company’s existing external auditor.

The main duties of the Audit Committee are
reviewing the financial information and reports
of the Group and considering any significant or
unusual items raised by the financial officers of
the Group or external auditor before submission
to the Board; reviewing the relationship with and
the terms of appointment of the external auditor
and making the relevant recommendation to the
Board; and reviewing the Company’s financial
reporting system, internal control and risk
management systems and the effectiveness of the
internal audit function.
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(continued)

B. Board Committees (continued)
B4. Audit Committee (continued)

During the FY2022, the Audit Committee has
held three meetings (the attendance records of
each Committee member are set out in section
A6 above). The Audit Committee performed the
following major works during the year:

- Reviewed the external auditor’s
independence and objectivity and made
recommendation of the re-appointment of
the external auditor;

- Reviewed and discussed the annual financial
statements, results announcement and
annual report for the FY2021, the relevant
audit findings of the Company’s external
auditor;

- Reviewed and discussed the interim financial
statements, results announcement and
interim report for the six months ended
30 June 2022 and the relevant review
findings of the Company’s external auditor;

- Reviewed the reports prepared by an
external adviser on the Group's internal
control matters, and reviewed the existing
risk management and internal control
systems of the Group, and review the
effectiveness of the internal audit function
of the Company;

- Reviewed the Group’s continuing connected
transactions for the FY2021 as well as the
FY2022 and the revision of annual caps of
the continuing connected transactions;

- Reviewed certain material litigation and
possible related claims against the Group;

- Reviewed and approved the audit plan of
the Company’s external auditor, including
the nature and scope of audit, remuneration
and terms of engagement in respect of the
audit on the financial statements for the
FY2022; and
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B. Board Committees (continued)
B4. Audit Committee (continued)

- Reviewed the arrangements for employees
of the Group to raise concerns about
possible improprieties in the Group's
financial reporting, internal control or other
matters and the investigation process on the
reported cases.

The external auditor has attended the above three
meetings and discussed with the Audit Committee
members on issues arising from the audit and
financial reporting matters. Besides, there is no

TEERER @)

B. EE2ZE€ (@)
B4. BERXZEEE (@)

- EHMTrEEEEHLE
B s RE - AEBEEIESK
EMEREARFELTE
TARIEBINZH R
FRBREBANAER

e

SN EMELE Pl =K
E Iﬁ%ﬁéégﬁéﬁﬁﬁ
BEZLVERESE ;
AN EE G EE é%%%%

i}
3
f*m”ﬁ

disagreement between the Board and the Audit FHINEZEMBEE R 1F-
Committee regarding the appointment of external
auditor.
B5. Corporate Governance Committee B5. tE¥EREESE
The members of the Corporate Governance RZZEZ_FUHBFEREE
Committee during the FY2022 and up to the date THRERH rEEREER Y
of this report were as follows: KRBT
Executive Director: HITEE
Mr. Huang Yifeng (Chairman) BRERE (FE)
Independent non-executive Directors: BUHBITEE:
Mr. Li Donghui FRELAE
Mr. Xu Junmin HERESE
Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John fE R R A
“ToFR EBRERREHREEMEBERAG
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(continued)

B. Board Committees (continued)
B5. Corporate Governance Committee (continued)

The Corporate Governance Committee is
responsible for performing the corporate
governance functions of the Group, including
developing and reviewing the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance and
making recommendations to the Board; reviewing
and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management; reviewing and monitoring the
Company's policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements;
developing, reviewing and monitoring the
Securities Dealing Code; and reviewing the
Company’'s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.
The Corporate Governance Committee is also
responsible for reviewing the Group's process of
disclosure, including assessing and verifying the
accuracy and materiality of inside information and
determining the form and content of any required
disclosure; and reviewing and monitoring the
effectiveness of the shareholders’ communication
policy adopted by the Company.

During the FY2022, the Corporate Governance
Committee has held one meeting (the attendance
records of each Committee member are set out
in section A6 above). The Corporate Governance
Committee performed the following major works
during the year:

- Reviewed the policies and practices on
corporate governance of the Group and
make recommendations to the Board;

- Reviewed the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and
senior management;

- Reviewed the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements;

- Reviewed the compliance of the Securities
Dealing Code and CG Code;
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(continued)

B. Board Committees (continued)
B5. Corporate Governance Committee (continued)

- Reviewed the Company’s compliance
with the CG Code and disclosure in the
Corporate Governance Report;

- Reviewed the Group’s process of disclosure,
including assessing and verifying the
accuracy and materiality of inside
information and determined the form and
content of certain required disclosures; and

- Reviewed the effectiveness of the
shareholders’ communication policy.

C. Directors’ Responsibilities for Financial
Reporting in Respect of the Financial
Statements

The Directors have acknowledged their responsibilities
for preparing the financial statements of the Company
for the FY2022.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced,
clear and understandable assessment of annual and
interim reports, inside information announcements
and other disclosures required under the Listing Rules
and other regulatory requirements. Management has
provided such explanation and information to the Board
as necessary to enable the Board to make an informed
assessment of the financial information and position of
the Group put forward to the Board for approval.

There are no material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
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D.

88

Risk Management and Internal Controls

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the
risk management including the risks related to
environmental, social and governance and internal
control systems of the Group and reviewing their
effectiveness. Such systems are designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating
and determining the nature and extent of the risks it
is willing to take in achieving the Company’s strategic
objectives, and establishing and maintaining appropriate
and effective risk management and internal control
systems. The Audit Committee assists the Board in
leading management and overseeing their design,
implementation and monitoring of the risk management
and internal control systems. The Board reviews the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems as well as the internal audit function
of the Company on an annual basis through the Audit
Committee.

The Company has developed and adopted various risk
management procedures and guidelines with defined
authority for implementation by key business processes
and office functions, including air freight, sea freight,
trade lane, corporate management, human resources,
finance and information technology. Self-evaluation
has been conducted annually to confirm that control
policies are properly complied with by each department.
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D.

Risk Management and Internal Controls
(continued)

All departments conducted internal control assessment
regularly to identify risks that potentially impact the
business of the Group and various aspects including
key operational and financial processes, regulatory
compliance and information security. Management,
in coordination with department heads, assesses
the likelihood of risk occurrence, provides treatment
plans, and monitors the risk management progress.
Management has reported to the Board and the Audit
Committee on the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems for the FY2022.

The Company has engaged an external professional firm
for providing the internal audit function and performing
independent review of the adequacy and effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems.
The internal audit function examined key issues in
relation to the accounting practices and all material
controls and provided its findings and recommendations
for improvement to the Audit Committee.

During the FY2022, the Board, as supported by
the Audit Committee as well as the report from
management and the internal audit findings, reviewed
the effectiveness of the Group's risk management
and internal control systems, including the financial,
operational and compliance controls, and considered
that such systems are effective and adequate.

The Company has developed a policy for handling and
dissemination of inside information. The policy provides
a general guide to the Company’s Directors, officers and
relevant employees in handling confidential information
and monitoring information disclosure.
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E.

90

Company Secretary

The Company Secretary is Ms. Wong Pui Wah, who
fulfils the qualification requirements laid down in the
Listing Rules. Biographical details of Ms. Wong Pui
Wah are set out in the section headed “Biographies
of Directors and Senior Management” of this report.
During the FY2022, Ms. Wong has taken not less than
15 hours of relevant professional training.

External Auditor and Auditor's Remuneration

The statement of the external auditor of the Company
about their reporting responsibilities on the Company's
financial statements for the FY2022 is set out in the
section headed “Independent Auditor’s Report” in this
report.

The fees paid/payable to KPMG, the Company’s auditor,
and to auditors other than KPMG for the Company's
subsidiaries, in respect of audit services and non-audit
services for the FY2022 are analysed below:

TEERER @)

m

DRWE

REWMEAERNEL L HFAE LT
BMAFMES ZEFER T - EaWMELLTH
EREFEHNARES EERDRE
BEZERE| —f R =__F8
BEERN BXTRL2EFRPR+H
IR AR B E T

S A BET K BB B &

ARBIEZBEMERERARR =
T _FPBRFERBERENBERE
EBRFERNARE (B ZBENRE ]

— e

M_E__FHRFENZERE X
FRHREMEN, BN AR ALK
METE A EBHTARARNR RN
BARIBRESESFEEBAT A

Type of services provided
by the external auditor

Audit services — audit fee to KPMG
for the Company and subsidiaries
for the FY2022

Audit services — audit fee to auditors
other than KPMG for the
Company’s subsidiaries for the FY2022

Non-audit services by KPMG

— review of interim results for
the six months ended 30 June 2022

— review of continuing connected
transactions for the FY2022

— review of annual results announcement
for the FY2022

TOTAL:

BEMNE RO

Fees paid/payable

SMEZEEREHNREER e/ EAEA
HK$
BT
BHRE — — S _FHHBEE 2,624,000
KAREKB RGN F
EFERGMEBKAZ
ZEE R
BERE - — S —FREE
AKABIMBE AR T
BESR DA EE
LASNEY AZ BRED 2 2 BB 3,831,000
EFERGTMERAHN
I BRS
—BHHE_ZT-__FA
—t+HWLNERZhEEE 600,000
BT - —FEMREEY
BEBER S 31,000
BT —FREEY
FEEERNE 24,000
et 7,110,000
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G.

Communications with Shareholders and
Investors

The Company believes that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations
and investors’ understanding of the Group’s business
performance and strategies. The Group also recognizes
the importance of transparent and timely disclosure of
corporate information, which enables Shareholders and
investors to make the best investment decision.

The Company has in place a shareholders’ communication
policy to ensure that Shareholders’ views and concerns
are appropriately addressed. The policy is regularly
reviewed to ensure its effectiveness. During the FY2022,
the Company has reviewed and considered that the
shareholders’ communication policy was effectively
implemented with the below measures in place.

The Company maintains a website at www.ytoglobal.com
as a communication platform with its Shareholders
and investors, where information and updates on the
Company’s business developments and operations
and other information are available for public access.
Shareholders and investors of the Company may send
written enquiries or requests to the Company via the
following contact details:

Attention: Company Secretary

Address: Suite 2208, 22nd Floor, Office Tower, Skyline
Tower, 39 Wang Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay,
Hong Kong

Email: tiffany.wong@chg.ontime-express.com

Tel: (852) 2998 4626

Fax: (852) 3586 7681

Enquiries and requests will be dealt with by the
Company in an informative and timely manner.

Besides, Shareholders’ meetings provide an opportunity
for communication between the Board and the
Shareholders. Board members and senior staff will be
available to answer questions raised by the Shareholders
at general meetings of the Company. In addition, the
Company will invite representatives of the auditor to
attend its AGM to answer Shareholders’ questions
about the conduct of the audit, the preparation and
content of the auditor's report, the accounting policies
and auditor independence, if any.
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H.

92

Shareholders’ Rights

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a
separate resolution is proposed for each substantially
separate issue at general meetings, including the
election of individual Directors. All resolutions put
forward at Shareholders’ meetings will be voted by
poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results
will be posted on the websites of the Company
“www.ytoglobal.com” and the Stock Exchange after
each Shareholders’ meeting.

Pursuant to the Articles, any one or more Shareholders
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall have the right, by written requisition
to the Board or the Company Secretary, to require an
extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board
for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within
21 days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as
a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed
to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

There is no provision allowing Shareholders to move
new resolutions at general meetings under the Cayman
Islands Companies Act (As Revised) or the Articles.
Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may
request the Company to convene a general meeting
following the procedures set out in the preceding
paragraph.

With respect to the Shareholders’ right in proposing
persons for election as Directors, please refer to the
procedures available on the website of the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EERERRSE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

(continued)

Constitutional Documents

During the FY2022, the Company has amended the
Articles to (i) allow a general meeting to be held as an
electronic meeting (also referred to as virtual general
meeting) or a hybrid meeting; (ii) bring the Articles
in line with amendments made to Listing Rules and
applicable laws and procedures of the Cayman Islands;
(iii) make certain minor housekeeping amendments
to the Memorandum and Articles for the purpose of
reflecting the current registered office of the Company
in the Memorandum, clarifying existing practice and
making consequential amendments in line with the
amendments to the Articles of Association; and (iv)
reflect the change of company name of the Company.

Details of the amendments were set out in the
Company’s circulars to Shareholders dated 29 April
2022 and 2 November 2022. An up-to-date version of
the Articles is available on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange. Shareholders may refer to the
Articles for further details of the rights of Shareholders.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B M % AN

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF YTO INTERNATIONAL
EXPRESS AND SUPPLY CHAIN TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of YTO
International Express and Supply Chain Technology Limited
(“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) set
out on pages 100 to 252, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2022 and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs"”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”) together with any ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements
in the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT -
B A B RS Q@

KEY AUDIT MATTER HEETEE

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional REETEIE BIRE RZHEMITH R EH
judgement, was of most significance in our audit of the I RABWANHELEAMBEHRERNET &
consolidated financial statements of the current period. This /A E B E1E - 3% F 18 1 A% 8 A0 17 28 51
matter was addressed in the context of our audit of the BEGSABBHRAMHAZSEREE M
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming AT TEHZEHEHBINER -
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate

opinion on this matter.

Expected credit loss allowance for trade receivables

BEZRURENEMCEEBERE

Refer to note 40(b)(ii) to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on pages 135 to 141.
A2HEA M BRRME400))RFI135Z14 BN GTHEK -

The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our
audit
HRETEE AREMTHETNNEEERERE

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s gross trade receivables  Our audit procedures to assess the expected
amounted to HK$806 million, against which an allowance for  credit loss allowance for trade receivables
expected credit losses of HK$17 million was recorded. included the following:
RZB-_ZF+-A=+—H  EEENEFREKRFEL FIRBMTHESEERENTEHREEBR
BERBOCAEBA L MEFLEHEEEEREEI7TEEET BEETIMZEFEFREATAR:

The Group measures expected credit loss of trade receivables e obtaining an understanding of and
at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit loss, by assessing the design, implementation
applying estimated loss rates on trade receivables grouped and operating effectiveness of key
according to their shared credit risk characteristics. internal controls relating to credit
Management assesses the expected credit loss allowance control and estimation of expected
for possible credit-impaired trade receivables individually credit losses;

based on observable data about occurrence of events that TRIYFHEEEZRHREREEER
have a detrimental impact on the estimated cash flows from 1B FH AR B A B B A BRI e R AT
the trade receivables. For the remaining balance of trade B RBRERRIE:

receivables, the expected credit loss allowance is assessed
collectively using the provision matrix. The estimated loss

evaluating the Group’s policy for

rates in the provision matrix take into account the ageing estimating the credit loss allowance
of trade receivable balances, the repayment history of the with reference to the requirements of
Group's customers, current market conditions, and forward- the prevailing accounting standard;
looking information. . 2RBTEFENER FH &
EEEREBEARBARAGERRFEETIENESE I Bt EREERERBENRE:

RENGEGFEER REMEREEEERSNESRIE
BIRUREANFEREERR - BEEREEAELHES

assessing whether items in the trade

BRRIBEREENEAHRERERGTINZENEHHATE receivables ageing reports were
R BERTHLRATENEERENE ZERFIENTE categorised in the appropriate ageing
HEERERE -HEIREFENSRTESRMN S EHREE brackets by testing the completeness
EEBREBFERABERES —TH BEEEOMETBEXE and accuracy of the ageing reports
REZERUFBEHKNER E5EEFEPMNERTHE B generated by the financial reporting
TR MATEMEER - system; and

o EBAAMBEME R LEKMNRE R
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B 3 % BT R

KEY AUDIT MATTER (continued)
The Key Audit Matter
BARENSEE

We identified the expected credit loss allowance for trade
receivables as a key audit matter because determining the
level of the loss allowance requires the exercise of significant
management judgement and estimation which are inherently
subjective.
AZHMITHESRURBNFEREEERRERR AR
B RR DHRETERBEKTIEREREELERA
b N (b Et - MABAHES R AE LBEH-

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
AUDITOR'S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all the information included
in the annual report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

HREETEE (®

How the matter was addressed in our
audit
AZEMTHETNNEEEREE

o assessing the appropriateness
of management’s estimates of
expected credit loss by examining the
information used by management
to derive such estimates, including
identification of possible credit
impaired trade receivables,
segmentation of trade receivables,
testing the accuracy of the historical
credit loss data, and evaluating
whether the historical loss rates have
reflected current economic conditions
and forward-looking information.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B 3 % BT R

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our
opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is
not guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B 3 % BT R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

98

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B 3 % BT R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence and communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence and, where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Lee Ka Nang.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

31 March 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
REEFSR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
BHE-_Z-_—#+-_A=+—RHILtEE

2022 2021
—=E—= T —4F
Notes HK$'000 HK$ 000
i aF FET FAET
Revenue W #5 5 6 6,706,450 7,556,427
Cost of sales k=D (6,163,136) (6,763,586)
Gross profit EH 543,314 792,841
Other income E A 7 18,288 17,124
Administrative expenses THBAX (418,318) (460,248)
Net impairment loss (recognised) reversed FEEAZ & & EBEL T
under expected credit loss model (HEREY) B @ HY
B EEFRE 11 (8,440) 49
Impairment loss on goodwill EEBEEE 18 — (15,632)
Impairment loss on intangible assets BVEERERE 19 - (464)
Other gains or losses B S EE 8 15,006 (6,644)
Share of results of associates il h/N 708 34
Share of results of joint ventures BheaghEES (7,204) 1,035
Finance costs B & AR 9 (2,577) (4,171)
Profit before taxation B 4 Al g 140,777 323,924
Income tax expense 8 i 70 (968) (45,681)
Profit for the year F R M 11 139,809 278,243
Profit for the year attributable to: AT FIBEEFEARAM :
Equity shareholders of the Company PN/NI R g 136,744 273,377
Non-controlling interests JEFE R = 3,065 4,866
139,809 278,243

Earnings per share (Hong Kong cents) BRERM CGBL)
Basic BN 14 32.71 65.76

Diluted g 14 32.71 65.47

The notes on pages 109 to 252 form part of these H109E252E MM B ZEHTHHRED
financial statements. Details of dividends payable to equity — 8% & B A% F FE 15 B A QB
shareholders of the Company attributable to the profit for the A% A% B0 sF IS &AM 5E13 o

year are set out in note 13.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSI o
GEEBRAMGEZERER gl -

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
BE T - F#+-_A=+—HItFE

2022 2021
—E-_ —F=4
Notes HK$'000 HK$°000
Mt it FET FET
Profit for the year A& 139,809 278,243
Other comprehensive income ENE g
for the year (after tax and (FEMBRTIIE R
reclassification adjustments) E%ﬁ’“*ﬁuﬂ”fﬁ)
Items that will not be reclassified to BT EEF S
profit or loss Az A9E 5
(Deficit) surplus on revaluation of HETHREFEM
leasehold land and buildings (4L B8 (623) 741
Deferred tax arising on revaluation of HETHREFERES
leasehold land and buildings B I AE 7% I8 36 288 (38)
Items that may be reclassified subsequently B 1% 7] £ & E # 7 52
to profit or loss 1Az A9IE B
Share of other comprehensive income of — JE{h B & A B E fh 2 A&
associates (515) (36)
Share of other comprehensive income of EHAZCEHME2ME U
joint ventures (920) (749)
Exchange difference arising from TFONETSE A WIE K AR
foreign operations (39,995) (16,165)
Reclassification adjustment upon disposal W H & — KK B RAFEH
of a subsidiary B OHEAE 38(c) 17,689 -
Other comprehensive income for the year 4 A £ b 2 U (24,076) (16,247)
Total comprehensive income for the year F A2 HEWA BT 115,733 261,996
Attributable to: AT F IR -
Equity shareholders of the Company NN ﬂﬁ%ﬁ&ﬂx% 113,206 258,209
Non-controlling interests FE 2 A A o 2,527 3,787
Total comprehensive income for the year & A2 WS 425 115,733 261,996

The notes on pages 109 to 252 form part of these financial $109F252B WM ERZ S P B HREN
statements. — &7
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e B IR R

AT 31 DECEMBER 2022
RZE-_—_F+-_A=+—H

Non-current assets
Investment properties
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets

Goodwill

Intangible assets

Interests in associates
Interests in joint ventures
Deferred tax assets

Current assets

Trade receivables

Other receivables, deposits and
prepayments

Contract assets

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Debt investment at amortised cost

Amount due from immediate
holding company

Amounts due from joint ventures

Amounts due from associates

Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries

Prepaid tax

Pledged bank deposits

A fixed bank deposit with
maturity more than 3 months

Bank balances and cash

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables

Contract liabilities

Amounts due to associates
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries
Tax liabilities

Lease liabilities

Bank borrowings

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities
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Notes

Kt

15
16
17
18
19
20
21
36(b)

22

22
23

24
25

26
28
27
26
36(a)
29

29
30

31
32
27
26
36(a)

34

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FEIT
5,393 6,745
32,383 57,574
38,205 144,257
511 542

4,119 3,382
3,356 3,210
46,483 10,072
20,995 809
151,445 226,591
788,987 1,212,370
93,134 115,483
28,804 117,092
708 3,939

- 7,069

119 119
21,399 9,693
14,825 16,463
32,482 18,109
6,942 3,825
38,943 10,768
49,119 -
998,365 567,828
2,073,827 2,082,758
435,227 787,933
10,404 48,481
1,543 914
494,286 132,380
23,905 40,041
16,068 42,770

- 5,370

981,433 1,057,889
1,092,394 1,024,869
1,243,839 1,251,460
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e MBRRE

AT 31 DECEMBER 2022

R—E-_—_F+-_A=+—H

2022 2021
—=E—= —or a2
Notes HK$'000 HK$°000
i aF FET FAET

Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Other payables E 4th jE {4 08 31 2,237 3,318
Lease liabilities HEBE 33 25,208 116,940
Deferred tax liabilities EXERIBEE 36(b) 5,983 14,666
33,428 134,924
1,210,411 1,116,536

Capital and reserves EXREE
Share capital fi& 2 37 42,019 42,019
Reserves ] 1,157,878 1,060,246

Total equity attributable to RAFIERR R EGERS

equity shareholders of the Company B 1,199,897 1,102,265
Non-controlling interests FEVE AR M = 10,514 14,271
Total equity R R 1,210,411 1,116,536

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors BER-_ZE-_=—F=-A=+—HHREEGE

on 31 March 2023: K R RETIED -
Mr. Huang Yifeng Mr. Sun Jian
HRERE BRERE
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
BF BFE

The notes on pages 109 to 252 form part of these financial ~ 52 109%252 8 &) [ff &t 1% Ak 2% 5 M 5 # 3% &0
statements. — &
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

REEREHR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

HE_Z_—F#+_A=+—HLFE

At 1 January 2022

Profit for the year

(Deficit) surplus on revaluation of
leasehold land and buildings

Deferred tax arising on revaluation
of leasehold land and buildings

Share of other comprehensive
income of associates

Share of other comprehensive
income of joint ventures

Exchange difference arising from
foreign operations

Redlassification adjustment upon

disposal of a subsidiary (note 38c))

Total comprehensive income
for the year

Recognition of equity-settled
share-based payment (nofe 44)

Lapse of equity-settled share-based

payment

Disposal of a subsidiary (note 38(c))
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 38)

Dividends paid to shareholders
(note 13)

Dividends paid to non-controlling
interests

Transfer to statutory reserve

At 31 December 2022

104

#
BELERETER
(Bt B%
BETHRETERELY
BRHE
EEREANABZEYE

EEREtEEb2ENE
BARBELNENER

REE-ZHEATRY
SHARBE (Hi380)

EREENALE

BARREE 2R A

BRI (Hit)
RIENRREE IR A

AR
LE-FMBRA (HE380)
WEHEAR (M)
ARRERRE

(H#13)
AFEREREARS

BETERHRRE

WZZ--F+-A=+-H

Share
capital

B&
HKS000
iz

42,019

Share
premium
&b

b |
HKS000
FE7

441,102

Treasury
stock
E#
ki
HKS'000
iz

(6,563)

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
KNARBRAEL

Share Property
awards Translation  Statutory revaluation  Retained
reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits
&% %  ROZR EX HE ¥ RE
EL A L EL A ' Al
HKSO00  HKS000  HKSU00  HKSDOD  HKST00  HKS000  HKST000
z23 iz TEr 7 bz:23 FE7 A

Capital Special

Sub-total
Nt

HKS 000
bz:23

1,102,265
136,744

(623)
288
(515)
(920)
(39,457)

17,689

Non-
controlling
interests
FER

| &1

HKS 000
i

1%
3,065

Total

&t
HKS 000
FEr

1,116,536
139,809

(623)
288
(515)
(920)
(39,995)

17,689

2,958

(27.312)

3,17)
(1,207)

(1,900)

8,780

3.177)
1,751
(27312)

(1,900)

42,019

(22,681)  (295411) 9700 (51794 15915 13,03 956,942
- - - - - - 13674

- - - - - (623) -

- - - - - 28 -

- - - (515) - - -

- - - (520) - - -

- - - (39457) - - -

- - - 17,689 - - -

- - - BW) - (335) 136,744

- - 8,780 - - - -

- - (8,697) - - - 8697
2,046 - - - (8,338) - (13,708)
2,958 - = - = o o
; - - 5 a - (@)

- - - - (163) - 163
233 (295411) 9783 (74,997) 7414 12,701 1,061,526

YTO International Express and Supply Chain Technology Limited Annual Report 2022



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REERBER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
BHE_Z-_—F+_-_A=+—RHILtEE

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

ARARERREE
Share Property Non-
Share Share Treasury Capital Spedial awards  Translation  Statutory  revaluation  Retained controlling
capital  premium stock reserve Teserve reserve eserve Teserve feserve profits — Sub-total interests Total
Bt EE Fus B RhER EX EE WEER RE FER

ied #fE &b B B G B B i ) i 3 L
HKSO0  HKSUOD  HKSOO0  HKSOD0  HKSOO0  HKSUO0  HKSUOD  HKSOOD  HKSUOD  HKSOOD  HKSUOD  HKSUOD  HKSOOO
ér  TEr  FEr  TEr  TEr  TEr  TEr  TEr  TEr  TEr  TEr  TET  TEL

(Note 3716) (Note 37(¢))
(B) (Hi5109)

At 1 January 2021 R=F=-%-f-A 41,676 429,238 (6,563) (22,681)  (295411) 9,832 (35,923) 17,703 12333 707,199 857,403 7,734 865,137
Profit for the year ERif - = = = = = = = = 213317 213317 4,866 278243
Surplus on revaluation of leasehold ~ EE T REFERRS

and and buildings - - - - - 741 - ™
Deferred tax arising on revaluation ~ EE M REFEHELR

of leasehold land and buildings RERE - - - - - (38) - (38)
Share of other comprehensive EEBELTLBRERE

income of associates - - - (36) - (36) - (36)
Share of other comprehensive EhAEMEEM2ENG

income of joint ventures - - - (749) - (749) - (749)
Exchange difference arising from BIEBEENELEE

foreign operations - - - (15,086) - (15,086) (1,079) (16,165)
Total comprehensive income ERRANAEE

for the year = = = (15,871) 213317 258,209 3,787 261,99
Recognition of equity-settled BEAREEE 2R A

share-based payment (rote 44) EUNAR (i) - - 8,645 - - 8645 - 8,645
Issue of shares upon exercise of RAEHRBEEZIRAB

equity-settled share-based EROAFREORS

payment (note 37) (H37) ElE} 11,864 877 - - 3430 - 3430
Step acquisition of a subsidiary AERRE-HHERR - - - - - - 4515 4515
Dividends paid to shareholders ARFERRE

(note 13) (W 3) - - - - (25422) (542 - (54
Dividends paid to non-controlling AFERERRARS

interests - - - - - - - - - - - (1,765) (1,765)
Transfer to statutory reserve BREZETHE - - - - - - - (1,788) - 1,788 - - -
At 31 December 2021 RZB=-%+ZA=1-R 4,019 441,102 (6,563) (22,681)  (295411) 9,700 (51,794) 15915 13,036 956,942 1,102,265 1421 1,116,536

FI09E252E MM BARZEMEHREN

—#5

The notes on pages 109 to 252 form part of these financial
statements.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

RERTRER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

BE T - F#+-_A=+—HItFE

Operating activities
Profit before taxation
Adjustments for:
Interest revenue
Finance costs
Share of results of associates
Share of results of joint ventures
Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Amortisation of intangible assets
(Gain) loss on disposal of property, plant
and equipment
(Gain) loss on early termination of
lease contracts
Net impairment loss recognised
(reversed) under expected
credit loss model
Loss on remeasurement of
investment in an associate
Fair value changes of financial asset
at fair value through profit or loss
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary
Impairment loss on goodwill
Impairment loss on intangible assets
Equity-settled share-based payment

Fair value changes of investment
properties

Write back of long outstanding
payables

COVID-19 related rent concessions
received

Operating cash flows before movements
in working capital
Decrease (increase) in trade receivables
Decrease (increase) in contract assets
Decrease (increase) in other receivables,
deposits and prepayments
Decrease (increase) in amounts due
from joint ventures
Increase in amounts due
from associates
(Decrease) increase in trade and
other payables
(Decrease) increase in contract liabilities
Decrease in amounts due to associates
Increase in amounts due to
fellow subsidiaries

Cash generated from operations
Income taxes paid

Net cash from operating activities
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Notes

Kt

11
11

11

2T

2022 2021
TR F e
HK$'000 EEETSX0e
FET FET
140,777 323,924
(2,485) (870)
2,577 4,171
(708) (34)
7,204 (1,035)
9,964 11,238
34,216 38,858
1,794 4,443
(645) 1
(18) 123
8,440 (49)
- 7,693
11,553 (5,079)
(1,745)

- 15,632

- 464

8,780 8,645
785 49
(397) (118)
(396) (236)
219,696 407,820
365,922 (431,993)
88,288 (71,046)
13,826 (33,287)
15,606 (7,538)
(55) (4,566)
(303,817) 218,424
(38,077) 12,437
(114) (650)
391,343 77,835
752,618 167,436
(53,979) (14,924)
698,639 152,512
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

RERERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

HEZZ-_—_F+-_A=1+—RHLEFE

Investing activities
Interest received
Net cash inflow on step acquisition of
a subsidiary
Net cash inflow on acquisition of
subsidiaries
Net cash outflow on disposal of
a subsidiary
Purchase of property, plant and
equipment
Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Penalty from early
termination of lease contracts
Repayment from associates
(Advance to) repayment from
joint ventures
Advance to immediate holding company
Repayment from intermediate
holding company
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits
Placement of pledged bank deposits
Placement of a fixed bank deposit
with maturity more than 3 months
Advance to fellow subsidiaries
Net cash (outflow) inflow from financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss

Proceeds from debt investment
at amortised cost
Investment in debt investment
at amortised cost
Repayment from finance lease receivables

Capital injection to an associate

Net cash (used in) generated from
investing activities

2022 2021
—=E—= =28 = — 3
Notes HK$’000 HK$°000
ks FET FAET
BREEE
B F & 2,485 825
7 b BR U B — I B /B R 7

MIREmAFRE = 3,771
WEE B A TINIR S

MAEE 38 2,743 =
& — B A R 8

Re R F5E 38(c) (40,913) -
BEWE BELKH

(3,557) (13,951)
HEWE  BHEREED

FT 8 5018 1,142 183

RERIEHEESHER

(64) (119)
B & N BB K 312 929
(MAEELERR)

BETEER (36) 988
MEZEZER QG BR — (119)
PR R AR A B IR 5K

- 2
D EFRITER 1,064 -
FHREEBIRITEFR (30,413) (1,207)
FREIBABBE =AM

EHRITE K (49,446) -
BIGES I NGIE=E (43,984) -
BEAFEFABZED

SREENES ORD)

mAFERE (10,197) 1,327
R KA ER

BRI EMSHRIA 14,077 7,463
RENZE K A2/

BIEERE (7,071) (6,995)
REARMEHEEWZRIEN

B - 8,410
m—EBE QG TEE — (378)
RETE (FTA)BRS

HEE (163,858) 1,129

—E - F3R

BB B RE R R XA R AR
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
RERERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
HE—_ZE-_—_£+-_A=+—RIFE

2022 2021
—=E—= T —4F
Notes HK$'000 HK$°000
i aF FET FAET
Financing activities Rl E R E
(Decrease) increase in bank overdrafts RITES O )& (5,238) 4,327
(Repayment to) advance from (MEEREER)
joint ventures BEDERBR (959) 959
Advance from associates RN E=E 425 956
Advance from fellow subsidiaries GBI =INGIE-EN 564 580
Interests paid EHE (2,577) (4,171)
New bank loans obtained BEHBITER = 31,784
Repayment of bank loans BERTEXR = (31,784)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests [ FE 4% A% & 25 Ik 1< B 8. (1,900) (1,765)
Dividends paid to equity shareholders of @4 22 7] # %5 J& SR 1+ i% &
the company (27,312) (25,422)
Capital element of lease rentals paid BEfEe 2ERNILD (33,589) (46,887)
Proceeds from issuance of shares RITE AR EEE 2
upon exercise of equity-settled LARR 15 7 EE TR 69 11 3R
share-based payment BT BT RIR - 3,430
Net cash used in financing activities ®BEFTEFfFARESEE (70,586) (67,993)
Net increase in cash and ReRESEEYEMTER
cash equivalents 464,195 85,648
Cash and cash equivalents at FURERBESEEY
the beginning of the year 567,828 491,932
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes  YMEE R BB E (33,658) (9,752)
Cash and cash equivalents at theend FFREERRESZEY
of the year 998,365 567,828
Analysis of the balances of cashand BREeRRESEEYWERDIN
cash equivalents
Bank balances and cash RITHEBR LIRS 998,365 567,828

The notes on pages 109 to 252 form part of these financial

statements.

—#5
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEME

e PR R A

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

=
1.

—E- &+ HA=+—HItEE
GENERAL

YTO International Express and Supply Chain Technology
Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated and
registered as an exempted company with limited liability
under the Companies Law in the Cayman Islands on 6
March 2013 and its shares are listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) since 11 July 2014. The ultimate
holding company of the Company is Shanghai Yuantong
Jiaolong Investment Development (Group) Co., Ltd.,
a company incorporated in the PRC. The intermediate
holding company of the Company is YTO Express
Group Co., Ltd., a joint stock limited liability company
incorporated in the PRC with its shares listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange. The immediate holding
company of the Company is YTO Global Holdings
Limited, a limited liability company incorporated in
Hong Kong. The address of the registered office and
the principal place of business of the Company are
Second Floor, Century Yard, Cricket Square, P.O. Box 92,
Grand Cayman KY1-1103, Cayman Islands and Suite
2208, 22nd Floor, Office Tower, Skyline Tower, 39 Wang
Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay, Hong Kong respectively.

The Company acts as an investment holding company.
The principal activities of associates, joint ventures
and subsidiaries are set out in notes 20, 21 and 47
respectively.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollar (“HK$"), which is the same as the
functional currency of the Company.

—REH

ERBEEFEREREEMZERAQA
(IXRARVR=_TE—=F=AAH
THRSHSREBEARETMKLIRE
EAEREERAR ERMHMBE-ZE
—MWELtA+T-—HARBEBBERFHFT
BRAG ([BRZM])ER ET AR
Al Z AR A B AR H B MK
LA LBEBAREREER (58)
ERAF - AAAzHEERRAAR
RAEEGFEME L 2REEBERRAE
BRERNODBERAR - ERMHRK LEE
BERGMEM - ARAzHEEER
NARBREEBEIMKIZBERARE
BERERAR AR AR AWM
MERRETELEME MU DR A
Second Floor, Century Yard, Cricket
Square, P.O. Box 92, Grand Cayman
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R R M

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
B —&F+-_A=1+—HItEE

Bz

2.

110

BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a)

(b)

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which
collective term includes all applicable individual
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong
Kong and the applicable disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
These financial statements also comply with
the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Significant
accounting policies adopted by the Group are
disclosed in note 3.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to
HKFRSs that are first effective or available for
early adoption for the current accounting period
of the Group. Note 2(c) provides information on
any changes in accounting policies resulting from
initial application of these developments to the
extent that they are relevant to the Group for
the current accounting period reflected in these
financial statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2022 comprise the Company
and its subsidiaries (together referred to as “the
Group”) and the Group’'s interests in associates
and joint ventures.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for
investment properties, certain property, plant and
equipment and certain financial instruments that
are measured at fair values or revalued amounts
as explained in the accounting policies set out
below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value
of the consideration given in exchange for goods
and services.

2.

mREXE

(a)

(b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R R M
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
BE-_E-_—Ff+-A=+t—HILtEE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the financial
statements (continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date, regardless of whether
that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair
value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes
into account the characteristics of the asset or
liability if market participants would take those
characteristics into account when pricing the asset
or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in the
consolidated financial statements is determined
on such a basis, except for share-based payment
transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS
2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that
are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16
and measurements that have some similarities
to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in
use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset
takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in
its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair
value measurements are categorised into Level
1, 2 or 3 based on degree to which the inputs to
the fair value measurements are observable and
the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described
as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted
prices included within Level 1, that are
observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for
the asset or liability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R R M

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
B —&F+-_A=1+—HItEE

Bz

2.

112

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial

(c)

statements (continued)

The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires management
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income
and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience
and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of
which form the basis of making the judgements
about carrying values of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period
in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects
both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the
application of HKFRSs that have significant effect
on the financial statements and major sources of
estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 4.

Changes in accounting policies

The Group has applied the following amendments
to HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA to these financial
statements for the current accounting period:

° Amendments to HKAS 16, Property, plant
and equipment: Proceeds before intended
use

° Amendments to HKAS 37, Provisions,
contingent liabilities and contingent assets:
Onerous contracts — cost of fulfilling a
contract

None of these developments have had a material
effect on how the Group’s results and financial
position for the current or prior periods have been
prepared or presented.

The Group has not applied any new standard
or interpretation that is not yet effective for the
current accounting period.
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3.

—E-_—_F+-A=t+—HLEFE
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEETHEXE
The principal accounting policies are set out below. EEETHEHINMAT o
Basis of consolidation mEeER%E
The consolidated financial statements incorporate FEUBRERBEERARARZARD
the financial statements of the Company and entities K E B A ElE %UEI’]E;‘%;EI’JEH%#EE%
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control EARRANBFEUTEE 818 AE
is achieved when the Company: 15 12 il 1 -
o has power over the investee; . HREHRITEES
o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from D 2 /\Txﬁﬁ%miﬁ%ﬁ% =B
its involvement with the investee; and BRG] EER: &
. has the ability to use its power to affect its . BIEENFEERBRNEET -
returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an WA EERIBEAE R Ll =BT &6
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there AWM —HEHNEZEHRE AREER
are changes to one or more of the three elements of HEFIHESSEFREHR -
control listed above.
Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company RN A EUAS BB A R IR R B 4R 4R
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the ERBRAR YRARBREWBE A
Company loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, ARSI EREIE-BBmE RNF
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or Wﬂﬁlﬁ%tﬁ’ifﬁ%’&ﬂ WARMAX
disposed of during the year are included in the EHARAGNEESEEAEEZELR
consolidated statement of profit or loss from the date AIREMBARIESEE Bt AZSE
the Company gains control until the date when the Bamike
Company ceases to control the subsidiary.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling interest. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that
do not result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions.
The carrying amounts of the Group’s relevant
components of equity and the non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative
interests in the subsidiaries, including re-attribution
of relevant reserves between the Group and the non-
controlling interests according to the Group's and the
non-controlling interests’ proportionate interests. Any
difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of
the consideration paid or received is recognised directly
in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the
assets and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-
controlling interests (if any) are derecognised. A gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated
as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the
fair value of the consideration received and the fair
value of any retained interest and (ii) the carrying
amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities
of the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the
Company. All amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary
are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e.
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another
category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable
HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained
in the former subsidiary at the date when control is
lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition
for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9 or, when
applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or a joint venture.

FESTBE @)

\RAMBRRANERRE

L4

&
i
AEEBRMBARNEEEE M
BERAEEREZSHEBRRNE
wE RSP URERH AR
7N £ [ 4 2n B9 AE BE AR AX BP0 B JR FE R
BEOREED T AFE  ARBRKE
ERMBELARAMAEEZES B
RIR AN B K IR IR i an iR L ) D 16
Z M a5 i BT 5 B AN S B K SRR A AR
B BB G FFIERRRESR
AR EREENAEBRERF
BEME&E BN EZRE HERN DR
RUABEBRARNRBEAA

e

fieh 75 £2 [ 5k 25 — S B /BB 22 A B9 22 1 4 -
ZMBARMEE KRB E RIFERE
@ (WA ) GBUEER - Wk BEAE
BEmER YR TIMENEZEAT
(e WELR B 0 R F 3 B R B
SMAFELABERNEENKREE
(BRBE)LEBRARAEEG AN
MEAREE BEMRZHERAR
Hitp 2R A BRI 2SR 58
MASEBEEER L EZWE QR HE
BEXRBBEAR(MREBEEYE
WMEEMBRE  FRAEFTHBERE
SXERES - HRER) REE
7B B 7% B RIS 95k - Ak A PRI
ER RAMBARRENEIAKE
DN EERAREFEERQFEY
FHER H(WER)RER — K&
RAIKEERENTTHBEA

TECFHR BEBRRBREHEEMKARAR 115




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Bz

116

—E - HE+ - A=1+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses, other than business
combination under common control, are accounted
for using the acquisition method. The consideration
transferred in a business combination is measured at fair
value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-
date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners
of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree.
Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair
value, except that:

. deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets
or liabilities related to employee benefit
arrangements are recognised and measured in
accordance with HKAS 12 “Income Taxes” and
HKAS 19 “Employee Benefits” respectively;

° liabilities or equity instruments related to share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree or
share-based payment arrangements of the Group
entered into to replace share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree are measured in
accordance with HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”
at the acquisition date (see the accounting policy
below);

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as
held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations” are measured in accordance with that
standard; and

° lease liabilities are recognised and measured at
the present value of the remaining lease payments
(as defined in HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases
were new leases at the acquisition date, except
for leases for which (a) the lease term ends
within 12 months of the acquisition date; or (b)
the underlying asset is of low value. Right-of-use
assets are recognised and measured at the same
amount as the relevant lease liabilities, adjusted
to reflect favourable or unfavourable terms of the
lease when compared with market terms.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Business combinations (continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value
of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree (if any) over the net amount of the identifiable
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as at the
acquisition date. If after reassessment, the net amount
of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum
of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair
value of the acquirer's previously held interest in the
acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in
profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the entity's net assets in the event of
liquidation may be initially measured either at fair value
or at the noncontrolling interests’ proportionate share
of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on
a transaction-by-transaction basis.

When the consideration transferred by the Group
in a business combination includes a contingent
consideration arrangement, the contingent
consideration is measured at its acquisition-date
fair value and included as part of the consideration
transferred in a business combination. Changes in the
fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify
as measurement period adjustments are adjusted
retrospectively. Measurement period adjustments are
adjustments that arise from additional information
obtained during the “measurement period” (which
cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date)
about facts and circumstances that existed at the
acquisition date.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Business combinations (continued)

The subsequent accounting for the contingent
consideration that do not qualify as measurement
period adjustments depends on how the contingent
consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent
reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration
that is classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured
to fair value at subsequent reporting dates, with the
corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or
loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group's previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the
date when the Group obtains control), and the resulting
gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss or
other comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts
arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the
acquisition date that have previously been recognised
in other comprehensive income and measured under
HKFRS 9 would be accounted for on the same basis as
would be required if the Group had disposed of directly
of the previously held equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which
the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional
amounts for the items for which the accounting is
incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
retrospectively during the measurement period
(see above), and additional assets or liabilities are
recognised, to reflect new information obtained about
facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition
date that, if known, would have affected the amounts
recognised at that date.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is
carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition
of the business less any accumulated impairment losses,
if any, and is presented separately in the consolidated
statement of financial position. For the purposes of
impairment testing, goodwill arising from an acquisition
is allocated to each of the relevant cash-generating units
(or groups of cash-generating units) that are expected
to benefit from the synergies of the acquisition, which
represent the lowest level at which the goodwill is
monitored for internal management purposes and not
larger than an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment annually or more frequently when
there is indication that the unit may be impaired. For
goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period,
the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment before the end of that reporting period. If
the recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount,
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill and then to the other
assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount
of each asset in the unit (or group of cash-generating
units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit,
the attributable amount of goodwill is included in
the determination of the amount of profit or loss on
disposal. When the Group disposes of an operation
within the cash-generating unit, the amount of goodwill
disposed of is measured on the basis of the relative
values of the operation disposed of and the portion of
the cash-generating unit retained.

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the
acquisition of an associate and a joint venture is
described below.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Interests in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee but is not control or joint
control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have
rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint
control is the contractually agreed sharing of control
of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions
about the relevant activities require unanimous consent
of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates or
joint ventures are incorporated in the consolidated
financial statements using the equity method of
accounting. The financial statements of associates and
joint ventures used for equity accounting purposes are
prepared using uniform accounting policies as those
of the Group for like transactions and events in similar
circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment
in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position at cost
and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share
of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of
the associate or joint venture. Changes in net assets of
the associate or joint venture other than profit or loss
and other comprehensive income are not accounted for
unless such changes resulted in changes in ownership
interest held by the Group. When the Group’s share
of losses of an associate or a joint venture exceeds
its interest in that associate or joint venture (which
included any long-term interest that, in substance, form
part of the Group's net investment in the associate or
joint venture), the Group discontinues recognising its
share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised
only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of
the associate or joint venture.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Interests in associates and joint ventures
(continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is
accounted for using the equity method from the
date on which the investee becomes an associate or
a joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in
associates or a joint venture, any excess of the cost of
the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair
value of identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee
is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the
carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after assessment, is recognised immediately in profit or
loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate or a joint
venture may be impaired. When any objective
evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment
in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by
comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in
use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying
amount. Any impairment loss recognised is not allowed
to any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of
the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of
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that impairment loss is recognised in accordance HKAS R EMAIR S 2 EEE D] TEmMo
36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Interests in associates and joint ventures
(continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant influence
over an associate or joint control over a joint venture,
it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest
in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. When the Group retains
an interest in the former associate or joint venture
and the retained interest is a financial asset within the
scope of HKFRS 9, the Group measures the retained
interest at fair value at that date and the fair value
is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition.
The difference between the carrying amount of the
associate or joint venture and the fair value of any
retained interest and any proceeds from disposing of
the relevant interest in the associate or joint venture
is included in the determination of the gain or loss
on disposal of the associate or joint venture. In
addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation
to that associate or joint venture on the same basis
as would be required if that associate or joint venture
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in
other comprehensive income by that associate or joint
venture would be reclassified to profit or loss on the
disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group
reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss
(as a reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial
disposal of the relevant associate or joint venture.

The Group continues to use the equity method when
an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or an investment in a joint venture
becomes an investment in an associate. There is no
remeasurement to fair value upon such changes in
ownership interests.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Interests in associates and joint ventures
(continued)

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an
associate or a joint venture but the Group continues
to use the equity method, the Group reclassifies to
profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss that
had previously been recognised in other comprehensive
income relating to that reduction in ownership interest
if that gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss
on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate
or a joint venture, profits and losses resulting from
the transactions with the associate or joint venture
are recognised in the Group’ consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of interests in the
associate or joint venture that are not related to the
Group.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service
(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a
series of distinct goods or services that are substantially
the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

o the Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct good
or service.

A contract asset represents the Group's right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not
yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in
accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group's unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the
same contract are accounted for and presented on a net
basis.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement
of progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on output
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis
of direct measurements of the value of the goods or
services transferred to the customer to date relative to
the remaining goods or services promised under the
contract, that best depict the Group’s performance in
transferring control of goods or services.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or
services to a customer, the Group determines whether
the nature of its promise is a performance obligation
to provide the specified goods or services itself (i.e.
the Group is a principal) or to arrange for those goods
or services to be provided by the other party (i.e. the
Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good
or service before that good or service is transferred to
a customer. The Group is an agent if its performance
obligation is to arrange for the provision of the
specified good or service by another party. In this case,
the Group does not control the specified good or
service provided by another party before that good or
service is transferred to the customer. When the Group
acts as an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount of
any fee or commission to which it expects to be entitled
in exchange for arranging for the specified goods or
services to be provided by the other party.

Except for management fee and information technology
("IT") service fee income, all revenue are derived from
the Group's ordinary course of business. Management
fee and IT service fee income are recognised over time
by the Group's performance as the Group performs and
included in other income.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses if any.

Ownership interests in leasehold land and
building

When the Group makes payments for ownership
interests of properties which includes both leasehold
land and building elements, the entire consideration is
allocated between the leasehold land and the building
elements in proportion to the relative fair values at
initial recognition.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Ownership interests in leasehold land and
building (continued)

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments
can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land that
is accounted for as an operating lease is presented as
“right-of-use assets” in the consolidated statement of
financial position except for those that are classified
and accounted for as investment properties under the
fair value model. When the consideration cannot be
allocated reliably between non-lease building element
and undivided interest in the underlying leasehold land,
the entire properties are classified as property, plant and
equipment.

Leasehold land and buildings held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes, are stated in the consolidated
financial statements at their fair value at the date
of revaluation less any subsequent accumulated
depreciation and any subsequent accumulated
impairment losses. Revaluations are performed with
sufficient regularity such that the carrying amount
does not differ materially from that which would be
determined using fair value at the end of the reporting
period.

Any revaluation increase arising on the revaluation of
leasehold land and buildings is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the property
revaluation reserve, except to the extent that it reverses
a revaluation decrease of the same asset previously
recognised in profit or loss, in which case the increase
is credited to profit or loss to the extent of the decrease
previously charged. A decrease in net carrying amount
arising on revaluation of such leasehold land and
buildings is recognised in profit or loss to the extent
that it exceeds the balance, if any, on the property
revaluation reserve relating to a previous revaluation of
that asset. Depreciation on revalued land and building
is recognised in profit or loss. On the subsequent sale
or retirement of a revalued asset, the attributable
revaluation surplus is transferred to retained profits.

FESTBE @)

REETHRETHEAERES
(&)

#H B8 SR IE B 4 AT 5 b 0 BC Ay 0 ABR S
EREHECHEL W BRENES
MBEARARANEIN R [EREEE]
HRBEAFEEANDERARIER
EMEERIN -EREEEZERBR
ST W IFEER TR KoARD I #
B HAAESIER BEVWEIRA
ME BE MR

FEEERHEE Y SRF HITHA
sMHEE L RBFHUREMBH
H) X B R fo] B 1% R AT B R A
HERZMEBRIK - EETNUE
ME R EMET UBRNERESHRK
HEAESRKAATEEENEET
GHRERER-

TREEL M EBFELREENER
BEREME2EKRARER XRY
XEMGBERNRT HELDR—EE
BAESRBZERNEHBREBRR
Brobe FEUBERT  ARIBEAFT A
B A B ENR A REE SR -
EREREEL W EBTFEENERE
FERIENBEER ELEBL
ZEEBEMEEGRNDEELFHB
BB (WE)RR -BEHLHRET
FERBRaBRB - ERILEXEM[E
ERERN BHEREKETERER

B 0t )

YTO International Express and Supply Chain Technology Limited Annual Report 2022



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Bz

—E - HE+ - A=1+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Ownership interests in leasehold land and
building (continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
or revalued amount of items of property, plant and
equipment less their residual values over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

Items may be produced while bringing an item of
property, plant and equipment to the location and
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating
in the manner intended by management. The proceeds
from selling any such items and the related costs are
recognised in profit or loss.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on
the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant
and equipment is determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset
and is recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment property is property held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are measured at their fair values using the fair value
model, adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued
operating lease income. Gains or losses arising from
changes in the fair value of investment property are
included in profit or loss for the period in which they
arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal
or when the investment property is permanently
withdrawn from use or no future economic benefits are
expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset) is included in the profit or loss in
the period in which the item is derecognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are
acquired separately are carried at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful
lives is recognised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and
amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

Internally-generated intangible assets

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from
development activities (or from the development phase
of an internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of
the following have been demonstrated:

o the technical feasibility of completing the
intangible asset so that it will be available for use
or sale;

o the intention to complete the intangible asset and
use or sell it;

o the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

o how the intangible asset will generate probable

future economic benefits;

° the availability of adequate technical, financial
and other resources to complete the development
and to use or sell the intangible asset; and

° the ability to measure reliably the expenditure
attributable to the intangible asset during its
development.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Internally-generated intangible assets
(continued)

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated
intangible asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred
from the date when the intangible asset first meets
the recognition criteria listed above. Where no
internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised,
development expenditure is recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated
intangible assets are reported at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses (if
any), on the same basis as intangible assets that are
acquired separately.

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date
(which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets with
finite useful lives are carried at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful
lives is recognised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of
an intangible asset, measured as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset
is derecognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment losses on property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if
any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In addition, corporates assets are allocated to individual
cash generating units when a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent
allocation basis can be established. The Group assesses
whether there is indication that corporate assets may
be impaired. If such indication exists, the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit or
group of cash-generating units to which the corporate
asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying
amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or group
of cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) for which the estimates of future cash
flows have not been adjusted. A portion of the carrying
amount of a corporate asset is allocated to an individual
cash-generating unit if the allocation can be done on
a reasonable and consistent basis, or to the smallest
group of cash-generating units if otherwise.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment losses on property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets (continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or
a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group
compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-
generating units, including the carrying amounts of
the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
allocated to that group of cash-generating units, with
the recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating
units. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit or the group of cash-generating units. The carrying
amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of
its fair value less costs of disposal, its value in use and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of
cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit
or a group of cash-generation units) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or
a cash generating unit or a group of cash-generation
units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised as income immediately.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way
purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL") are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial
liability and of allocating interest revenue and interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts and payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life
of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash
flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured
at FVTPL, except that at the date of initial application
of HKFRS 9/initial recognition of a financial asset the
Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income if that equity investment is
neither held for trading nor contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to
which HKFRS 3 “Business Combinations” applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern
of short-term profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that are required to be measured at
the amortised cost as measured at FVTPL if doing
so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (continued)

(i)

(i)

Amortised cost and interest revenue

Interest revenue is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest revenue
is calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired (see below). For financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest revenue is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the
amortised cost of the financial asset from the next
reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-
impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired,
interest revenue is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination that
the asset is no longer credit impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost are measured
at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period, with
any fair value gains or losses recognised in profit
or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit
or loss includes any dividend or interest earned on
the financial asset and is included in the “other
gains or losses” line item.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss ("ECL"”) model on financial assets
(including trade receivables, other receivables, rental
deposits, debt investment at amortised cost, amounts
due from immediate holding company, joint ventures,
associates, a related company and fellow subsidiaries,
pledged bank deposits and bank balances) and other
items (contract assets) which are subject to impairment
under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of
the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
("12m ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessments are done based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for contract
assets, trade receivables and trade balances due
from associates and joint ventures. To measure the
ECL, contract assets and trade receivables have been
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics
respectively. In addition, trade receivables and contract
assets with possible credit-impairment are assessed for
ECL individually. The ECL for trade balances due from
associates and joint ventures are assessed individually.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12 month ECL, unless there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, in which case, the Group recognises
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on significant increases in
the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that
is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument’s
external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

o existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of the
debtor; and

o an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit
risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that
the credit risk on a debt instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition
if the debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk
if (i) it has a low risk of default, (ii) the borrower
has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash
flow obligations in the near term and (iii) adverse
changes in economic and business conditions
in the longer term may, but will not necessarily,
reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its
contractual cash flow obligations.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk and
revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes
past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group,
in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion
is more appropriate.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial
asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial
asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic
or contractual reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that
the lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for
that financial asset because of financial
difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty
is in severe financial difficulty and there is no
realistic prospect of recovery, for example,
when the counterparty has been placed under
liguidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still
be subject to enforcement activities under the
Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off
constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent
recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

—E - HE+ - A=1+—HIFE

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that
is determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and
the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or
cater for cases where evidence at the individual
instrument level may not yet be available, the
financial instruments are grouped on the following
basis:

. Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the
Group's trade receivables and contract
assets are assessed as a separate group.
Other receivables, rental deposits, amounts
due from related parties, debt investment at
amortised cost, pledged bank deposits and
bank balance are assessed for ECL on an
individual basis);

. Past-due status;

o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

o External credit ratings where available.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure the constituents of
each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

Interest revenue is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit impaired, in which case
interest revenue is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or
loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments
by adjusting their carrying amount, with
the exception of trade receivables, contract
assets, amounts due from related parties and
debt investment at amortised cost where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a
loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained
interest in the asset and an associated liability for
amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains
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collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’'s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument
which the Group has elected on initial recognition to
measure at FVTOCI upon application of HKFRS 9, the
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the
investment revaluation reserve is not reclassified to
profit or loss, but is transferred to retained profits.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the
group entity are classified as either financial liabilities or
as equity instruments in accordance with the substance
of the contractual arrangements entered into and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued
by the Group are recorded at the proceeds received, net
of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments
is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase,
sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own equity
instruments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables,
loan from immediate holding company, amounts due to
fellow subsidiaries, associates and a related company
and bank borrowings) are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using effective interest method, unless
the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which
case they are stated at cost invoice amounts.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when
the financial liability is (i) held for trading; (ii) it is
designated as at FTVPL; or (iii) contingent consideration
that may be paid by an acquirer as part of a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 applies.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.

Provisions, contingent liabilities and onerous contracts
(i Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
legal or constructive obligation arising as a result
of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(continued)

Provisions, contingent liabilities and onerous contracts
(continued)

(i) Provisions and contingent liabilities (continued)

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the amount
cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is
disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
nonoccurrence of one or more future events are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to
settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed
by another party, a separate asset is recognised
for any expected reimbursement that would be
virtually certain. The amount recognised for the
reimbursement is limited to the carrying amount
of the provision.

(i) Onerous contracts

An onerous contract exists when the Group has
a contract under which the unavoidable costs of
meeting the obligations under the contract exceed
the economic benefits expected to be received
from the contract. Provisions for onerous contracts
are measured at the present value of the lower
of the expected cost of terminating the contract
and the net cost of fulfilling the contract. The
cost of fulfilling the contract includes both the
incremental costs of fulfilling that contract and
an allocation of other costs that relate directly to
fulfilling that contract.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions,
and short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition. Cash and cash
equivalents are assessed for expected credit losses (ECL).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset
which necessarily takes a substantial period of time to
get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as
part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost
of a qualifying asset commences when expenditure for
the asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being
incurred and activities that are necessary to prepare
the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress.
Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or ceases
when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are
interrupted or complete.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement
benefit plans are recognised as an expense when
employees have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered the services.
All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an
expense unless another HKFRSs require or permit the
inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave)
after deducting any amount already paid.

Equity-settled share-based payment
arrangements

Share award plan

For grants of share awards that are conditional upon
satisfying specified vesting conditions, the fair value of
service received is determined by reference to the fair
value of shares awards granted at the date of grant
and is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting
period, with a corresponding increase in equity (share
awards reserve).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment
arrangements (continued)

Share award plan (continued)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises
its estimates of the number of share awards that are
expected to ultimately vest. The impact of the revision
of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit
or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the
revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to
share awards reserve.

When share awards are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share awards reserve will be transferred
to share premium or treasury stock. When the share
awards are forfeited after the vesting date or are still
not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share awards reserve will be transferred to
retained profits.

Contract costs

Contract costs are either the incremental costs of
obtaining a contract with a customer or the costs
to fulfil a contract with a customer which are not
capitalised as property, plant and equipment or
intangible assets.

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those
costs that the Group incurs to obtain a contract with a
customer that it would not have incurred if the contract
had not been obtained e.g. an incremental sales
commission. Incremental costs of obtaining a contract
are capitalised when incurred if the costs relate to
revenue which will be recognised in a future reporting
period and the costs are expected to be recovered.
Other costs of obtaining a contract are expensed when
incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Contract costs (continued)

Costs to fulfil a contract are capitalised if the costs
relate directly to an existing contract or to a specifically
identifiable anticipated contract; generate or enhance
resources that will be used to provide goods or services
in the future; and are expected to be recovered. Costs
that relate directly to an existing contract or to a
specifically identifiable anticipated contract may include
direct labour, direct materials, allocations of costs, costs
that are explicitly chargeable to the customer and other
costs that are incurred only because the Group entered
into the contract (for example, payments to sub-
contractors). Other costs of fulfilling a contract, which
are not capitalised as property, plant and equipment or
intangible assets, are expensed as incurred.

Capitalised contract costs are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
Impairment losses are recognised to the extent that the
carrying amount of the contract cost asset exceeds the
net of (i) remaining amount of consideration that the
Group expects to receive in exchange for the goods or
services to which the asset relates, less (ii) any costs that
relate directly to providing those goods or services that
have not yet been recognised as expenses.

Amortisation of capitalised contract costs is charged
to profit or loss when the revenue to which the asset
relates is recognised.

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from
business combinations on or after the date of initial
application, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date,
as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed
unless the terms and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one
or more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to
each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-
alone price of the lease component and the aggregate
standalone price of the non-lease components.

The Group also applies practical expedient not to
separate non-lease components from lease component,
and instead account for the lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease
component.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of land and buildings, computer
equipment, furniture & fixture and motor vehicles
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. It also applies the recognition exemption for
lease of low-value assets. Lease payments on short-term
leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as
expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic
basis over the lease term.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)
Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

o the amount of the initial measurement of the
lease liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group

in dismantling and removing the underlying
assets, restoring the site on which it is located or
restoring the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and
the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (“HKFRS 9”) and
initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair
value at initial recognition are considered as additional
lease payments and included in the cost of right-of-use
assets.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid at that
date. In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in
the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index
or a rate;
o amounts expected to be payable by the Group

under residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise the option;
and

° payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if

the lease term reflects the Group exercising an
option to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

FESTBE @)

HE @®m)
AE@MEREBA ()
HEEE

REEBKE S AEERE A RS
Rz AENROBERRRGEAE
£ o 70 5 A B R0 T S - 1l
RESES N RS HREE AlK
SEERERERGABNREER
b

HEMNKERE:

B E R (B EEEEE MR
AR R EE R

HORRIEHIMENAIZEHE
R

RHBERRTHEMAEE
J& A 3R

EEREHAEAKEITENE
BERMITEE: &

AR RS S E R (i 8
HI I BR R SR [ IE 77 {6 # 4% LE
HE) -

REBEMRR HEREZRMNEER
RHEENRAE-

YTO International Express and Supply Chain Technology Limited Annual Report 2022



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Bz

—E - HE+ - A=1+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities (continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to
zero) whenever:

° the lease term has changed or there is a change
in the assessment of exercise of a purchase
option, in which case the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the date
of reassessment.

o the lease payments change due to changes in
market rental rates following a market rent
review, in which cases the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a
separate lease if:

o the modification increases the scope of the lease
by adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

o the consideration for the leases increases by an

amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect
the circumstances of the particular contract.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
Lease modifications (continued)

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability
based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.
The only exceptions are rent concessions that occurred
as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic
and met the conditions set out in paragraph 46B of
HKFRS 16 Leases. In such cases, the Group has taken
advantage of the practical expedient not to assess
whether the rent concessions are lease modifications,
and recognised the change in consideration as negative
variable lease payments in profit or loss in the period
in which the event or condition that triggers the rent
concessions occurred.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified contract
contains a lease component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone
price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-
alone price of the non-lease components.

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as
finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the
lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All
other leases are classified as operating leases.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are
recognised as receivables at commencement date
at amounts equal to net investments in the leases,
measured using the interest rate implicit in the
respective leases. Initial direct costs (other than those
incurred by manufacturer or dealer lessors) are included
in the initial measurement of the net investments in
the leases. Interest revenue is allocated to accounting
periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of
return on the Group’s net investment outstanding in
respect of the leases.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessor (continued)

Classification and measurement of leases (continued)

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term
of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset, and
such costs are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term except for investment
properties measured under fair value model.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 to allocate
consideration in a contract to lease and non-lease
components. Non-lease components are separated from
lease component on the basis of their relative stand-
alone selling prices.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments from lessees.

Sublease

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts
for the head lease and the sublease as two separate
contracts. The sublease is classified as a finance or
operating lease by reference to the right-of-use asset
arising from the head lease, not with reference to the
underlying asset.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessor (continued)

Lease modification to a finance lease

The Group accounts for a modification to a finance
lease as a separate lease if both:

(a) the modification increases the scope of the lease
by adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

(b) the consideration for the lease increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect
the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a modification to a finance lease that is not
accounted for as a separate lease, the Group accounts
for the modification as follows:

(a) if the lease would have been classified as an
operating lease had the modification been in
effect at the inception date, the Group shall:

(i)  account for the lease modification as a
new lease from the effective date of the
modification; and

(i) measure the carrying amount of the
underlying asset as the net investment in
the lease immediately before the effective
date of the lease modification.

(b)  otherwise, the Group applies the requirements of
HKFRS 9.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessor (continued)

Lease modification to an operating lease

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating
lease as a new lease from the effective date of the
modification, considering any prepaid or accrued lease
payments relating to the original lease as part of the
lease payments for the new lease.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax. The tax currently
payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable
profit differs from “profit before taxation” as reported
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss because
it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and it further excludes
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In
addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiary and interests in associates and joint ventures,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments
and interests are only recognised to the extent that it
is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of the reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of
the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities
or deferred tax assets for investment properties that
are measured using the fair value model, the carrying
amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption
is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the
investment property is depreciable and is held within
a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in
the investment property over time, rather than through
sale.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Taxation (continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-
of-use assets and the related lease liabilities, the
Group first determines whether the tax deductions
are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies
HKAS 12 “Income Taxes” requirements to right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities separately. Temporary
differences on initial recognition of the relevant right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities are recognised.
Temporary differences arising from subsequent revision
to the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities, resulting from remeasurement of lease
liabilities and lease modifications, are recognised on the
date of remeasurement or modification.

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax treatments,
the Group considers whether it is probable that the
relevant tax authority will accept the uncertain tax
treatment used, or proposed to be use by individual
group entities in their income tax filings. If it is
probable, the current and deferred taxes are determined
consistently with the tax treatment in the income tax
filings. If it is not probable that the relevant taxation
authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment, the
effect of each uncertainty is reflected by using either
the most likely amount or the expected value.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the
same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or
loss, except when it relates to items that are recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
in which case, the current and deferred tax are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred
tax arises from the initial accounting for a business
combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recorded in its functional currency (i.e. the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are re-translated at the rates prevailing at
that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that
are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value
was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the re-translation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the
Group's foreign operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong
dollars) at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of
the reporting period, and their income and expenses are
translated at the average exchange rates for the period,
unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the
period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading
of translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate), if any.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal
of the Group's entire interest in a foreign operation,
or a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation, or a disposal involving
loss of significant influence over an associate or a joint
venture that includes a foreign operation), all of the
exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect
of that operation attributable to the owners of the
Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a
subsidiary that does not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share
of accumulated exchange differences are reattributed
to non-controlling interests and are not recognised in
profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial
disposals of associates or joint ventures that do not
result in the Group losing significant influence or joint
control), the proportionate share of the accumulated
exchange differences is reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable
assets acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign
operation on or after 1 January 2005 are treated as
assets and liabilities of that foreign operation and
retranslated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the
end of each reporting period. Exchange differences
arising are recognised in equity under the heading of
translation reserve.

Related parties

(@) A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or
(iii) is a member of the key management

personnel of the Group or the Group's
parent.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEE:HEHE @

(continued)

Related parties (continued) A (#)
(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the (b) MHFFA THMEMIIEHE B2 ER
following conditions applies: SEEH:

() The entity and the Group are members of () Z%EREALEEBEEBER %
the same group (which means that each 0o = W/NE= N Q=N RS Sa/N
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is Al B RAME R W B
related to the others). AR HE A ) -

(i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture (il —"REEAS —BEMNOK
of the other entity (or an associate or joint ERAHEERE(HA
venture of a member of a group of which SEETKE R A # B
the other entity is a member). ARIHEERE TR —

EROASEEETHKER
CIDE

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same (i) MEREEBHAR—F=FH
third party. MEERE-

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity (iv), " REBARE-FTEBH
and the other entity is an associate of the aEME ME—EBR
third entity. ZEZSTEBONBEER

El o

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit (v) ERBRASEGHEAEH
plan for the benefit of employees of either FHEBNERBRE IS
the Group or an entity related to the Group. BRUMBEBREFIGEE .

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled (i) ZEBEBXZ—FG)H
by a person identified in (a). Bl 2 A o B 12 i) ok 2k B 4

i) o

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant (i) B—FH#G@O#FAZ AL
influence over the entity or is a member of HZERBBEATZE DK
the key management personnel of the entity ZATRZEE(XZE
(or of a parent of the entity). BOGARNETEER

= ﬁ/% ::’ Z_ °

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of (i) ZER HEFMBAEE
which it is a part, provides key management ZAERIA B - A AN & E 5k
personnel services to the Group or to the REBCBARRHEEE
Group's parent. EIRBERT -

Close members of the family of a person are those S—AATHERBRBEXNEREEH
family members who may be expected to influence, or ATHERERBI SR FAHATZEK
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the XEZATEZENBREKE -

entity.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to
the Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business
and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar in respect of the nature of products and services,
the nature of production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products
or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 3, management is required
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following is the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty
at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year.

Estimation of expected credit loss allowance of
trade receivables

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s gross trade
receivables amounted to HK$806 million, against which
an allowance for expected credit losses of HK$17
million was recorded.

The Group measures expected credit loss of trade
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime expected
credit loss, by applying estimated loss rates on trade
receivables grouped according to their shared credit
risk characteristics. Management assesses the expected
credit loss allowance for possible credit-impaired trade
receivables individually, and the expected credit loss
allowance for remaining balances is assessed using the
provision matrix collectively.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates.
Information about ECL on the Group’s trade receivables
is disclosed in note 40.

The Group’s lifetime ECL on trade receivables as at
31 December 2022 amounted to HK$17,207,000 (2021:
HK$12,811,000).
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REVENUE

Revenue represents freight forwarding and related
services income which is recognised over time as
customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group's performance as the
Group performs. The Group’s revenue is recognised
using output method over the period of performance by
delivering a shipment from a place of origin to a place
of destination. The performance obligation is satisfied
upon delivery at destination. Details of disaggregation
of revenue are set out in note 6.

Payment of the transaction price is generally due within
30 days. All services are for periods of less than one
year. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction
price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not
disclosed.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group determines its operating segments based on
internal reports about components of the Group that
are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision
maker (i.e. the executive directors of the Company) in
order to allocate resources to the segment and to assess
its performance.

Information reported to the Group’s chief operating

decision maker for the purposes of resource allocation

and assessment of performance is focused on five main

operations.

Air freight: this segment is related to freight
forwarding by air.

this segment is related to freight
forwarding by seas.

Ocean freight:

this segment is related to provision
of warehousing services.

Logistics:

International express this segment is related to provision

and parcel: of time-define international
express and parcel services.
Others: this segment is related to freight

forwarding by land and trucking
services.
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AR ATEE) E BB B A B 5
2 H) B9 H B S B A

DEABREREFEERR

BE R B KR BLEY (M A AR SR =
BEBEBRREZRNERETROE
TEEEFE-

EE oMEmnEEERES
Be e
BB o R RS EERER
B
iR ben R RR R A RIRB A
B
RIRIE & Uit 7 BB AR {1t DA By ) 7 3%
BR: HO BIRR BRIE & B R R 7%
B
HA : It BB B P 3 B B AR o

EEERREAER-

HEEMRBRAR 163




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R R M

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

HE_ T _—_F#+_A=+—HLEFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. DTER @
(a) Segment revenue and results (a) o EREE
Segment revenue Segment results
2 U PWEE
2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-C - inlori — T — —T-—fF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT THT TER THET
Operating and reportable segments 4% K 2 # &8
Air freight (note i) =98 (fiti) 3,681,328 3,361,805 91,396 282,554
Ocean freight (note j) BE (M) 1,735,569 2,004,190 196,116 214,419
Logistics (note ii) Wm (Hritii) 67,154 67,162 2,522 7,445
International express and HRERERBR
parcel (note Jii) (Hiitii) 1,106,234 1,949,084 99,243 104,347
Others (note iv) it (Hitiv) 116,165 174,186 13,129 36,667
Total st 6,706,450 7,556,427 402,406 645,432
Other income Hit A 18,288 17,124
Impairment loss on goodwill BEREBE = (15,632)
Impairment loss on Intangible EREERERR
assets - (464)
Other gains or losses Hi5adEE 15,006 (6,644)
Unallocated corporate expenses R B AHT (285,850)  (312,790)
Share of results of associates AN E S 708 34
Share of results of joint ventures ~ JE(EASMEEE (7,204) 1,035
Finance costs BE KA (2,577) 4,171
Profit before taxation BB AR A 140,777 323,924
Notes: B
(i) Revenue from freight services, including air freight (i) EERE (RIEETERETE)R
and ocean freight, is recognised over time upon the mORERBELHE T BERE
performance obligation is satisfied. MR o
(ii) Revenue from logistic services is recognised over time (ii) VmRS (ARG k=

for warehousing services. To B B FE FE R o

B BR ARG I B ' AR (it DA BRE RS
EEMBERRERBERSE)H
W 25 TY BE S R RE R ©

(iii) Revenue from international express and parcel (iii)
services is recognised over time for time-define
international express and parcel services.

Hip R (SEm R EEEHR
%) ToBE RS MR -

(iv) Other services is recognised over time for land and (iv)
trucking services.
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6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Segment revenue and results (continued)

The accounting policies of the reportable
segments are the same as the Group’'s accounting
policies described in note 3. Reportable segment
results represent the profit earned by each
segment without allocation of other income, other
gains or losses, share of results of associates,
share of results of joint ventures, unallocated
corporate expenses (including depreciation,
amortisation and impairment, etc.) and finance
costs.

Segment assets and liabilities

No analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by
operating and reportable segments is disclosed as
it is not regularly provided to the chief operating
decision maker for review.

Geographical information

The Group’s revenue by geographical market
based on the location of operations:

The PRC (note i)
Europe (note ii)
Northern America (note iii)

P (HiEi)
BOM (A aZii)
b (B atii)

6.

Australia BAF B
Other Asian regions (note iv) H e MR
(Kt iziv)
TR CFER

2\ 3z
7\

(a)

(b)

(c)

P& R (@)

DEWME R EE (®)

SO B S ET R BN FE3M
AAREBEFTBREMER - 2H 7D
AR AE 15 & 0 P P R BUS A - A
BIEE AU A D BE - B A 15 5 3K
BiE BB R A XA B
BELERE ADEARMX
(BEME BHEERES) R
BEKA -

THEERAER

HREREERERDBHAE
BMEERBEMENDNILIE
EHMERLEERREREN
HEH WAL ERETFAEED
#r

S B 94T 4 B 81 10 4
RETEE

Revenue from external customers

REIIMBEFE WS
2021
—E-—F
HK$’000 HK$000
FETT FETT
5,258,453 5,723,689
101,179 312,686
502,476 590,844
17,912 -
826,430 929,208
6,706,450 7,556,427

BB B RE R R XA R AR
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HEZZ-_—_F+-_A=1+—RHLEFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(c) Geographical information (continued)

Information about the Group's specified non-
current assets by geographical market based on
location of assets:

The PRC (note i) R (KR

Europe (note i) BON (B aEi)

Northern America (note Jfi) M (A7 aEiin)

Australia SRR g8

Other Asian regions (note iv) H A gm i i &
(Hiativ)

Notes:

(i) Included in the PRC segment are revenue from

Hong Kong amounting to HK$3,862,912,000 (2021:
HK$4,204,973,000) and non-current assets from
Hong Kong amounting to HK$37,636,000 (2021:
HK$62,863,000).

(i) Europe segment represents revenue and non-current
assets from the Netherlands.

(iii) Northern America segment represents revenue and
non-current assets from the United States of America
(the "USA").

(iv) Other Asian regions comprised countries which
generated revenue or with non-current assets that
is individually immaterial to the Group's revenue or
assets.

(v) Specified non-current assets exclude interests in
associates, interests in joint ventures and deferred tax
assets.

& F (@)

(c) HEZEFR (&)
ERAAEEBREEMETHE o
MiEmENEFEERDEE
EHt:

2022 2021
===
HK$ ‘000 HK$'000
F BT FET
49,919 80,994
- 97,958
22,292 28,612
2,571 =
5,829 4,936
80,611 212,500
EE

)

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

EB(GFARBESBIHRE A
3,862,912,000 70 (=& = —
£ :4,204,973,000/7T) © MH
B IR E & E B37,636,00078
(=T = —%:62,863,000/8
TT) e

BN 53 5B 36 AT B A9 UL & A0 JE R
Eﬂﬁ@

XD BIEEMNEERE ([
)RS FIERBEE -

Hit MR BEEEWREX
BEFRRDEENEZR  Hllim
HEEMBAMSHYAEEZ W
MY EEWTEK-

HEFRRBDEETERBERBZ
AEMED NEELENESR
NOIRETRIA B EE ©
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6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(d)

Information about major customers

Revenue arising from air freight, ocean freight
and logistics services of HK$1,721,675,000
(2021: HK$1,361,124,000) arose from sales
to the Group’s largest customer. No other
single customers contributed over 10% of the
total revenue of the Group for both 2021 and
2022. The percentage of revenue of the Group
attributable to the largest customer is 25.7%
(2021: 18.0%).

OTHER INCOME

Interest revenue on: TA B F S A
- bank deposits — RITHFERX
— debt investment — REEN AT EW
at amortised cost BREHE
— finance lease receivables — MEMEEERFIE
Rental income Ha2 WA
Maintenance fee income HEERA
Management fee income BB
IT service income BB R WA
Write back of long outstanding BERAKREEEN
payables IE
Government grants (note) BT BY (A7)
Sundry income FEIEWA

Note: In 2022, the Group successfully applied for funding support

from the Employment Support Scheme under the Anti-
epidemic Fund of HK$4,392,000, set up by the HKSAR
Government. The purpose of the funding is to provide
financial support to employers to retain their current
employees or hire more employees when the business
revives. Under the terms of the grant, the Group is required
to employ a sufficient number of employees with reference
to its proposed employee headcounts in each subsidy
month. Remaining portion of the government grants related
to non-Hong Kong government grants with immaterial
individual balances.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the government
grants related to non-Hong Kong government grants with
immaterial individual balances.

6.

—E - F3R

o EE F (@)
(d) EEETEEFWNER

RETEE BENMDRRENK
HERERNAEBEREARFHEE
FrE £ H UL %51,721,675,00078
T (ZZFE-—%:1,361,124,000
BL) WEHME —FF R
ZEZ—FR-ZF-__FFHRK
BAAEEBLWFINI0ON

BAEFELAEBEREZNT
Dt B25.7% (T = — F:
18.0% ) °
Hb g A
2022 2021
=== —E-—F
HK$000 HK$°000
FET FE T
2,433 732
52 43
= 95
1,372 2,901
= 2,242
3,387 3,794
4,498 2,299
397 118
5,087 3,000
1,062 1,900
18,288 17,124

Bat

EEEBRREHRERENEERAA

RZZEZ—F AEBEXNAEBE
BIFTIER & BT &L PR e E e T
B [R5t % ] 51 81 81 55 & 894,392,000
BT -HUAEEELHNENETEARETIR
HEBEZE UAEBEEBREE IR
E¥BEBRREIEZE T -REEDE
FOAREBAREDHES AL HRE
BLEIHAEBERAMBEZEI K
FHBE TS HIEFT B BT
B BTEZENEMNEH-

HE-Z-_—F+ZA=+—HILF
B BN B IER S BT BN ER
BTEEM@ER&-
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HE_ T _—_F#+_A=+—HLEFE

8. OTHER GAINS OR LOSSES 8.
2021
T
HK$°000 HK$000
FET T
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RMBRAAGHE 1,745 =
Gain (loss) on disposal of property, H&E¥E HE K&
plant and equipment REG= (BE) 645 (1)
Loss on remeasurement of B ER —REE
investment in an associate NERE KB - (7,693)
Gain (loss) on early termination of  fERIRIFAES X
lease contracts = (B1E) 18 (123)
Fair value changes of financial RATEFABRZ
assets at FVTPL TREEL
AFEEE (11,553) 5,079
Fair value changes of investment KEMERNTEE
properties (785) (49)
Net foreign exchange gain (loss) SNES = (BI8) T8 25,090 (3,769)
Others HAh (154) (88)
15,006 (6,644)
9. FINANCE COSTS 9. BEMRAX
2022 2021
—E-= T —4F
HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET
Interests on: T3 FBERFE
— bank borrowings — RITERX 49 225
— lease liabilities —HEAE 2,528 3,799
— borrowings from immediate — REEEZERRQA]
holding company P - 147
2,577 4171
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HE_ T _—_F#+_A=+—HLEFE

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 10. FIEHEX
2021
—EF - —F
HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FEr
Current tax : BVHAR 1A
- Hong Kong Profits Tax — BABNIEB 24,435 23,513
— Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") — PEPEMSH
in the PRC (TEEMRBHI) 1,904 2,876
— United States Corporate — XERRIEM
Income Tax 10 6,643
- Vietnam Corporate — BERRIMEN
Income Tax 2,003 2,747
— Thailand Corporate — REARIAEH
Income Tax 1,453 2,518
— Malaysia Corporate — BRELEQA
Income Tax Fris#®t 1,053 1,078
- India Corporate Income Tax — HERRIMEM 1,052 842
- Korea Corporate Income Tax — BENFMER 2,249 819
— Other jurisdictions — Hth Rl A#ER 2,979 691
37,138 41,727
Under (over) provision BAFEBRETR
in respect of prior years (FBEERE)
- Hong Kong Profits Tax — BAFEB (1,823) (344)
— EIT in the PRC — PECEMREN 11 480
— Other jurisdictions — HM el iR (158) 54
(1,970) 190
Withholding tax on 2R BRI TER B
dividend received 435 832
35,603 42,749
Deferred taxation (note 36(b)) EEFL IR (K 7£36(b)) (34,635) 2,932
968 45,681
Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the BAF GBIy &M @ BFE R E
estimated assessable profits during both financial years. FERBmFIM16.5%FT & °
Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first BREFMSHMEH 2EKESEEE
HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group entity BH28 &8 T F i 128 .25% E At - 2
will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million BEBITIA LM AIE16.5%EF o
will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities not FMEBMAH TTEEREERER Y
qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will i A R A B R B — T X 16.5% BT ©

continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.
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10.

170

—E - HE+ - A=1+—HIFE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

The directors of the Company considered the amount
involved upon implementation of the two-tiered profits
tax rates regime as insignificant to the consolidated
financial statements. Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated
at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profit for both
years.

Under the Law of the PRC on EIT (the “EIT Law"”) and
Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the PRC
subsidiaries of the Group is taxed at 25% for both
financial years.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the British
Virgin Islands (the “BVI”) and the Cayman Islands, the
Group is not subject to any income tax in the BVI and
the Cayman Islands.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the
rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

Details of the deferred taxation are set out in note
36(b).

10.

FEHBEX m@m

ARRBERR BN E KM
PRy kM BEREMERRLES
RNEAE - B BN EHIZMEFENG

RETBEERMEVE([EEME
BRI RERABBIREBGH - &
£ 8 19 P B BT B 2 A M E B BF R
MIFHZ25% B KA F o

RELABREZES ([RBEZES])
EASEENHRARRG  NEEE
RERZHERFAEREBARME
I P {SH0 -

£ H A RAME R E A W TR IR IR AH BE 7
EEBRHBITHEGE-

AR FE T TR B 5 B B BT EE36(b) ©
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HE_ T _—_F#+_A=+—HLEFE

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 10. FRBHEAX @0

F 1 P15 75 R B B A AT A I 0 AR

Income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to

the profit before taxation as follows: LU
2021
- —4F
HK$'000 HK$000
FET FAET
Profit before taxation B B4 A1 Vg ) 140,777 323,924
Tax at the Hong Kong Profits Tax Z16.5% BB FER
rate of 16.5% (2021: 16.5%) EEB(ZTBZ—F:
16.5% ) 23,228 53,447
Tax effect of expenses not TR 7 2 7Y
deductible for tax purposes ki34 1,594 7,794
Tax effect of income not taxable BEF KA
for tax purposes % (15,736) (24,452)
Tax effect of share of L E NP EERN
results of associates iR (117) (6)
Tax effect of share of results of Bl EEEEN
joint ventures ki34 1,189 (17
Effect on tax exemption granted EERHERENTEE (165) (28
Tax effect of tax losses RERMIBEERN
not recognised iR 6,749 1,111
Utilisation of tax losses previously {3 LA{E R FERH
not recognised W% EE (470) (892)
(Over) under provision in respect of BEFE (FBEEE)
prior years BETNT (1,970) 190
Effect of different tax rates of group M & AN FERE R
entities operating in jurisdictions KENEBERBME
other than Hong Kong TRMEE (6,048) 7,130
(Reversal of) withholding tax on AP IREFETEH
undistributed earnings ($&E) (8,028) 1,384
Withholding tax on dividend 2R BRI TER B
received 435 832
Others Hh 307 (405)
Income tax expense for the year FREHES 968 45,681
—EF7R EBBBRREHEEREEERAE 1T
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HEZZ-_—_F+-_A=1+—RHLEFE

11. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Profit for the year has been arrived
at after charging (crediting):

Auditors’ remuneration

Depreciation of property,

plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Impairment loss on goodwill
Impairment loss on intangible assets

Amortisation of intangible assets
(included in administrative
expenses)

Allowance for expected credit losses
on trade and other receivables
recognised

Less: Reversal of allowance
for expected credit losses
on trade and other receivables

Net impairment loss recognised
(reversed) under expected
credit loss model

Staff costs
Directors’ emoluments (note 12)
Other staff costs
Staff costs excluding retirement
benefit contributions
Retirement benefit contributions

Equity-settled share-based payment

Total staff costs

Gross rental income from
investment properties

Less: outgoings incurred which
generated rental income

1. FREF

2021
—E-—%F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FE T FET
F R B (FTA)
T3 &IE -
2% SR AN B & 7,110 6,898
WE- BELRETE
9,964 11,238
FREEERE 34,216 38,858
EESNERIEY R - 15,632
EREERBESR = 464
A E
(GFATTHREX)
1,794 4,443
BEHERE S K E A
REMEHEE
B 18 B 11,109 6,993
BB S5 M E M E U
REMBEHREE
E B R (2,669) (7,042)
JEHEEEERT
R (ERE)K
BEE B R 8,440 (49)
BTITRA
BEEWe (HiE12) 8,965 12,658
HAth B T A
TEERIKEF H K
B8 TR 263,255 279,004
IRRTEFIHE 3R 26,811 23,319
ARG E 2 DARR 1D
BEBAR 3,447 1,881
B TR AR 302,478 316,862
KEMERS WA EE
313 354
BWEEESWARN
BEETH (63) (77)
250 277
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HE_ T _—_F#+_A=+—HLEFE

12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND 12. EX fTRARREEME
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments EERITHATZH S
Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section BIBEBE B R RHEAIE383(1) KR A A
383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and (WEESFNZER)BHIFE250F &=
Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information NEZFME0T :
about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as follows:
Year ended 31 December 2022 BE-_ZE-__F+-RA=+—HLEE
Basic Performance  Equity-settled Retirement
salaries and bonus share-based benefit
Directors' fees allowances (note ) payment  contributions Total
DREGE 2
HEEXFER NEL URGREEN
Name of director 32 Ez=ned 28 ‘\ ik BRERHK @t

HK$'000 HKS000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$000
FE7 FE7 FE7 FE7 FE7 FEx

Executive directors HiTES

Mr. Yang Xinwei BHERE

(note i) (Hiti) - 115 - - - 115
Mr. Huang Yifeng ERELE - 1,400 - 1,864 18 3,282
Mr. Sun Jian FRiE - 1,342 - 2,481 157 3,980
Non-executive directors EHTEES
Mr. Yu Huijiao MEREE - - - - - -
Mr. Pan Shuimiao BKEEE - - - - - -
Mr. Li Xianjun FEEEE

(note fi) (Bisii) - - - - - -
Mr. Chen Dong S - - - 988 - 988
Independent BUkHTES

non-executive

directors
Mr. Li Donghui FRERE 200 - - - - 200
Mr. Xu Junmin GERRE 200 - - - - 200
Mr. Chung Kwok FEREE

Mo John 200 - - - - 200

600 2,857 - 5,333 175 8,965
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12.

174

—E - HE+ - A=1+—HIFE

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND

EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

(continued)

Year ended 31 December 2021

12. EE THARKREEMNE @

EERTHAZME (@)

BEE-_B-_-—H5+-A=t—-HLHFE

Basic Performance Equity-settled Retirement
salaries and bonus share-based benefit
Directors' fees allowances (note ) payment contributions Total
INRERE 2
EXHER Euna DBRHAEREN
Name of director ESpz 248 et (Hrzti) % REENER @zt
HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
T T THET T FHET T
Executive directors BES
Mr. Huang Yifeng ERBEE = 1,400 1,000 12876 18 4,94
Mr. Sun Jian 13=3:3 - 862 1,100 2,194 114 4,270
Non-executive directors F#H{TES
Mr. Yu Huijiao WERLE - - - - - -
Mr. Pan Shuimiao EKERE - - - - - -
Mr. Li Xianjun TEELE - - - 1,820 - 1,820
Mr. Chen Dong S - - 800 874 - 1,674
Independent BUkHTES
non-executive
directors
Mr. Li Donghui FRERE 200 - - - - 200
Mr. Xu Junmin BERRE 200 - - - - 200
Mr. Chung Kwok ZEREE
Mo John 200 - - - - 200
600 2,262 2,900 6,764 132 12,658

Note i The amounts are discretionary bonus which are

determined based on individual performance.

Note ji:  The director was appointed on 31 March 2022 as non-
executive director and re-designated from a non-executive

director to an executive director on 9 December 2022.

Note jii: The director was resigned on 31 March 2022.

Bratic S ERREARREETNHRBET

Ao

Wiaii: ZEEN_-_ET-_—F=ZA=+—H

BZERFATEEIN T
FH_ANBBEFPTESHEIE
HITE=S-

Hiatii - ZEEN _-_ET-_—F=ZA=+—H

=
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12.

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(continued)

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were
for their services in connection with management of the
affairs of the Company and the Group. The emoluments
of the non-executive directors and independent non-

2. BEE THHEBSREENE @

EERTHAZME (@)

EXFHTATEEM IR EERA
RAEAIRANEEEREREMR 2 RE M
Xfte EXFIRERITES RBIIE
HITESEME I REEEARAE

executive directors shown above were for their services ERERB M AT
as directors of the Company.
Five highest paid individuals IEBRSEFAL

The five highest paid individuals included 2 directors
(2021: two directors) whose emoluments were included
in the disclosure above. The emoluments of the
remaining 3 highest paid individuals (2021: three) for
the year ended 31 December 2022 are as follows:

AR FATEERMEES (2%
T F MBES) HEHMEEREX
WE-#Ez_ET-_—F#+-_HA=+—
BtEE # TR (2T =_—4F:=
BIREBHEATHHESHT

2022 2021
—E-= T —%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FET
Employees =]
— basic salaries and allowances — BEARFH S KRR 10,323 5,634
- performance bonus — BERIELT 1,300 3,800
- equity-settled share-based — UREEE A
payment S-S0
NES 764 962
— retirement benefit contributions  — 3E K48 Fl it 7 107 59
12,494 10,455
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12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(continued)

Five highest paid individuals (continued)

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 L&
2,000,000/ 7T
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001}%77:?:
3,000,000/ 7T
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 L E
3,500,000/ 7T
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 4,000,001 L&
4,500,000/ 7T
HK$7,500,001 to HK$8,000,000 7,500,001 T E
8,000,000/ 7T

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and
31 December 2021, no emoluments were paid by the
Group to the directors of the Company or the five
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of
office.

13. DIVIDEND

12.

13.

Final dividend for the year ended HE-_FT-_—F+=A
31 December 2021 of _‘1' B IEFEH
HK6.5 cents (2020: HK6.1 cents) NERIE BT RR6.5/8 1
per share —T-THE:

6.1710)

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a final
dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December
2022 of HK3.3 cents (2021: HK6.5 cents) per share,
in an aggregate amount of HK$13,866,000 (2021:
HK$27,312,000), has been proposed by the directors
of the Company and is subject to approval by the
shareholders in the forthcoming annual general
meeting.
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BEERTHAZMNE (&)

TEREH AL (4D

mENMENF THEE :

2021

—E-—%F

No. of

employees employees

ESAE ES A&

1 _

1 -

- 2

- 1

1 —
REE-_T=-— A=+—8HK
— T —F+— —HILFE
N E B I & M| A ERHERS
HFALTINE EAEMAKRD
AREB R RE - SIEABEEREE-

BB

2022 2021
—E-= T —%F
HK$'000 HK$000
FET FET
27,312 25,422
NREHRE ARARESREES
—EZF+ZR=+— amﬁrz
EEHHHQ%EH% 3B (=T —%F:
6.581) - %ﬁﬁ13,866,000;‘%ﬁ
(=& —— E 273120007&7‘1) ;
EERRERAEERRBF RS LA
BHEESE-



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R R M

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

HE_ T _—_F#+_A=+—HLEFE

14. EARNINGS PER SHARE 14. BREF
2021
—EF - —F
HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FEr
Earnings EF
Earnings for the purposes of RAEERERR
basic and diluted earnings BERMNABENZ
per share (profit for the year BF (AR AR
attributable to equity AR R AL G A F)
shareholders of the Company) 136,744 273,377
2022 2021
—EZCF T —F
Number of shares g 4=
Weighted average number of A EERERBNR
ordinary shares for the purpose of B &) 2 & &@A% h1i
basic earnings per share T E 417,990,000 415,705,507
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary i J& {0 B2 =t 21 19 & 7£
shares on share award plan Egile S8 - 1,833,343
Weighted average number of M ETREERFN G
ordinary shares for the purpose of B &2 & @& h14E
diluted earnings per share 8 417,990,000 417,538,850
The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the AESRERZN G LR RINE TS
purpose of basic earnings per share has been adjusted HECHBEROEBFEEENR
for the shares purchased under share award plan as set MYEH % - M E44FTE
out in note 44.
Diluted earnings per share equaled basic earnings per RRETEINEBETEEEBRAR
share for the year ended 31 December 2022 because REERE WHE_T__F+=
the dilutive potential ordinary shares outstanding were A=+T—RALtFEzESRESRT M
anti-dilutive. BREARBNMEMR -
15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 15. REWE
The Group leases out various offices premises under REERKERE u”::'*ﬂ;lﬁfﬂ NIE W
operating leases with rentals payable monthly. The HMeBEAZN - ZEHEBRBENS
leases typically run for an initial period of 1 year to 2 MER—FEMEF -
years.
The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as AEBWEAMELHEEINERR
a result of the lease arrangements, as all leases are EEEFARELAEEEES AN
denominated in the respective functional currencies of Mg EBFE - ZSHEGHALTE
group entity. The lease contracts do not contain residual FERGEEERRIABARBRAR
value guarantee and lessee’s option to purchase the RE Y EREERE-

property at the end of lease term.
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Bz

15.

178

—E - HE+ - A=1+—HIFE

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

At the beginning of the year RE )

Fair value changes recognised R85 AR
in profit or loss REBEES)

Exchange realignment ME 5, 58 B

At the end of the year RER

The Group’s investment properties are all situated
outside of Hong Kong as at 31 December 2022 and
31 December 2021. The fair value of these investment
properties have been arrived at on the basis of a
valuation carried out on the respective dates by RHL
Appraisal Limited, an independent qualified professional
valuer not connected with the Group. The directors
of RHL Appraisal Limited are members of the Hong
Kong Institute of Surveyors, and they have appropriate
qualifications and recent experience in the valuation of
properties in the relevant locations. The fair values of
the investment properties were determined by using the
direct comparison approach with reference to the recent
transaction prices for similar properties as available,
adjusted for differences in the nature, location and
conditions of the subject properties. There has been no
change to the valuation technique during the year.

In estimating the fair value of the investment properties,
the highest and best use of the investment properties
is their current use. Key unobservable inputs used in
valuing the investment properties were premium or
discount which the valuer applied to those transaction
prices to take into account some key characteristics of
the asset which is being valued being better or worse
than the asset that was actually sold recently. An
increase in the property age would result in a decrease
in the fair value measurement of the investment
properties, and vice versa. An increase in adjusted
transaction prices subject to property size and property
floor level would result in an increase in the fair value
measurement of the investment properties, and vice
versa.

The fair value hierarchy of these investment properties
is categorised into level 3 and there were no transfers
into or out of Level 3 during the year.

15. REWE @)

2021

—E-—%F

HK$'000 HK$'000
FETT FET
6,745 6,593
(785) (49)
(567) 201
5,393 6,745

RZEBE-__F+-_A=+—HE=ZF
T+ A=+—H AEEHENK
EMEHNREBRIIN -ZEREY
E¥NQATFEDNREENEB B ERE
MBS EREEGEMXFITHE
FERERARRSBEETHEE
MER - XMATTFEEBBER QAN
EEAEBNEMEegE A BA
BEERMIENAEEETYE
HENKER - REMELIFEDIKLR
EMESEUDENTHZZERN
BEELOEBLIET URIEZENWELE
B MR P EREAE-FR
(ERERSR NI

REAREMENRFEE RKEY
ENERRAgAERS ARERE-
RIEEMEMBETEBOBRIEAR
B ABUR R BB MBS
EREEXBRERANZEIRZERNU
EELWFAEEENE THRAREER
BERHEECRNOIHRERHNENEE -
BREMATEHRENEAFEHFE
MY RZIBAR-BRIFMERBERD
EBEMENKABISEN LS
EYREMENRATEFELA R
Z IR

ZEREMENLATERREERSE
=R FABERFE=ABALEL -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GREMBEHRRHME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
—E - —E+-_A=+—HItEE

Bz

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

COST OR VALUATION

At 1 January 2021

Additions

Revaluation

Step acquisition of a subsidiary

Disposals
Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2021 and
1 January 2022

Additions
Revaluation
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 38)
Disposal of a subsidiary
(note 38(c))
Disposals
Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2022

Comprising:
31 December 2022

At cost
At valuation

Comprising:
31 December 2021

At cost
At valuation

RAREE

R=ZE=-%-f—H

RE

Bt

PEBRRE-ZNE
A

e

EHA%

e —d
+ZA=z+t-8Bk
“Z--%-f-H

RE

Bfh

WEMBAE (Hi38)

HE-RMELHF
(H:238(c)

e

EHAZ

ARG
fR{AMER

A
—E--F
+-F=1-8
TG
RIEEE

16. ¥ HBERFZHE

Leasehold Furniture
land and  Computer and Leasehold Motor
buildings  equipment  equipment improvements vehicles Total
BELHR
BF EMRE HARKE HEXE RE ast
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000
TET AT TET AT AT AT
21,180 37,121 33,287 18,545 6,281 117,020
- 5,861 1,975 5,344 m 13,951
(12) = = = = (12)
- 954 25 - 383 1,362
- (2,101) (2,053) (6,350) (719) (11,223)
645 (123) (1,488) 136 (27) (857)
21,813 42,318 31,746 17,675 6,689 120,241
- 1,506 881 938 232 3,557
(1,278) - - - - (1,278)
- 370 485 - 439 1,294
- (3,755) (18,207) - (407) (22,369)
- (807) (547) (2,103) (1,962) (5,419)
(1,832) (1,360) (1,826) (488) (225) (5,731)
18,703 38,272 12,532 16,022 4,766 90,295
- 38,272 12,532 16,022 4,766 71,592
18,703 - - - - 18,703
18,703 38,272 12,532 16,022 4,766 90,295
- 42,318 31,746 17,675 6,689 98,428
21,813 - - - - 21,813
21,813 42,318 31,746 17,675 6,689 120,241
—EC R EBRBERREHEERMKEARIF 179
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Bz

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

180

(continued)

DEPRECIATION

At 1 January 2021

Charge for the year
Elimination on revaluation
Eliminated on disposals

Step acquisition of a subsidiary

Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2021 and
1 January 2022

Charge for the year
Elimination on revaluation
Eliminated on disposals

Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 38)

Disposal of a subsidiary
(note 38(c))
Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2022

CARRYING VALUES
At 31 December 2022

At 31 December 2021

N1

RZE=-%-f-H

FRZM

EEREH

HEREH

PEERE-R
HWEBAR

EHAZ

g —d
+ZR=+-8Bk
“Z--%-f-H

FRZM

BRI

HERKHE

WERMB LR (#i238)

LE-RHBAR
(Bi#38(c))

EHAZ

16. ¥ HWERRZE @

Leasehold
landand  Computer Furniture and Leasehold Motor
buildings  equipment  equipment improvements vehicles Total
BELHR
BF EMRE HARKE HEXE RE ast
HK$'000 HKS$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$000
TET TET TET TET &L TET
- 29,971 13,748 13,893 4,629 62,241
141 3,561 3,253 2,873 810 11,238
(753) = = = = (753)
- (2,086) (1,884) (6,350) (719) (11,039)
= 858 25 = 325 1,208
12 (28) (291) 102 (23) (228)
N 32,276 14,851 10,518 5,022 62,667
680 3,255 1,672 3,782 575 9,964
(655) - - - - (655)
N (803) (495) (1,662) (1,962) (4,922)
- 39 190 - 73 302
N (1,853) (4,951) N (32 (7,132)
(25) (983) (729) (418) (157 (2,312)
- 31,931 10,538 12,220 3,223 57,912
18,703 6,341 1,99 3,802 1,543 32,383
21,813 10,042 16,895 7,157 1,667 57,574
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Bz

16.

B —&F+-_A=1+—HItEE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated using the straight-line method after taking
into account of their estimated residual values at the
following rates per annum:

Over the term of the lease

20%-33"3%

20%-33"3%

5 years or over the term of
the lease if shorter

20%

Leasehold land and buildings
Computer equipment
Furniture and equipment
Leasehold improvements

Motor vehicles

Fair value measurement of the Group’s
leasehold land and buildings

The Group’s leasehold land and buildings were valued
on 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 by RHL
Appraisal Limited, an independent qualified professional
valuer not connected with the Group. The directors
of RHL Appraisal Limited are members of the Hong
Kong Institute of Surveyors, and they have appropriate
qualifications and recent experience in the valuation of
properties in the relevant locations. The fair values of
the leasehold land and buildings were determined by
using the direct comparison approach with reference
to the recent transaction prices for similar properties as
available adjusted for differences in the nature, location
and conditions of the subject properties. There has been
no change to the valuation technique during the year.

All leasehold land and buildings are situated in the PRC.

In estimating the fair value of the leasehold land and
buildings, the highest and best use of the leasehold
land and buildings is their current use.

Key unobservable inputs used in valuing the leasehold
land and buildings were premium or discount which the
valuer applied to those transaction prices to take into
account some key characteristics of the asset which
is being valued being better or worse than the asset
that was actually sold recently. An increase in adjusted
transaction prices subject to property size and property
floor level would result in an increase in the fair value
measurement of the investment properties, and vice
versa.

The fair value hierarchy of these leasehold land and
buildings is categorised into level 3 and there were no
transfers into or out of Level 3 during the year.

ZEFF EBBERRE

16.

ME- -BENRSZE @

Lt BERREEB &R RE
BMEARRBERAERERATEN
RIFTE

HELHRET RS E
BIEE 20%%E335%
FMREE 20%%33':5%
HEEE S SR

(ARG EBE)
==} 20%

FEBEELHRETHATE
it

AEBME T BI85 E f A
EEABERNENBYASRELGE
MAFTIEBRERATNR -
—F+ZA=+—"BERZE=Z—%
+=B=+—BEF XFTHEE
MAERARMESAEENEMEe

@B REAEYERR AN
BT EGENCR - HE T
RIEFATENIE2ETEEHELY
LRSS EUEEL B AT
TRBONREMLE B8 RAR
g%ﬁ S o 4E - {8 5 3

PREMEL W RBFHMRFE-

RiGFHEE T M8 FH L FER

HELHWEEBTFHNEMRERERS
N&ERE-
REE i R & FEETEA R R

TTQ%%A@T%%@%&m%X
ZERERANAZEERLERFHEEENE
TEZRHEESERSE R T HER
HEMNEEMNGEXERSE R T
MEBBLEDEBEMENLABR
ZENLEABERREMEN R FE
AELEA RZIA

ZEMELMREFORATFEERS
BRE=ZH FARERE=ZFFEA
o
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Bz

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

17.

182

(continued)

Fair value measurement of the Group’s
leasehold land and buildings (continued)

If leasehold land and buildings of the Group had not
been revalued, they would have been included on a
historical cost basis at the following amounts:

Cost

Accumulated depreciation

Carrying value

T —F+-A=t+—BLFE

=

DN
REE

AREE

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

As at 1 January 2021
Carrying amount

As at 1 January 2022
Carrying amount

As at 31 December 2022
Carrying amount
For the year ended

31 December 2021
Depreciation charge
For the year ended

31 December 2022
Depreciation charge

R-B--%-F—-H
REE

R-B--%#-HF-H
REE

R-B-ZF
+=A=+-8
REE

BE-2_-F
TZA=T-HLFE
REER

BE-Z-—%
+-A=t-ALEE
NEER

Land and
buildings
THREF

HK$'000
FET

137,708

141,386

36,982

37,451

33,438

16. ¥ HWERRZE @

AEBHEITHREFHNATE
TE (#)

MARBENHEE L W RBFTI BB

AIERRBEXRREEULNTIERA
BE :

2022 2021

—ZE=-= —TE=Z—F

HK$’000 HK$°000

FET FHET

12,131 12,131

(4,535) (4,189)

7,596 7,942

17. ERAEEE
Computer Furniture & Motor

equipment fixture vehicles Total
ERRE HAREE AE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
947 150 2,083 140,888
655 70 2,146 144,257
1,123 - 100 38,205
292 80 1,035 38,858
321 70 387 34,216
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Bz

17.

—E - HE+ - A=1+—HIFE

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

Expense relating to
short-term leases

Expense relating to leases of HEBEEEME
low-value assets, excluding (TEEEREEEE
short-term leases of FRHHEE) BN
low value assets

Total cash outflow for leases HERS KRBT

Additions to right-of-use assets AMEERAEEE

For both years, the Group leases various land and
buildings, computer equipment, furniture & fixture
and motor vehicles for its operations. Lease contracts
are entered into for fixed term of 1 to 5 years, 1 to
4 years, 1 to 5 years and 1 to 5 years respectively
(2021: 1 to 10 years, 1 to 4 years, 1 to 5 years and
1 to 5 years respectively). Lease terms are negotiated
on an individual basis and contain a wide range of
different terms and conditions. In determining the lease
term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable
period, the Group applies the definition of a contract
and determines the period for which the contract is
enforceable.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and
the lease term.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for
land and buildings, computer equipment, furniture
& fixture and motor vehicles and leases of low-value
assets for computer equipment and furniture & fixture.
As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the portfolio of
short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term
leases to which the short-term lease expense disclosed
above.

In addition, the Group reassesses whether it is
reasonably certain to exercise an extension option,
or not to exercise a termination option, upon the
occurrence of either a significant event or a significant
change in circumstances that is within the control of
the lessee. During the year ended 31 December 2022
and 2021, there is no such triggering event.

—E__FH EREERRE

HIEHEEE M

17. ERAEEE

2021

—E-—F

HK$’000 HK$000
FETT FET

9,832 11,597

318 441

46,267 62,724

6,714 49,202
PREFERN AEB RETEEMR
EZ2mEtLtHMIEF- ?-EH? & R Al
DEBURRE-HEAN D RIEZ—
ERAF - —ENF - —ZERAFR—Z=
AF(ZE=Z—F:HplE—ZE=+F

EHABR AT 37 o M & IR R T 2 & Bl &
EHEIaEsEEZ N TRIER KR
fiR 1 - 72 75 E 7 H3 Ko /T 14 S AT B SE HR
FRER AEBERGAONEERT
BEAAA A MITH M-

ERREEREGAN R Al £
EHMREE (ARIEEAR) NI
IrE-

AEBETHR LI RET  BHRME -
RMPEEENAETIEMEE I
BREMEREAREKMREETZE
BEEEHE - R_Z-__K_F

¥+ _-_A=+—H EHHEEA
BHEFNEENEHEHEM X NEH
HEHESEMU-

AN BB A E KB FRE AT
HEANIS /R%‘ééj( 'ﬂZHT KE
BeeNImEafEmMETFIL
%LE%&Tﬁﬁﬂtﬁﬁﬁom@
E_E-__FR-_ZF-_—F+_-H1
ZT—HILFE BMESBEEEEMH-
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17.

184

—E - HE+ - A=1+—HIFE

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

In addition, lease liabilities of HK$41,276,000 (2021:
HK$159,710,000) are recognised with related right-
of-use assets of HK$38,205,000 as at 31 December
2022 (2021: HK$144,257,000). The lease agreements
do not impose any covenants other than the security
interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor.
Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing
purposes.

The Group derecognised right-of-use assets of
HK$902,000 (2021: HK$536,000) and lease liabilities
of HK$984,000 (2021: HK$532,000) because of early
termination of lease contracts.

The Group derecognised right-of-use assets of
HK$71,290,000 and lease liabilities of HK$82,796,000
because of disposal of a subsidiary (note 38(c)).

Details of the lease maturity analysis of lease liabilities
are set out in notes 33 and 40(b)(iii).

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021,
the Group received rent concessions of HK$396,000
and HK$236,000 respectively in the form of a discount
on fixed payments due to severe social distancing and
travel restriction measures introduced to contain the
spread of COVID-19.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group early
adopted the Amendment to HKFRS 16, Leases, Covid-
19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021
in the financial statements, and applied the practical
expedient introduced by the Amendment to all eligible
rent concessions received by the Group.

17. ERAEEE

on R —_F+-_A=+—8"
WA E A E41,276,0008 T (=&
— —4%:159,710,000%% 7t ) & 48 74 &
Pl & 38,205,000 L (Z &2 = —
144,257,000 70) - HE W= W
Tﬁﬂj%ﬂ/\h*ﬁa’ﬁﬂ 5 EEPRRER
EmpEpNERRE - HEEETSTH
EEEER-

AEBRREAKRIEAEAS DMK I
RERAEEE2,0008 T (-
——¢ 536,000 L) R EAE
984,000/ 7T (==& — — 4 :532,000
BIT) °

H

pii

HREE—HEWBAR AEEDF
4R EFEFRT1,290,000% TR R EE
& 182,796,000/ & & & (K
£¥38(c)) °

HEaENHEN RS THEBIER
B 5E33 2 40(b)(iii) °

REBE_ZE_—_FR-_FT-_—F+=
B=Z+—HLEFE AEEUMR
MEAMABZREETHERERE XK
77 R HI 55 5 DA 38 Hl COVID-19%F A B
EMEENZDBWE T EE ER
396,000 7T % 236,000/ 7T °

R-E-_—F+_A=+—HILFE"
AEBERERUBHRERTENES
ﬁ?f%’w&%@é,ﬁu 5165 (18RI AN) HE -
—E - —F A=+ HEHECovid-19
1R S B i B A E B R
WA ERMES Z R ERZER M
SIAMAIITHER %o
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HE_ T _—_F#+_A=+—HLEFE

18. &

Acquisition of
OTX Logistics

18. GOODWILL

Step acquisition

B.V. of On Time
("OTX Logistics Worldwide
Holland”)  Acquisition of Logistics Ltd.
Group Best Loader HK (“OT Korea") Total
kg PRBWE
OTX Logistics On Time
B.V. Worldwide
([OTX Logistics KB Logistics Ltd.
Holland ]) @ Best Loader HK ([ OT Korea ]) @t
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FET
note (i) note (i) note (i)
Hst) B s (i) i3 (i)
CosT A
At 1 January 2021 RZZ-—-%—-F—H 16,188 145 = 16,333
Step acquisition of a subsidiary it e i NG| - - 589 589
Exchange realignment Ak (556) - (47) (603)
At 31 December 2021 and RZEZ-F+ZA=+—HEK
1 January 2022 —“Z--Ff-Hf—H 15,632 145 542 16,319
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 38(c) HE—FMBR R (#:£38(c)) (15,632) - - (15,632)
Exchange realignment ERAR - - (31) 31)
At 31 December 2022 RZZEZZ#+=ZA=1+—A - 145 511 656
IMPAIRMENT A
At 1 January 2021, RZE-_—%-A-H"
31 December 2021 and ZEC-ETZAZT-AR
1 January 2022 —T--%#—-f-H 15,632 145 - 15,777
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 38(c) HE—FRHBL A (#/:238(c) (15,632) - - (15,632)
At 31 December 2022 RZBE-__$+-A=+-H - 145 - 145
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 December 2022 RZEZZF+ZA=1+—A - - 511 511
At 31 December 2021 RZZEZ—F+ZA=+—H - - 542 542
(i)  OTX Logistics Holland Group was engaged in the (i)  OTX Logistics Holland%e B 7 far

provision of freight forwarding services in The HEEREEEREBERLE - &

(i)

(iii)

Netherlands. During the year ended 31 December
2021, goodwill related to the acquisitions of OTX
Logistics Holland Group had been fully impaired
and impairment loss of HK$15,632,000 was
recognised in the profit or loss.

Best Loader Logistics Company Limited (“Best
Loader HK") ceased its businesses since early
2020.

On 1 January 2021, 3% of the equity interest of
OT Korea was acquired by the Group. Following
the acquisition, OT Korea became an indirect non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the Group.

—E - F3R

E-FT-—HF+ZA=+—H
IEFEE - BBRWEOTX Logistics
HollandS EMEEE £ 25
BB WREZERREREIE
15,632,000/ 7T °

(ii)  Best Loader Logistics Company
Limited ([Best Loader HK ]) B
ZETEFRKRIEEER-

iy RZZE=Z—F—A—H 4A%£H
W BEOT Korea 3% 2 A% #E - AUk
B 1% OT Koreafk & 7 £ B [
BB ZHBRR-
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HE_ T _—_F#+_A=+—HLEFE

19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS BILEE
Computer Customer
system lists Trademarks Total
ERASG EFRE 5L @zt
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FHET FET
cosT AR
At 1 January 2021 R-_E-_—%—F—H 4147 30,086 9,369 43,602
Step acquisition of a subsidiary PERNE—RHBAR = 1,017 = 1,017
Exchange realignment I 5 & (302) (1,941) = (2,243)
At 31 December 2021 and R-E-—F+-A=+—-HRE
1 January 2022 —E-—_%—H—H 3,845 29,162 9,369 42,376
Acquisition of subsidiaries WM B AR (Hi38)
(note 38) - 2,873 - 2,873
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—ZKME QR
(note 38(c)) (H1i238(c) (3,569) (21,976) - (25,545)
Exchange realignment R (276) (1,949) = (2,225)
At 31 December 2022 WZEZZ&+-A=+—H - 8,110 9,369 17,479
AMORTISATION AND B35 SRl fE
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2021 R-Z-—%-A—F 2,328 27,652 6,117 36,097
Charge for the year FAZH 998 2,510 935 4,443
Impairment loss recognised 2 HEREEE 464 - 464
Exchange realignment I (228) (1,782) - (2,010)
At 31 December 2021 and ~ RZ-Z-—F+-A=f+—-HE
1 January 2022 —T-—%—H—H 3,562 28,380 7,052 38,994
Charge for the year FAZ 162 697 935 1,79
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—RMB AR
(note 38(c)) (H1338(c)) (3,460) (21,976) - (25,436)
Exchange realignment [ 5 3% (264) (1,728) - (1,992)
At 31 December 2022 WZE__&+-A=+—H - 5,373 7,987 13,360
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 December 2022 WZE__&+_A=+—H - 2,737 1,382 4,119
At 31 December 2021 —F+=ZfA=1-H 283 782 2,317 3,382

186

Intangible assets with finite useful lives represent the
carrying amounts of the customer lists arising from
the acquisition of OTX Logistics Holland Group and OT
Korea, trademarks and computer system.

AIERFEFHAERNEREEEK
BEOTX Logistics Holland% B X OT
KoreaE AWM BEF B EWNEREE  B1Z
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19.

20.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

The above intangible assets are amortised using the
straight-line method at the following rates per annum:

Computer system 20%
Customer lists 16%/;%—-20%
Trademarks 10%

Estimated useful lives of the customer lists and
trademarks have been determined by management of
the Company according to the industrial experiences
over the revenue expectation and also by reference to
the relevant industrial norm.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

BRERA JFLEM
&5 W B 12 0 ) S

Cost of investments, unlisted
Share of post-acquisition profits

and other comprehensive Hp 2 mE WA (F1k
income, net of dividends received B2 X E)
Impairment loss recognised EERREEE
TR FR

. BREE @®)

LB EENERBERERATE

S 355

EREES 20%
XEFPEE 16%,%—-20%
[EEE 10%

EFPEERBEENMEAERFHE
BARAEEEREMATKRENITE
REMME2EZHBOTRENRERE -

REE QRN ER
2022 2021
—E-= T —%F
HK$°000 HK$ 000
FET FET
1,367 2,139
2,437 1,519
(448) (448)
3,356 3,210
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20.

188

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

20. REERATINES (&)

Particulars of associates at 31 December 2022 and
31 December 2021 are as follows:

Place/country of

RZB-_—_F+_A=+—HE=_Z
——F+_-_A=1+—HELE QAN

BT

Proportion of
nominal value of

incorporation/ Class of issued interest held
Name of entity operation capital shares by the Company Principal activities
EMAL/ BR7T ERAEAREN
HEER mERY /AR BRAE R HE LA TEEH
2022 2021
“ECCF kel
Fashion Care Logistics B.V. The Netherlands Ordinary 16.7% 333% Inactive
wH LAk (note a) EEEH
(Kista)
On Time Worldwide Logistics Limited Bangladesh Ordinary 49% 49%  Provision of freight
AMAE Lak forwarding services
REEERERSE
On Time Worldwide Logistics L.L.C. The United Arab Emirates  Ordinary 49% 49%  Provision of freight
WA Ak A B R E LEk forwarding services
REUEEERERYE
On Time Worldwide International Cargo  The United Arab Emirates  Ordinary 49% 49%  Provision of freight
Services L.L.C. MR e B RE LEk forward services
REUEEERBRYE
On Time Worldwide Logistics (Private) ~ Sri Lanka Ordinary 40% 40%  Provision of freight
Limited HEHFR L@k forwarding services
REUEFERBRYE
YTO Global Pty. Ltd. Australia Ordinary 62.5% 25%  Provision of freight
BN Lak (note b) forwarding services
(Hth) RETEREBRE
Note: Biat -

YTO International Express and Supply Chain Technology Limited

On 16 June 2022, Jumbo Channel Limited (“Jumbo
Channel”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, disposed 50% of the equity interest in OTX
Logistics Holland, the shareholder of Fashion Care Logistics
B.V.. Following the disposal, Fashion Care Logistics B.V.’s
proportion of nominal value of interest held by the
Company reduced accordingly.

On 3 January 2022, YTO Express Worldwide Limited (“YTO
BVI”), a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
subscribed 100 subscription shares of YTO Global Pty. Ltd.
Upon Completion, the Group's interest in YTO Global Pty.
Ltd. is 62.5% and YTO Global Pty. Ltd. became an indirect
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.

(a)

RZTEZZFXNA+AB ARERHE
2 & B A &Jumbo Channel Limited
([Jumbo Channel |) i & Fashion Care
Logistics B.V.JEHE OTX Logistics Holland
B50% MR- HEEFHRE AAFAR
Fashion Care Logistics B.V.¥ B8
T {8 £ 71 48 R > ©

R-ZE-_—&F—A=HA ARQAHE
2 &M B AAYTO Express Worldwide
Limited ([YTO BVIJ)&RBEYTO Global
Pty. Ltd.B9100MR REE MR H « 7 7T AKX
% AELERYTO Global Pty. Ltd.#HA
62.5%M 25 * AYTO Global Pty. Ltd. A%
ARAGIMEIZENBAR-
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20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 20. REt&E AR ER (&)
Aggregate financial information of associates BRIEXRBKELAANTBEER
that are not individually material: BE:

2022 2021
—E-= T —%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TFHET
The Group's share of results of & E FEALEEE AR
associates E 708 34
The Group's share of other AEBREEMEE
comprehensive income g (515) (36)
The Group's share of total AEEEEZEKA
comprehensive income k) 193 ()

Aggregate carrying amount of the 752 E B & A 7

Group's interests in associates EERERERAE 3,356 3,210
Unrecognised share of losses of associates AEAELBEARER

2022 2021
—=E== —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET

The unrecognised share of losses of 4F [ 2k i 32 i {5 B 4
associates for the year N EE 591 1,458

Reversal of unrecognised share of BB T FE R ERH
losses in previous years FEAL B 18 (69) (199)

Cumulative unrecognised share of  F R KR BT ELL
losses of associates for the year B & A R E5 18 2,708 3,003
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21. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 21. REELENER
2021
—EF - —F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET TET
Cost of investments, unlisted KEKA FEELET 53,819 2,831
Share of post-acquisition profits JE 15 W 12 8 A 2
and other comprehensive income,  H b 2 mE U A
net of dividends received (MBREKRE) (7.336) 7,241
46,483 10,072
Particulars of the joint ventures at 31 December 2022 R E-_—_F+-_A=+—HFEK_-Z
and 31 December 2021 are as follows: T FT A=+ —HANEEDEF
BT
Proportion of
Place/country of nominal value of
incorporation/ Class of issued interest held
Name of entity operation capital shares by the Company Principal activities
ERMAL/ FAREEREN
ERER g /BX BRTREER EE LA TEEH
2022 2021
—E-C —E--F
OTX Logistics Holland The Netherlands Ordinary 50% 100% Provision of freight
HH EER (note a) (note a) ~ forwarding services and
(Hita) (Mfita)  investment holding
RESERERBR
REER
OTX Solutions Holland The Netherlands Ordinary 50% 80% Provision of freight
HH LEk (note a) (notea)  forwarding services
(Kita) (Hits) REEBRERE
Westpoort Recon B.V. The Netherlands Ordinary 50% 100% Provision of freight
HH LRk (note a) (note a)  forwarding services

(Hia) (Wita) REGERERK

OTX Logistics Rotterdam B.V. The Netherlands Ordinary 25% 50% Provision of freight
HH Lak (note a) forwarding services
(Hia) REUEERERSE
OTX Trade Services B.V. The Netherlands Ordinary 50% - Provision of freight
wH Ldk (note b) forwarding services
(Hib) RURERERSE
On Time Compliance Services Limited Hong Kong Ordinary - 50% Inactive
BE EBR (note ¢ TEEH
(Hiatc)
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21. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTUR

(a)

ES (continued)

21.

On 16 June 2022, Jumbo Channel disposed of 50% of

the equity interest in OTX Logistics Holland. Following the
disposal, OTX Logistics Holland and its subsidiaries became

joint ventures of the Company.
(b)

Logistics Holland was incorporated on

()
September 2022.

11 November 2022.

OTX Trade Services B.V., a wholly owned subsidiary of OTX

On Time Compliance Services Limited was deregistered on 9

Aggregate financial information of the joint ventures

that are not individually material:

The Group’s share of results of
joint ventures

The Group’s share of
other comprehensive income

The Group’s share of
total comprehensive income

Aggregate carrying amount of
the Group's interests in
joint ventures

AEEREHLAE

%

i)

(a)

RS m

—E_—_F,XA+/XB8 " Jumbo
ChanneltH & OTXHI50% % # - & E18
% - OTX Logistics Holland & £ K /& A &
RAERAREERE-

i
#

OTX Logistics Holland&) 2 & [ff J& A &)
OTX Trade Services BVAZZ ==
+—A+—B&EMK-

(b)

On Time Compliance Services Limited#

—E_FNANBFEE-
BRIFFEREELENTEER L

(o)

AEEREEMEE

Y &

AEEEEEZE
LN

AEERBELEES

B B T 48 B

=

F iR

2022 2021
—=E-= T —4F
HK$000 HK$°000
FET FET
(7,204) 1,035
(920) (749)
(8,124) 286
46,483 10,072
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—E - HE+ - A=1+—HIFE

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

Trade receivables Z 5 W RIE
Less: allowance for expected credit

losses

The Group allows an average credit period of 30 days to
its trade customers. The following is an ageing analysis
of trade receivables net of allowance for credit losses,
based on the invoice date, which approximates the
respective revenue recognition dates, at the end of each
reporting period:

0-30 days 0E30K
31-60 days 31E60K
61-90 days 61E90K
91-180 days 91 180K
Over 180 days HBiB180K

As at 31 December 2022, included in the Group’s trade
receivables balance are debtors with aggregate amount
of HK$362,997,000 (2021: HK$376,022,000) which are
past due. Out of the past due balances, HK$55,373,000
(2021: HK$11,776,000) has been past due 90 days
or more and is not considered as default based on
payment history and long business relationship with
those customers. The Group does not hold any collateral
over these balances.

Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables
are set out in note 40(b)(ii).

WSS EEEEE

ESRHEMERRE S U
)54 X IH

2021
—E-—F
HKS$000 HK$000
FET FE T
806,